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A. Call Meeting to Order and Pledge Allegiance to the Flag

Roll Call

Invocation for our Military Troops and National Leaders

B. Introductions, Commendations, Proclamations, and Presentations:

B.1. Fiscal Year ending September 30, 2016 Annual audited Financial Report

C. Consent Agenda:

C.1. Approval of Warrant

a. 2017 07 24 Warrant

C.2. Approval of Minutes

a. 2017 07 10 City Commission Minutes

C.3. Request to approve piggyback contract from St. John's County with Alliant
Engineering for continuing Engineering services

D. Public Comments:

Comments regarding items not on the Agenda.  Citizens are encouraged to speak; however,
comments are limited to four (4) minutes.

E. Ordinances: (Legislative):

E.1. Ordinance 2017-18 Request to Voluntarily Contract (De-Annex) Approximately 1.68
Acres of Property. - Second Reading.

E.2. Ordinance 2017-19 Changing the Future Land Use designation of approximately .40
acres of property to Bunnell Commercial Medium. - Second Reading.

E.3. Ordinance 2017-20 Changing the Zoning designation of approximately .40 acres of
property to B-1, Business district. - Second Reading.

E.4. Ordinance 2017-21 Amending the Bunnell Land Development Code Sec. 34-186



Home Occupations. - Second Reading.
E.5. Ordinance 2017-22 Code of Ordinance Amendment Section 2-77 Schedule of

Violations. - First Reading

F. Resolutions: (Legislative):

F.1. Resolution 2017-15 Rescinding Resolution 2003-07 and Establishing Revised
Building Permit Fees.
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H.1. Establish Fiscal Year 2018 Proposed Millage
H.2. Set Public Hearing Dates for Fiscal Year 2018 Budget

I. Reports:

• City Clerk

• City Attorney

• City Manager

City Manager's Monthly Report
2017 Micro Surfacing Project

• Mayor and City Commissioners

J. Call for Adjournment.

This agenda is subject to change without notice.  Please see posted copy at City Hall, and
our website www.BunnellCity.us.
 
NOTICE: If any person decides to appeal any decision made by the City Commission or any of
its boards, with respect to any matter considered at any meeting of such boards or commission, he
or she will need a record of the proceedings, and for this purpose he or she may need to ensure that
a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence
upon which the appeal is based, 286.0105 Florida Statutes.
Any person requiring a special accommodation at this meeting because of a disability or
physical impairment should contact the City Clerk at (386) 263-8807.
 
THE CITY OF BUNNELL IS AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY SERVICE PROVIDER.

Posted by City Clerk's office on July 19, 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor, City Commission, and City Manager, 
City of Bunnell, Florida: 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Bunnell, Florida, 
(the City), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2016, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

The City’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.  

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 
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Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as of September 30, 2016, and the respective 
changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows, thereof and the respective budgetary 
comparison for the General and Community Redevelopment Agency funds for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis and required supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be 
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures 
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City’s financial statements as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of 
federal awards as required by the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 
Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial 
statements. 

The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is the responsibility of management and was derived from 
and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the 
information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 29, 2017, 
on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal 
control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
June 29, 2017 
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As management of the City of Bunnell, we offer readers of the City of Bunnell’s financial statements this 
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Bunnell for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2016. 

 
Financial Highlights 

• The assets of the City of Bunnell exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year 
by $17,126,704 (net position).   Of this amount, $2,442,298 may be used to meet the City’s 
ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

• As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City of Bunnell’s governmental funds reported 
combined ending fund balances of $989,044, an increase of $278,951. The unassigned General 
Fund balance available for spending at the City’s discretion is $901,371. 

 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Bunnell’s basic financial 
statements. The City of Bunnell’s basic financial statements consist of three components: 1) government- 
wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report 
also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 

 
Government-Wide Financial Statements – The government-wide financial statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the City of Bunnell’s finances, in a manner similar to a private- 
sector business. 

 
The statement of net position presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities, with the 
difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may 
serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 

 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the 
most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise 
to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are 
reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods. 

 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally 
supported by taxes, licenses and permits, and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from 
other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and 
charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the City include general government, 
public safety, public works, physical environment and community planning and development. The 
business-type activities of the City include water, sewer and solid waste services. 

 
Fund Financial Statements – A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control 
over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Bunnell, like 
other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: 
governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 

 
Governmental Funds – Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the 
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows 
and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of 
the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a City’s near-term financing requirements. 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing  
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so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both 
the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and 
governmental activities. 

 
The City of Bunnell maintains four major governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances for the general fund, the capital projects fund, the CRA fund and the Debt Service 
fund. 

 
The City of Bunnell adopts annual appropriated budgets for the general, capital projects, Debt Service and CRA 
fund. Budgetary comparison schedules have been provided for the general and CRA funds to demonstrate 
compliance with these budgets. 

 
Proprietary Funds – The City of Bunnell maintains two proprietary funds. The enterprise funds are used to 
report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The 
City of Bunnell uses an enterprise fund to account for its water & sewer and solid waste activities. 
 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in 
more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information of the water, sewer and solid 
waste activities, all of which are considered to be major funds of the City of Bunnell. 

 
Fiduciary Funds – Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the 
City (e.g., pension beneficiaries). Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statement 
because the resources of those funds are not available to support the City’s own programs. The accounting used 
for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements – The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 

 
Other Information - In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also 
presents certain required supplementary information concerning the City of Bunnell’s schedule of 
contributions to the firefighters’ retirement system. 

 
Government-Wide Financial Analysis – As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful 
indicator of a City’s financial position.   In the case of the City of Bunnell, assets exceed liabilities by 
$17,126,704 at the close of the most recent fiscal year. 

 
The largest portion of the City of Bunnell’s net position $13,358,325 (78%) reflects its investment in 
capital assets (e.g. land, buildings, infrastructure, equipment); less any related debt used to acquire those assets 
that is still outstanding. The City of Bunnell uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; 
consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City of Bunnell’s investment in 
capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must 
be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. 

 
A portion of the City’s net position, $ 1,326,081 (7.74%) represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net assets, $2,442,298 (14.26%) 
may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. At the end of the 
current fiscal year, the City can report positive balances in all categories of net position, both for the 
government as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental and business-type activities, except in 
governmental activities’ unrestricted net position. The deficit of $715,957 is primarily due to the recording of a 
$1,755,199 net pension liability. 
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There was a increase of $102,254 in deferred out flows related to pension in the business-type 
activities.  Also, business-type activities long-term liabilities decreased by $98,701 due to the payment 
of long term notes and bonds, and a decrease in other liabilities. Business-type activities capital assets, 
net of depreciation decreased $210,074 due to the depreciation of capital assets. 

 
 
 
 

 
CITY OF BUNNELL'S NET POSITION 

September 30, 

   Governmental Activities     Business Activities                      Totals 
       

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 

Current and Other Assets $ 1,391,694  $ 1,084,070 $ 5,369,079 $ 4,955,623 $ 6,760,773 $ 6,039,693 

Capital Assets 4,437,732 4,311,498 15,929,899 16,153,311 20,367,631 20,464,809 

   Total Assets 5,829,426 5,395,568 21,298,978 21,108,934 27,128,404  26,504,502 

Deferred Outflows  652,943  276,203  184,657  82,403  837,600  358,606 

   Total Deferred Outflows  652,943  276,203  184,657  82,403  837,600  358,606 

             

Long-term Liabilities  2,649,210  2,150,890 6,831,959 6,964,300 9,481,169  9,115,190 

Other Liabilities 402,650  373,977 489,405 1,079,665 892,055  1.453.642 

   Total Liabilities 3,051,860  2,524,867 7,321,364 8,043,965 10,373,224  10,568,832 

Deferred Inflows  368,550  397,981  97,526  126,332  466,076  524.313

   Total Deferred Outflows  368,550  397,981  97,526  126,332  466,076  524.313

             
Net Investment in  

  Capital Assets 3,694,148  3,522,926 9,664,177 9,661,137 13,358,325 13,184,063 

Restricted 83,768  77,566 1,242,313 1,341,100 1,326,081  1,418,666 

Unrestricted (715,957)  (851,569) 3,158,255 2,018,803 2,442,298  1,167,234 

   Total Net Position $ 3,061,959  $ 2,748,923 $ 14,064,745 $ 13,021,040 $ 17,126,704  $ 15,769,963 
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CITY OF BUNNELL'S CHANGE IN NET POSITION 
 

      Governmental Activities     Business-type Activities                        Totals 
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 

Revenues: 
Program Revenues: 
   Charges for Services $ 148,260 $ 248,216 $ 3,333,148 $ 3,248,040 $ 3,481,408 $ 3,496,256
   Operating Grants & Contributions 80,472 100,109 - 7,954 80,472 108,063
   Capital Grants & Contributions 482,476 548,128 915,123 1,492,671 1,397,599 2,040,799
General Revenues: 
   Property Taxes 1,082,003 1,043,734 1,082,003 1,043,734
   Franchise & Utility Taxes 731,756 708,532 731,756 705,532
   Intergovernmental Revenue 373,398 364,355 343,398 364,355
   Interest Revenue 1,653 3,999 14.298 6,378 15,951 10,377
   Other 23,621 17,248 (363,258) 190,417 (339,637) 207,665
Total Revenues 2,923,639 3,034,321 3,899,311 4,945,460 6,822,950 7,979,781

Expenses: 
   General Government 608,268 951,732 608,268 951,732
   Community Development 181,970 234,344 181,970 234,344
   Public Safety 1,006,732 1,065,455 1,006,732 1,065,455
   Public Works 617,625 558,534 617,625 558,534
   Parks & Recreation 261,225 257,859 261,225 257,859

   Interest on Long Term debt        49,077  47,536       49,077  47,536

   Water & Sewer - - 2,065,576 2,259,692 2,065,576 2,259,692

    Solid Waste - - 674,736 680,286 674,736 680,286
Total Expenses 2,724,897 3,115,460 2,741,312 2,939,978 5,466,209 6,055,438
Increase (Decrease) in Net  
Position Before Transfers 198,742 (81,139) 1,157,999 2,005,482 1,356,741 1,924,343
Transfers 114,294    103,182 (114,294)   (103,182) - - 
Increase (Decrease) in Net Position 313,036 22,043 1,043,705 1,902,300 1,356,741 1,924,343
Net Position Beginning  2,748,923 2,726,880 13,021,040 11,118,740 15,769,963 13,845,620
Net Position Ending $ 3,061,959 $ 2,748,923 $ 14,064,745 $ 13,021,040 $ 17,126,704 $ 15,769,963
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Governmental Activities – Governmental activities increased the City of Bunnell’s net position by 
$313,036. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

$0

$200,000

$400,000

$600,000

$800,000

$1,000,000

$1,200,000

G
en

er
al

G
ov

er
nm

en
t

C
om

m
un

it
y

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t

P
ub

li
c 

S
af

et
y

P
ub

li
c 

W
or

ks

P
ar

ks
 &

R
ec

re
at

io
n

In
te

re
st

 o
n 

lo
ng

te
rm

 d
eb

t

Governmental Activities

Operating  Expenses

             
 

5%

19%

37%
25%

10%

0%

4%

Revenues by Source - Governmental Activities

   Charges for Services

   Operating & Capital
Grants & Contributions

   Property Taxes

   Franchise & Utility Taxes

   Intergovernmental
Revenue

   Interest Revenue-

   Other



City of Bunnell, Florida 
Management Discussion and Analysis 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2016

 

- 8 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

22.32%

6.68%

36.95%

22.67%

9.59%

0.00% 1.80%

Governmental Activities-Expenses by Function

General Government

Community Development

Public Safety

Public Works

Parks & Recreation

Community Redevlopment

Interest on long term debt



City of Bunnell, Florida 
Management Discussion and Analysis 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2016

 

- 9 - 

 

• Business-type Activities – Business-type activities increased the City of Bunnell’s net position by 
$1,043,705. The key element to this increase was the receipt of grant funds to construct the City’s new 
Water Plant. 
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Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds – As noted earlier, the City of Bunnell uses fund accounting to 
ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. During the fiscal year, the City 
adopted a Cash and Investment Equity Reserve policy.  The policy sets the desired unrestricted net equity 
of 54 days or 14.8% of the annual budget for the major operating funds.  On 9/30/2016 the City’s General 
fund and Water and Sewer Fund unrestricted net equity reserves were greater than the level established in 
the policy, but the Solid Waste fund was not in compliance. 
 
Governmental Funds – The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-
term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the 
City of Bunnell’s financing requirements.  In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful 
measure of a City’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. As of September 30, 
2016, fund balances were $989,044 an increase of $278,951 in comparison with the prior year. Of this 
amount $901,371 constitutes unassigned General Fund balance, which is available for spending at the 
City’s discretion. $79,160 is to be spent on capital projects and $3,618 is for Community Redevelopment. 
 
The General Fund unassigned fund balance increased by $271,852 during the current fiscal year. Also, the 
General fund transferred $67,596 to the Debt Service fund to pay the Debt service on the Municipal 
Complex.  In addition, the Water Sewer fund paid charges for services of $304,502 to the General fund.  
The Solid Waste fund was unable to contribute to the administrative charges for services in the General 
fund. 

 
The capital project fund has a fund balance of $79,160.  Capital project fund revenues were transferred to 
the general fund for debt service on capital projects. 

 
Proprietary Funds – The City of Bunnell’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found 
in the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. 

 
The unrestricted net position of the Water and Sewer fund at the end of the year amounted to $3,233,272. 
The total increase in net position in  th i s  fund  was $977,101. The increase was primarily due to 
capital contributions and capital grants of $915,123.  At the end of the prior fiscal year the City returned 
operations of the Bunnell Flagler County Joint Utility to the County.  This resulted in a non-operating 
expense of $431,661.  
 
Unrestricted net position in the Solid Waste Fund was a deficit of $(75,017).  Even though the Solid 
Waste fund showed an overall increase to net position of $66,604 the unrestricted net position was a 
deficit. 
  
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

 

The budget was amended to reflect capital expenditures funded from State grants that were not reflected in the 
original budget.  In addition, at the end of the fiscal year the budget was realigned to reflect anticipated 
expenditures. 
 
The comparison of the budget versus actual for the General Fund can be found on page 19.  The positive 
variance shown in tax revenue is primarily due to collecting more than anticipated revenue in utility taxes.  
An increase in commercial activity and building resulted in a positive revenue budget variance in both 
occupational license and building permits. The $42,174 positive variance in miscellaneous revenue was the 
result of unanticipated donations and sales of fixed assets. 
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Administrative expenses were over budget by $14,898 due to maintenance performed on the municipal 
complex and a correction of Accounts Payable.  Community Development Expenses where less than 
anticipated primarily in other contract services.  This resulted in a $24,227 positive budget variance.  The 
capital outlay budget showed a positive variance of $50,162 primarily due to the timing of the Commence  
Parkway project. 
 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration 

 
Capital Assets – The City of Bunnell’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business type 
activities as of September 30, 2016, amounts to $20,367,631 (net of accumulated depreciation). This 
investment in capital assets includes land, buildings and improvements other than buildings, equipment, 
infrastructure and construction in progress. The total change in the City of Bunnell’s investment in capital 
assets for the current fiscal year was a $126,234 increase in net capital assets for governmental 
activities and a $223,412 decrease in net capital assets for business-type activities. 

 
Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following: 

 
• Design of the Commerce Parkway for $316,940. 
• North US1 Median Irrigation $42,140 
• Municipal Complex Park $59,004. 
• Police Department roof $19,672. 
• Sewer vehicle of $34,849. 
• The Water Plant Improvement project is a multiple year project that increased assets by $210,249  

 
 

CITY OF BUNNELL'S CAPITAL ASSETS 
(Net of Depreciation) 

Governmental 
Activities 

Business-
type 

Activities Total 
Land $ 205,002 $ 26,991 $ 231,993 
Construction in Progress 766,020       _ 766,020 
Buildings and improvements 3,175,242 15,289,913 18,465,155 
Equipment 291,468 612.995 904,463 

Total $ 4,437,733 $ 15,929,899 $ 20,367,632 

Additional information on the City of Bunnell’s capital assets can be found in Note 6 in the notes to the 
financial statements. 
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Long-Term Debt – At the end of the 2016 fiscal year, the City of Bunnell had total debt outstanding of 
$7,210,113. 
 

   CITY OF BUNNELL'S OUTSTANDING DEBT 
                                          Long and Short Term Obligations 

Governmental 
Activities 

Business-
type 

Activities Total 

Notes & Bonds Payable 
 
$ 743,584 

  
$ 6,265,722 

  
$ 7,009,306 

Net OPEB 26,574 14,426 41,000 
Compensated Absences 123,853 35,954 159,807 

Total 
 
$ 894,011 

  
$ 6,316,102 

  
$ 7,210,113 

The City of Bunnell’s total debt decreased by $231,556 during the current fiscal year due to the principal 
payment of debt. 

 
Additional information on the City’s long-term debt can be found in Note 7 in the notes to the financial 
statements. 

 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates 

 

• The City’s taxable value of commercial and residential property increased by 8% for the 2016 
fiscal year. 

• The local economy has is showing signs of increasing activity as evidenced by the property value 
increase.  The City expects this upward trend to continue over the next several years. 

• The Millage rate of 7.45 was approved in Fiscal year 2017 which was an increase of 3.1% over the 
roll back rate.  

• In fiscal year 2014, the City’s financial condition was considered unfavorable.  Significant budget 
cuts were enacted.  During fiscal year 2016 a fund balance reserve policy was established.  By the 
end of the current fiscal year the General fund and Water and Sewer fund unrestricted balances 
were in compliance with the new policy.  However, the Solid Waste fund’s finance condition is 
still considered to be unfavorable. 

• The fiscal year 2017 budget was developed such that no additional decline in fund balance is 
planned.  Also, the budget included an increase to Solid Waste fund balance. 

 
Requests for Information 

 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Bunnell’s finances for all 
those with an interest in the City’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this 
report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the City of Bunnell, City 
Manager, P.O. Box 756, Bunnell, Florida 32110-0756. 



CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 1,470,426$     2,900,491$     4,370,917$      
Investments 36,274 77,402 113,676           
Receivables, net 96,995           426,113         523,108           
Internal balances (447,573)        447,573         -                  
Due from other governments 231,667         158,275         389,942           
Inventories 3,746             72,444           76,190             
Prepaids 159                -                 159                  
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents -                 1,286,781      1,286,781        
Capital assets:

Land 205,002         26,991           231,993           
Buildings and improvements 5,698,348      20,153,643    25,851,991      
Equipment 3,661,636      2,132,617      5,794,253        
Construction in progress 766,020         -                 766,020           
Accumulated depreciation (5,893,274)     (6,383,352)     (12,276,626)     

Total assets 5,829,426$     21,298,978$   27,128,404$    

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows related to pensions 652,943$        184,657$        837,600$         

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 50,818$          44,834$          95,652$           
Retainage payable -                 131,669         131,669           
Accrued payroll and employee benefits 56,405           27,959           84,364             
Customer deposits 1,708             240,475         242,183           
Accrued rent 125,957         -                 125,957           
Unearned revenue 164,270         -                 164,270           
Due to other governments 3,492             -                 3,492               
Accrued interest payable -                 44,468           44,468             
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year:
Bonds and notes payable 46,261           233,843         280,104           
Compensated absences 30,963           8,989             39,952             

Due in more than one year:
Bonds and notes payable 697,323         6,031,879      6,729,202        
Net OPEB obligation 26,574           14,426           41,000             
Compensated absences 92,890           26,965           119,855           

Net pension liability 1,755,199      515,857         2,271,056        
Total liabilities 3,051,860$     7,321,364$     10,373,224$    

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to pensions 368,550$        97,526$          466,076$         

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 3,694,148$     9,664,177$     13,358,325$    
Restricted for:

Capital improvements 79,160           849,598         928,758           
Debt service 990                392,715         393,705           
Community redevelopment 3,618             -                 3,618               

Unrestricted (715,957)        3,158,255      2,442,298        
Total net position 3,061,959$     14,064,745$   17,126,704$    

SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Changes in Net Position
Operating Capital

Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total

Governmental activities:
General government 608,268$           108$                 2,602$              -$                   (605,558)$         -$                  (605,558)$         
Community development 181,970             56,107             -                   -                    (125,863)          -                   (125,863)          
Public safety 1,006,732          17,488             1,000               9,726                 (978,518)          -                   (978,518)          
Public works 617,625             -                   76,870             462,316             (78,439)            -                   (78,439)            
Parks and recreation 261,225             74,557             -                   10,434               (176,234)          -                   (176,234)          
Interest on long-term debt 49,077 -                   -                   -                    (49,077)            -                   (49,077)            

Total governmental activities 2,724,897          148,260             80,472               482,476              (2,013,689)         -                     (2,013,689)         

Business-type activities:
Water and sewer 2,065,576          2,599,378        -                   915,123             -                   1,448,925        1,448,925        
Solid Waste 675,736             733,770           -                   -                    -                   58,034             58,034             

Total business-type activities 2,741,312          3,333,148          -                     915,123              -                     1,506,959          1,506,959          

Total primary government 5,466,209$        3,481,408$       80,472$            1,397,599$        (2,013,689)       1,506,959        (506,730)          

General revenues:
Property taxes 1,082,003        -                   1,082,003        
Sales and use taxes 95,013             -                   95,013             
Franchise fees 252,194           -                   252,194           
Public service utility taxes 479,562           -                   479,562           
Fire insurance premium taxes 14,353             -                   14,353             
Other taxes 90,931             -                   90,931             

 State revenue sharing 71,090             -                   71,090             
 Other intergovernmental revenues 102,011           -                   102,011           

Investment earnings 1,653               14,298             15,951             
Loss on investment in Bunnell Flagler County Utility Joint Venture -                   (431,661)          (431,661)          
Miscellaneous revenues (expenses) 23,621             68,403             92,024             

Transfers 114,294 (114,294)          -                   
Total general revenues and transfers 2,326,725          (463,254)            1,863,471          

Change in net position 313,036             1,043,705          1,356,741          
Net position - beginning 2,748,923          13,021,040        15,769,963        

 Net position - ending 3,061,959$       14,064,745$     17,126,704$     

Program Revenues

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Net (Expense) Revenue and

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Community Total
Redevelopment Capital Debt Governmental

General Agency Projects Service Funds

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 1,403,752$   3,269$              62,415$        990$              1,470,426$        
Investments 36,274          -                   -               -                36,274               
Receivables, net 96,995          -                   -               -                96,995               
Due from other governments 214,922        -                   16,745         -                231,667             
Due from other funds 5,728            349                  -               -                6,077                 
Inventories 3,746            -                   -               -                3,746                 
Prepaid items 159               -                   -               -                159                    

Total assets 1,761,576$   3,618$              79,160$        990$              1,845,344$        

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 50,818$        -$                  -$              -$               50,818$             
Accrued payroll and employee benefits 56,405          -                   -               -                56,405               
Accrued rent 125,957        -                   -               -                125,957             
Due to other governments 3,492            -                   -               -                3,492                 
Customer deposits 1,708            -                   -               -                1,708                 
Unearned revenue 164,270        -                   -               -                164,270             
Due to other funds 349               -                   -               -                349                    
Advances from other funds 453,301 -                   -               -                453,301             

Total liabilities 856,300$      -$                  -$              -$               856,300$           

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable:

Inventories 3,746$          -$                  -$              -$               3,746$               
Prepaid items 159               -                   -               -                159                    

Restricted for:
Community redevelopment -               3,618               -               -                3,618                 
Capital improvements -               -                   79,160         -                79,160               
Debt service -               -                   -               990               990                    

Unassigned 901,371        -                   -               -                901,371             
Total fund balances 905,276$      3,618$              79,160$        990$              989,044$           

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
BALANCE SHEET

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Fund balances - total governmental funds 989,044$        

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds

Total governmental capital assets 10,331,006    
Less: accumulated depreciation (5,893,274)     4,437,732       

 
On the governmental fund statements, a net pension liability is not recorded until an

amount is due and payable and the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is not sufficient
for payment of those benefits (no such liability exists at the end of the current fiscal 
year). On the Statement of Net Position, the City's net pension liability of the defined
benefit pension plans is reported as a noncurrent liability. Additionally, deferred
outflows and deferred inflows related to pensions are also reported.

Net pension liability (1,755,199)     
Deferred outflows related to pensions 652,943          
Deferred inflows related to pensions (368,550)        (1,470,806)      

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable and notes payable, are not due and
payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. These
liabilities and other long-term liabilities consist of the following:

Bonds and notes payable (743,584)        
Net OPEB obligation (26,574)           
Compensated absences (123,853)        (894,011)        

Net position of governmental activities 3,061,959$     

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Community Total
Redevelopment Capital Debt Governmental

General Agency Projects Service Funds
Revenues   

Taxes 1,904,982$   -$              98,339$        -$               2,003,321$   
Licenses and permits 123,360        -               -               -                123,360        
Intergovernmental 687,193        -               -               -                687,193        
Charges for services 340,668        -               -               -                340,668        
Fines and forfeitures 18,980          -               -               -                18,980          
Investment gain (loss) 2,575            -               (911)             (11)                1,653            
Miscellaneous 66,574          -               -               -                66,574          

Total revenues 3,144,332      -                 97,428           (11)                 3,241,749      

Expenditures
Current:

General government 812,794        -               -               -                812,794        
Community development 167,875        -               -               -                167,875        
Public safety 868,701        -               -               -                868,701        
Public works 474,345        -               -               -                474,345        
Parks and recreation 207,254        -               -               -                207,254        

Capital outlay 472,290        -               -               -                472,290        
Debt service

Principal -                -               -               44,988          44,988          
Interest and fiscal charges 7,238            -               -               21,607          28,845          

Total expenditures 3,010,497      -                 -                 66,595           3,077,092      
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 

expenditures 133,835         -                 97,428           (66,606)          164,657         

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 206,510        -               -               67,596          274,106        
Transfers out (67,596)         -               (92,216)        -                (159,812)       

Total other financing sources (uses) 138,914         -                 (92,216)          67,596           114,294         

Net change in fund balances 272,749        -               5,212           990               278,951        

Fund balances, beginning of year 632,527        3,618           73,948         -                710,093        

Fund balances, end of year 905,276$      3,618$          79,160$        990$              989,044$      

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 278,951$        

Differences in amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of
activities, the cost of those assets is depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Capital outlay expenditures 472,290          
Depreciation expense (331,480)        

In the statement of activities, only the gain/loss on sale/disposal of capital assets is reported.
However, in governmental funds, the proceeds from the sale increases financial resources.
Thus, the change in net position differs from the change in fund balance by the cost of
the capital assets sold/disposed. (14,576)          

Governmental funds report contributions to defined benefit pension plans as expenditures.
However, in the Statement of Activities, the amount contributed to defined benefit pension plans
reduces future net pension liability. Also included in pension expense in the Statement of Activities
are amounts required to be amortized.

Change in net pension liability and deferred inflows/outflows related to pensions (111,327)        

Bond and loan proceeds are reported as financing sources in the governmental funds. However,
the issuance of debt is reported as long-term debt payable in the statement of net position.
Repayment of bond and note principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but
the repayment of debt principal reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.
These amounts are as follows:

Principal repayment of of long-term debt 44,988

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used in the governmental funds, expenditures
are not recognized for transactions that are not normally paid with expendable available
financial resources. In the statement of activities, however, which is presented on the accrual
basis, expenses and liabilities are reported regardless of when financial resources are available.
In addition, interest on long-term debt is not recognized under the modified accrual basis of
accounting until due, rather than as it accrues. These adjustments are as follows:

Change in net OPEB obligation (7,778)            
Change in compensated absences liability (18,032)          

Change in net position of governmental activities 313,036$         

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

REVENUES  
Taxes 1,835,493$   1,840,493$   1,904,982$   64,489$        
Licenses and permits 92,000         92,000         123,360       31,360          
Intergovernmental 236,508       695,697       687,193       (8,504)          
Charges for services 321,833       322,333       340,668 18,335          
Fines and forfeitures 18,700         18,700         18,980          280               
Interest revenues 500              500              2,575            2,075            
Miscellaneous 20,100         24,400         66,574 42,174          

Total revenues 2,525,134    2,994,123    3,144,332    150,209        

Expenditures
Current:

General government:
Legislative 153,962       159,260       152,223       7,037            
Executive 108,290       123,290       119,889       3,401            
Administration 437,465       441,707       456,605       (14,898)        
Legal 84,204         84,204         84,077          127               

Public safety:
Fire 122,178       127,396       113,599       13,797          
Police 712,562       766,562       755,102 11,460

Community development 207,102       192,102       167,875 24,227          
Public works 478,967       483,469       474,345 9,124            
Parks and recreation 209,270       208,265       207,254 1,011            
Capital outlay 120,500         522,452         472,290         50,162           
Debt service:

Interest and fiscal charges 29,548         29,548         7,238 22,310          
Total expenditures 2,664,048    3,138,255    3,010,497    127,758        
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 

expenditures (138,914)     (144,132)     133,835       277,967        

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 206,510       206,510       206,510       -               
Transfers out (67,596)       (67,596)       (67,596)       -               

Total other financing sources (uses) 138,914         138,914         138,914         -                

Net change in fund balances -              (5,218)         272,749       277,967        

Fund balances, beginning of year 632,527       632,527       632,527       -               

Fund balances, end of year 632,527$      627,309$      905,276$      277,967$      

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

REVENUES  
Taxes -$             -$             -$              -$             
Miscellaneous -              -              -               -               

Total revenues -              -              -               -               

Expenditures
Current:

Community redevelopment -                -                -                -                
Total expenditures -              -              -               -               
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 

expenditures -              -              -               -               

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in -              -              -               -               
Transfers out -              -              -               -               

Total other financing sources (uses) -                -                -                -                
-               

Net change in fund balances -              -              -               -               

Fund balances, beginning of year 3,618           3,618           3,618            -               

Fund balances, end of year 3,618$           3,618$           3,618$           -$              

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Water and Solid
Sewer Waste Total

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 2,821,203$    79,288$         2,900,491$     
Investments 77,402          -                 77,402            
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 278,311 -                 278,311          
Accounts receivable, net 327,491        98,622          426,113          
Due from other governments 158,275        -                 158,275          
Inventories 72,444          -                 72,444            
Due from other funds 100,000        -                 100,000          

Total current assets 3,835,126       177,910          4,013,036       

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash 1,008,470     -                 1,008,470       
Advances to other funds 453,301 -                 453,301          
Capital assets:

Land 26,991          -                 26,991            
Buildings and improvements 20,153,643   -                 20,153,643     
Equipment 1,496,147     636,470        2,132,617       
Accumulated depreciation (5,897,885)    (485,467)       (6,383,352)      

Total noncurrent assets 17,240,667   151,003        17,391,670     

Total assets 21,075,793$   328,913$        21,404,706$   

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows related to pensions 139,463$       45,194$         184,657$        

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 42,744$         2,090$           44,834$          
Retainage payable 131,669 -                 131,669          
Accrued payroll 21,133          6,826            27,959            
Deposits 221,855        18,620          240,475          
Due to other funds 3,664            102,064        105,728          
Compensated absences 4,959            4,030            8,989              
Payable from restricted assets:

Current maturities on long-term debt 233,843        -                 233,843          
Accrued interest payable 44,468          -                 44,468            

Total current liabilities 704,335          133,630          837,965          

Noncurrent liabilities:
Notes payable 6,031,879     -                 6,031,879       
Net OPEB obligation 12,148          2,278            14,426            
Net pension liability 389,603        126,254        515,857          
Compensated absences 14,875          12,090          26,965            

Total noncurrent liabilities 6,448,505     140,622        6,589,127       

Total liabilities 7,152,840$    274,252$       7,427,092$     
 
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred inflows related to pensions 73,657$         23,869$         97,526$          

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 9,513,174$    151,003$       9,664,177$     
Restricted for:

Capital improvements 849,598 -                 849,598          
Debt service 392,715        -                 392,715          

Unrestricted 3,233,272     (75,017)         3,158,255       
Total net position 13,988,759$  75,986$         14,064,745$   

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Water and Solid
Sewer Waste Total

Operating revenues
Charges for services 2,599,378$     733,770$        3,333,148$     

Operating expenses
Personal services 691,472         249,317         940,789          
Contractual services 456,985         224,749         681,734          
Repairs and maintenance 42,479           46,389           88,868            
Supplies 152,017         42,872           194,889          
Utilities 140,017         1,281             141,298          
Other expenses 58,772           19,937           78,709            
Depreciation 398,346         90,793           489,139          

Total operating expenses 1,940,088      675,338         2,615,426       

Operating income (loss) 659,290           58,432            717,722           

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Interest earnings 14,217           81                  14,298            
Change in investment in Bunnell Flagler County Utility (431,661)        -                 (431,661)         
Other income (expense) 59,914           8,489             68,403            
Interest and amortization expense (125,488)        (398)               (125,886)         

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (483,018)          8,172              (474,846)          

Income (loss) before capital contributions and transfers 176,272         66,604           242,876          

Capital grants 648,143         -                 648,143          
Capital contributions 266,980         -                 266,980          
Transfers out (114,294)        -                 (114,294)         

Change in net position 977,101         66,604           1,043,705       

Net position, beginning of year 13,011,658    9,382             13,021,040     

Net position, end of year 13,988,759$   75,986$          14,064,745$   

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Water and Solid 
Sewer Waste Total

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash received from customers 2,652,400$    730,561$       3,382,961$     
Cash paid to employees (738,514)       (239,224)       (977,738)         
Cash paid to suppliers (1,482,639)    (349,407)       (1,832,046)      
Other receipts (payments) 59,914          8,489             68,403           

Net cash provided by operating activities 491,161        150,419        641,580          

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Interfund transfers (114,294)       -                 (114,294)         
Interfund loans 449,497        (174,601)       274,896          

Net cash provided by (used in)
noncapital financing activities 335,203        (174,601)       160,602          

Cash flows from capital and related 
    financing activities

Impact fees and capital contributions 266,980        -                 266,980          
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (265,727)       -                 (265,727)         
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                -                 -                 
Capital grants 648,143        -                 648,143          
Principal payments of long-term debt (228,024)       (42,108)         (270,132)         
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 43,680          -                 43,680           
Interest paid (132,430)       (398)               (132,828)         

Net cash provided by (used in) capital
and related financing activities 332,622        (42,506)         290,116          

 
Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 14,217          81                  14,298           
Sales of investments 1,199,240     -                 1,199,240       

Net cash provided by investing activities 1,213,457     81                  1,213,538       
 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and 

cash equivalents 2,372,443     (66,607)         2,305,836       

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,735,541     145,895        1,881,436       

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 4,107,984$    79,288$          4,187,272$     

Reconciliation of operating income to net
cash provided by operating activities:

Operating income 659,290$       58,432$          717,722$        
Adjustments to reconcile net operating income

to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 398,346        90,793           489,139          
Other income (expense) 59,914          8,489             68,403           
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 121,657        (3,335)            118,322          
Due from other governments (63,600)         -                 (63,600)          
Inventories and prepaids (72,444)         -                 (72,444)          
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (559,925)       (14,179)         (574,104)         
Deposits (5,035)           126                (4,909)            
Compensated absences 2,866            6,986             9,852             
Net pension liability (53,463)         2,440             (51,023)          
Net OPEB obligation 3,555            667                4,222             

Net cash provided by operating activities 491,161$       150,419$       641,580$        

Cash and cash equivalents classified as:
Unrestricted 2,821,203$    79,288$          2,900,491$     
Restricted 1,286,781     -                 1,286,781       

Total cash and cash equivalents 4,107,984$    79,288$          4,187,272$     

Non-cash investing, capital, and 
financing activities:
Loss on disposition of Investment in Bunnell Flagler County Utility (431,661)$      -$                (431,661)$       

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Firefighters'
Pension
Trust
Fund

 
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents with trustee 5,606$            

Receivables
State premium taxes 8,707              

Total receivables 8,707              

Investments, at fair value
Mutual funds 552,222          

Total investments 552,222          

Total assets 566,535          

NET POSITION
Held in trust for pension benefits 566,535$        

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

Firefighters'
Pension
Trust
Fund

 
Additions

Contributions:
Employer 4,706$            
State - insurance premium taxes 12,160            

Total contributions 16,866            

Investment earnings:
Interest and dividends 11,450            
Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments 44,136            

Total investment earnings 55,586            
Less: investment expense (4,722)             

          Net investment income (loss) 50,864            

Total additions 67,730            

Deductions
Benefit payments 13,229            
Administrative expenses 19,061            

Total deductions 32,290            

Change in net position 35,440            

Net position held in trust for pension benefits , beginning of year 531,095          

Net position held in trust for pension benefits , end of year 566,535$        

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 

The financial statements of the City of Bunnell, Florida (the City), have been prepared in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to governmental 
units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted body for promulgating 
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The following is a summary of the City’s 
significant accounting policies: 

(a) Reporting entity⎯The City of Bunnell, Florida, as created by the Laws of Florida, Ch. 28955 
(1953), adopted the City Charter by Ordinance No. 2002-01 on January 29, 2002. The Charter was 
approved by referendum by the voters and became effective on March 5, 2002. The City Charter 
vests all the legislative powers of the City with a city commission consisting of five members. The 
City Manager is appointed by the Commission and is the Chief Administrative Officer of the City. 

The accompanying financial statements present the financial position, results of operations, and cash 
flows of the applicable funds governed by the City Commission of the City of Bunnell, Florida, the 
reporting entity of government for which the City Commission is considered to be financially 
accountable. In evaluating the City as a reporting entity, management has addressed all potential 
component units that may or may not fall within the City’s oversight and control, and thus, be 
included in the City’s financial statements. 

(b) Blended component units⎯Blended component units, although legally separate entities, are 
in substance part of the City’s operations, and as a result, considered to be financially accountable. 
The following component unit is reported in the City’s Annual Financial Report. In June 2007, the 
City passed an ordinance creating a dependent special district, the Bunnell Community 
Redevelopment Agency (Agency). The purpose of the Agency is to provide rehabilitation, 
conservation, or redevelopment of such areas as are necessary in the interest of public health, safety, 
or welfare of the residents of the City. The Agency is blended into the City’s primary government 
although retaining separate legal identity. Separate financial statements are not prepared for this 
component unit. 

Based upon the application of the criteria set forth by GASB there are no discretely presented 
potential component units or related organizations of the City. 

(c) Government-wide and fund financial statements⎯The basic financial statements include 
both government-wide (based on the City as a whole) and fund financial statements. Both the 
government-wide and fund financial statements (within the basic financial statements) categorize 
primary activities as either governmental or business type. In the government-wide statement of net 
position, both the governmental and business-type activities columns are presented on a 
consolidated basis and are reflected, on a full accrual, economic resource basis, which incorporates 
long term assets and receivables as well as long term debt and obligations. 

The government-wide statement of activities reflects both the gross and net costs per functional 
category (public safety, public works, etc.), which are otherwise being supported by general 
government revenues (property, sales taxes, certain intergovernmental revenues, etc.). The statement 
of activities reduces gross expenses (including depreciation) by the related program revenues, 
operating and capital grants. The program revenues must be directly associated with the function or 
a business-type activity. The operating grants include operating-specific and discretionary (either 
operating or capital) grants while the capital grants column reflects capital-specific grants. 



CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 

- 27 - 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 

The net cost (by function or business-type activity) is normally covered by general revenue 
(property, sales or gas taxes, intergovernmental revenues, interest income, etc.). This government-
wide focus is more on the sustainability of the City as an entity and the change in aggregate 
financial position resulting from the activities of the fiscal period. The fund financial statements 
emphasize the major funds in either the governmental or business-type categories. Non-major funds 
(by category) are summarized into a single column, if any. 

The governmental funds’ major fund statements in the fund financial statements are presented on a 
current financial resource and modified accrual basis of accounting. This is the manner in which 
these funds are normally budgeted. This presentation is deemed most appropriate to demonstrate 
legal compliance and demonstrate how the City’s actual experience conforms to the budgeted fiscal 
plan. Since the governmental fund statements are presented on a different measurement focus and 
basis of accounting than the government-wide statements’ governmental column, a reconciliation is 
presented on the page following the Governmental Funds – Balance Sheet and the Governmental 
Funds - Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances, which briefly 
explains the adjustment necessary to transform the fund based financial statements into the 
governmental column of the government-wide presentation. 

The City’s fiduciary fund is presented in the fund financial statements by type (pension). Since, by 
definition, these assets are being held for the benefit of a third party (other local governments, 
private parties, pension participants, etc.) and cannot be used to address activities or obligations of 
the government, these funds are not incorporated into the government-wide statements. 

As a general rule the effect of interfund City activities has been eliminated from the government-
wide financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are payments in lieu of taxes. Elimination 
of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenue reported for the various 
functions concerned. 

(d) Measurement focus and basis of accounting—The government-wide financial statements 
are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, 
as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when 
earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related 
cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants 
and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the 
provider have been met. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon 
as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are 
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. 
For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 
days of the end of the current fiscal period. 

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. 
However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and 
claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. 
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 

Taxes, intergovernmental revenue, licenses and permits, charges for services, and interest associated 
with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been 
recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. All other revenue items are considered to be 
measurable and available only when cash is received by the government. 

(e) Financial statement presentation⎯The financial transactions of the City are recorded in 
individual funds. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts 
that comprises its assets, liabilities, reserves, fund equity, revenues and expenditures/expenses. The 
various funds are reported by generic classification within the financial statements. 

The GASB Codification sets forth minimum criteria (percentage of the assets, liabilities, revenues or 
expenditures/expenses of either fund category or the governmental and enterprise combined) for the 
determination of major funds. Any non-major funds are combined in a column in the fund financial 
statements and detailed in the combining section. There are no non-major funds to report. 

The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

The General Fund accounts for several of the City’s primary services (police, fire, public 
works, community development, parks and recreation, etc.) and is the general operating fund 
of the City. It is used to account for all financial resources except those required to be 
accounted for in another fund. 

The Community Redevelopment Agency Funds accounts for the activities of the Bunnell 
Community Redevelopment Agency. 

The Capital Projects Fund accounts for the financial resources to be used for equipment 
replacement or the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities and improvement 
projects (other than those financed by proprietary funds). 

The Debt Service Fund accounts for the resources accumulated and payments made for 
principal and interest on long-term general obligation debt of governmental funds. 

The City reports the following major proprietary funds: 

The Water and Sewer Fund accounts for the activities of the City’s water distribution system, 
sewage treatment plant, sewage pumping stations and collection systems. 

The Solid Waste Fund accounts for the activities of the City’s solid waste collection and 
disposal. 

Additionally, the City reports the following fiduciary fund: 

The Pension Trust Fund accounts for the activities of the firefighters’ retirement system. 

(f) Use of estimates⎯Management uses estimates and assumptions in preparing financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Those estimates and 
assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities, and the reported revenue and expenses. Actual results could vary from 
the estimates assumed in preparing the financial statements. 
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 

(g) Budgets and budgetary accounting⎯Annual budgets for all governmental and proprietary 
funds were adopted in compliance with Florida law. The basis on which the budgets are prepared is 
consistent with the basis of accounting utilized by the various fund types. The governmental funds' 
budgets are prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting. The proprietary funds' budgets are 
prepared on a full accrual basis of accounting. The City uses the following procedures in 
establishing the budgetary data reflected in the accompanying financial statements: 

i. Sixty days prior to October 1, the City Manager submits to the City Commission a 
proposed operating budget for the fiscal year commencing on October 1. The operating 
budget includes proposed expenditures and means of financing them. 

ii. Budget workshops are scheduled by the City Manager as needed. 

iii. The general summary of the budget and notice of public hearing is published in the local 
newspaper. 

iv. Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments. 

v. Prior to October 1, the budgets are legally enacted through passage of a resolution. 

vi. The City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between divisions and 
departments; however, any revisions that alter the total appropriations of any fund must 
be approved by the City Commission. 

vii. The level of classification detail at which expenditures may not legally exceed 
appropriations is the fund level. 

viii. Appropriations lapse at the close of the fiscal year to the extent they have not been 
expended. Appropriations for capital expenditures lapse five years henceforth. 

ix. Budget for the governmental funds are adopted on a basis consistent with generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The governmental funds have legally adopted 
annual budgets contained within a separate document. 

x. The City Commission, by resolution, may make supplemental appropriations in excess of 
those originally estimated for the year, up to the amount of available revenues. 

(h) Deposits and investments⎯Cash consists of amounts held in demand deposits. Cash 
equivalents consist of short term investments having a maturity date of less than three months from 
the date acquired. Investments are reported at fair value. 

(i) Receivables and payables⎯Activity between funds that are representative of 
lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either 
“due to/from other funds” (i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from other 
funds” (i.e., the non-current portion of interfund loans). All other outstanding balances between 
funds are reported as “due to/from other funds.” Any residual balances outstanding between the 
governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial 
statements as “internal balances.” 

All trade and property tax receivables are reported net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts, 
which is based upon management's analysis of historical trends. Utility operating sales are generally 
recognized on the basis of cycle billings rendered monthly. Unbilled accounts receivable are 
accrued by the City at year-end to recognize the sales revenues earned through the end of the fiscal 
year. 
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 

(j) Capital assets⎯Capital assets include property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets. 
The terms general capital assets and general infrastructure assets relate only to the assets associated 
with governmental activities, whereas the terms capital assets and infrastructure assets relate to all 
such assets belonging to the City. 

Capital assets are defined by the City as assets with an initial individual cost of $1,000 or more and 
an estimated useful life of more than two years. Such assets are recorded at historical cost, if 
purchased or constructed. Contributed assets are recorded at fair market value as of the date 
received. Additions, improvements and other capital outlays that significantly extend the useful life 
of an asset are only capitalized if they meet the dollar threshold above for capitalization. 
Maintenance and repairs of capital assets are charged to operating expenses. Donated assets are 
recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donation. 

Depreciation is reported for the primary government using the straight-line method calculated on a 
service-life basis to amortize the cost of the asset over their estimated economic useful lives, which 
are as follows: 

Assets Years 

Buildings 10 – 50 years 
Infrastructure (improvements other than buildings) 15 – 50 years 
Equipment 3 – 25 years 

(k) Compensated absences⎯City policy permits employees to accumulate a limited amount of 
earned, but unused personal, vacation, and sick leave. Employees may carry forward up to 400 
hours from one fiscal year to the next and may receive payment of 40 hours each fiscal year. These 
benefits are payable in full to employees upon separation from service. All leave pay is accrued 
when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for 
these amounts is reported in accordance with the GASB Codification. 

(l) Long-term obligations⎯In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund 
financial statements, long-term debt obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable 
governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position. 
Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the 
effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or 
discount. Bond issuance costs are expensed when paid. 

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, 
as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported 
as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. 
Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt 
service expenditures. 

(m) Net position flow assumption⎯Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose 
from both restricted and unrestricted resources. In order to determine amounts reported as restricted 
and unrestricted net position, it is the City’s policy to consider restricted net position to have been 
used before unrestricted net position is applied. 
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 

(n) Fund equity⎯In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report fund balance 
classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to 
honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in those funds can be spent. Those 
classifications are as follows: 

Nonspendable - The nonspendable fund balance classification includes amounts that cannot be 
spent because they are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to 
be maintained intact. The “not in spendable form” criterion includes items that are not expected to 
be converted to cash such as inventories and prepaid amounts. It also includes the long-term 
amount of loans and notes receivable, as well as property acquired for resale unless the use of the 
proceeds from the collection of those receivables or from the sale of those properties is restricted, 
committed, or assigned. 

Restricted - Fund balance is reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of resources 
are either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, 
contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or imposed by law through 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation (i.e. when the government assesses, levies, 
charges, or otherwise mandates payment of resources (from external resource providers) and 
includes a legally enforceable requirement that those resources be used only for the specific 
purposes stipulated in the legislation. 

Committed - Fund balance amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to 
constraints imposed by ordinance of the City Commission are reported as committed fund 
balance. Those committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the City removes 
or changes the specified use by taking the same type of action it employed to previously commit 
those amounts. 

Assigned - Fund balance amounts that are constrained by the government's intent to be used for 
specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed, are reported as assigned fund balance, 
except for stabilization arrangements. Assignments can be made by the City Commission. 

Unassigned - Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the general fund. This 
classification represents fund balance that has not been assigned to other funds and that has not 
been restricted, committed, or assigned to specific purposes within the general fund. 

For spendable resources, is the City’s policy to use its resources in the following order as needed to 
fund expenses: restricted, committed, assigned, unrestricted. 

(o) Reserve Policy⎯The City Commission has approved a reserve policy, which addresses that 
the City’s optimal level of net equity reserve has been determined to be 17% of the respective 
operating budgets at the  beginning of the fiscal year or a net equity reserve equal to at least 54 
consecutive days. Net Equity Reserve is defined as a specific fund's equity in pooled cash less 
liabilities due and payable within the next 12 months. 

(p) Deferred outflows/inflows of resources⎯In addition to assets, the statement of financial 
position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate 
financial statement element represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future 
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. 
The City has deferred outflows related to pensions in the proprietary funds and government-wide 
statement of net position and are discussed further in Note (9). 
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section 
for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents an acquisition 
of net position that applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an inflow of resources 
(revenue) until that time. The City has deferred inflows related to pensions in the proprietary funds 
and government-wide statement of net position and are discussed further in Note (9). 

(q) Implementation of new accounting standards⎯At September 30, 2016 and for the year then 
ended, the City has implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 
No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application. See Note (4) for the effect of GASB 72 on 
investment disclosures. 

(2) Reconciliation of Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statement: 

(a) Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund balance sheet and the 
government-wide statement of net position⎯Following the governmental fund balance sheet is a 
reconciliation between fund balance – total governmental funds and net position – governmental 
activities as reported in the government-wide statement of net position. A detailed explanation of 
these differences is provided in this reconciliation. 

(b) Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances and the government-wide statement of activities⎯ 
Following the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balances, there is a reconciliation between net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds 
and changes in net position of governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement 
of activities. A detailed explanation of these differences is provided in this reconciliation. 

(3) Property Tax Calendar: 

Under Florida law, the assessment of all properties and collection of all county, municipal and school 
board property taxes are consolidated in the offices of the County Property Appraiser and County Tax 
Collector. State laws regulating tax assessment are designed to ensure a consistent property valuation 
method statewide and permit municipalities to levy property taxes at a rate of up to 10 mills. The millage 
rate assessed by the City for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2016, was 7.4500 per $1,000. 

All property is assessed according to its fair market value on January 1 of each year. Each assessment roll 
is submitted to the Executive Director of the State Department of Revenue for review to determine if the 
rolls meet all of the appropriate requirements of State statutes. 

The current year taxes for the fiscal year, beginning October 1, are billed in the month of November and 
are due no later than March 31. On April 1, all unpaid amounts become delinquent and are subject to 
interest and penalties. 
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(3) Property Tax Calendar:  (Continued) 

Discounts are allowed for early payment at the rate of 4% in the month of November, 3% in the month of 
December, 2% in the month of January, 1% in the month of February, and without discount in March. 

The City recognizes property tax revenues as received. Delinquent tax receivables are inconsequential to 
the financial statements and have not been recorded. Delinquent taxes on real property bear interest of 
18% per year. On or prior to June 1 following the tax year, certificates are sold for all delinquent taxes on 
real property. After sale, tax certificates bear interest of 18% per year or any lower rate bid by the buyer. 
Application for a tax deed on any unredeemed tax certificates may be made by the certificate holder after 
a period of two years. The City tax calendar is as follows: 

Valuation Date: January 1, 2015
Levy Date: November 1, 2015
Due Date: March 31, 2016
Lien Date: June 1, 2016

(4) Deposits and Investments: 

The City, for accounting and investment purposes, maintains a pooled interest bearing banking account 
and a pooled investment account for substantially all City funds. This gives the City the ability to invest 
large amounts of idle cash for short periods of time and to maximize earning potential. The cash and 
investments shown on the balance sheets and statements of net position represent the amount owned by 
each fund. 

State statutes authorize the City to invest excess funds in time deposits, obligations of, or obligations the 
principal and interest of which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States Government, 
commercial paper, corporate bonds, repurchase agreements and/or the State Board of Administration 
(SBA) Local-Government Surplus Trust Fund Investment Pool or other investment vehicles authorized by 
local ordinance. 

As of September 30, 2016, all City deposits were covered by private bank acquired insurance, Securities 
Investor Protection Corporation (SIPC) insurance, private broker/dealer acquired insurance, Federal 
Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insurance, or the State of Florida collateral pool established 
under the Florida Security for Public Deposits Act (the Act). The Act established guidelines for 
qualification and participation by banks and savings associations, procedures for administration of the 
collateral requirements and characteristics of eligible collateral. Under the Act, the qualified depository 
must pledge at least 50% of the average daily balance for each month of all public deposits in excess of 
any applicable deposit insurance. Additional collateral, up to 125% may be required if deemed necessary. 

Obligations pledged to secure deposits must be delivered to the State Treasurer, or with the approval of 
the State Treasurer to a bank, savings association, or trust company provided a power of attorney is 
delivered to the Treasurer. Under the Act, the City of Bunnell is authorized to deposit funds only in 
Qualified Public Depositories. 
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(4) Deposits and Investments:  (Continued) 

Investments are recorded at fair value in accordance with GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value 
Measurement and Application (generally based on quoted market prices). Accordingly, the change in fair 
value of investments is recognized as an increase or decrease to investment assets and investment income. 
Securities traded on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at 
current exchange rates. The City is a member of Florida PRIME, the Local Government Surplus Funds 
Trust Fund Investment Pool (the Pool), that is administered by the State Board of Administration of 
Florida (SBA). This pool is a “2a-7 like” pool, which has the characteristics of a money market fund. 
Therefore, the fair value of investments held at the State Board of Administration Pool is the same as the 
fair value of the pooled shares. The Regulatory Oversight of the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust 
fund is governed by Ch. 19-7 of the Florida Administrative Code, which identifies the Rules for the State 
Board of Administration. These rules provide guidance and establish the general procedure for the 
administration of the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund. The Local Government Surplus Trust 
Fund is not a registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC); however, the Board has 
adopted operating procedure consistent with the requirements for a 2a-7 fund. The investment pool had a 
weighted average of 50 days to maturity and was rated AAAm by Standard & Poor’s as of September 30, 
2016. The Pool’s investments are recorded at amortized cost. 

As of September 30, 2016, the City’s governmental and business-type investment portfolio is composed 
of the following investments: 

 
Credit Quality 

Rating   Maturities (in Years) 
Investment Type (S&P) Fair Value Less Than 1 1-5 Over 5 

Cash and cash equivalents NR $ 5,657,698 $ 5,657,698 $ -     $ -     
SBA funds AAAm  113,676 113,676  -      -     

Total Portfolio  $ 5,771,374 $ 5,771,374 $ -     $ -     

Interest Rate Risk: The City’s investment policy limits interest rate risk by attempting to match 
investment maturities with known cash needs and anticipated cash flow requirements. The investment of 
current operating funds will have maturities of no longer than 3 years. Investments of bond reserves, 
construction funds, and other non-operating funds (“core funds”) shall have a term appropriate to the need 
for funds and in accordance with debt covenants, but should not exceed ten years. From time to time the 
above parameters may require modification in order to meet specific construction draw schedules or other 
predetermined operating or capital needs, or to satisfy debt obligations, but in no event shall exceed ten 
years. 

Credit Risk: Credit risk is the risk that a debt issuer or other counter-party to an investment will not fulfill 
its obligations. The City’s entire portfolio is invested in SBA funds, as described above. 

Concentration of Credit Risk: The City has adopted no formal investment policy and follows the 
investment policies set forth in Florida Statutes, Chapter 218. 

Custodial Credit Risk: All demand deposits are held with qualified public depositories, as defined above. 
In the case of investments, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the City will 
not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an 
outside party. As of September 30, 2016, the City’s investment of $113,676 in SBA funds are backed by 
the full faith and credit of the State of Florida, or explicitly guaranteed by the State of Florida. 
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(4) Deposits and Investments:  (Continued) 

The Firefighters’ Retirement Trust Fund has adopted an investment policy which authorizes the pension 
manager to invest in equities, fixed income investments, money market funds, and pooled funds. 

The Firefighters’ Retirement Trust Fund measures and records its investments, assets whose use is 
limited, and restricted assets using fair value measurement guidelines established by GASB Statement 
No. 72.  These guidelines recognize a three-tiered fair value hierarchy, as follows: 

• Level 1:  Quoted prices for identical investments in active markets; 
• Level 2:  Observable inputs other than quoted market prices; and, 
• Level 3:  Unobservable inputs. 

 

The following chart shows the Firefighters’ Pension fund cash and investment accounts by investment 
portfolios with effective duration presented in terms of years, and fair value hierarchy level: 

 Fair Value 

Maturities 
(in years) 

Less Than 1 

Credit 
Rating 

Range (S&P) 

Fair Value 
Hierarchy 

Level 

Cash  $ 5,606 $ 5,606 NR N/A 
Mutual Funds – Fixed Income 189,594 189,594 NR 1
Mutual Funds – Equity 362,628 362,628 NR 1

Total Portfolio $ 557,828 $ 557,828   

Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 
value of investments. Generally, the longer the time to maturity, the greater the exposure to interest rate 
risk. The established performance objectives of the Pension Plan require investment maturities to provide 
sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they become due. At September 30, 2016, all investments were 
held in cash or other assets that could be liquidated at any time. 

Credit Risk: Credit risk is the risk that a debt issuer or other counter-party to an investment will not fulfill 
its obligations. The Pension Plan utilizes portfolio diversification in order to limit investments to the 
highest rated securities as rated by nationally recognized rating agencies. All investments are rated within 
the investment policy guidelines at September 30, 2016. 

Concentration of Credit Risk: Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of 
an investment in a single issuer. The Firefighters’ Pension trust fund policy does not allow more than five 
(5) percent of its assets in the common stock, capital stock, or convertible securities of any one issuing 
company, nor more than three (3) percent of its assets in fixed income bonds to be with a single 
corporation. At September 30, 2016, the investment portfolios met these limitations. 

Custodial Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk is the risk that the City may not recover cash and investments 
held by another party in the event of financial failure. Custodial credit risk is limited since investments are 
held in independent custodial safekeeping accounts or mutual funds. 

Foreign Currency Risk: Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely 
affect the fair value of an investment. At September 30, 2016, the investment portfolios had no foreign 
investments. 
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(4) Deposits and Investments:  (Continued) 

A reconciliation of cash and investments as shown in the accompanying financial statements follows: 

Fair Value/Carrying Value
Governmental and Business-type Investment Portfolio $ 5,771,374 
Pension Investment Portfolio 557,828 

Total $ 6,329,202 

 
Government-Wide Statement of Net Position:

Equity in pooled cash  $ 4,370,917 
Investments 36,274 
Restricted equity in pooled cash 1,286,781 
Restricted investments 77,402 

Statement of Plan Net Position:
Cash and cash equivalents with trustee 5,606 
Investments 552,222 

Total $ 6,329,202 

(5) Accounts Receivable: 

The City’s receivables consist of the following at September 30, 2016: 

 
Gross 

Receivable 

Allowance for 
Doubtful 
Accounts 

Net 
Receivable 

Governmental Activities:  
General Fund  

Accounts receivable $ 96,995 $ -     $ 96,995

Totals – Governmental Type Activities  96,995  -      96,995 

Business-Type Activities  
Water and Sewer Fund  

Accounts receivable 458,627 (131,136)  327,491
Solid Waste Fund  

Accounts receivable 146,697 (48,075)  98,622

Totals – Business-Type Activities  605,324  (179,211)  426,113 

Totals $ 702,319 $ (179,211) $ 523,108
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(6) Capital Assets: 

Capital asset activity for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2016, is as follows: 

 
Beginning 
Balance Increases Decreases 

Ending 
Balance 

Governmental activities:  
Capital assets, not being depreciated −     

Land $ 205,002 $ -    $ -     $ 205,002
Construction in progress 449,080 316,940 -      766,020

Total capital assets, not being depreciated  654,082  316,940  -      971,022 

Capital assets, being depreciated −     
Buildings 5,583,532 114,816 -      5,698,348
Equipment 3,846,622 40,534 (225,520)  3,661,636

Total capital assets, being depreciated  9,430,154  155,350  (225,520)  9,359,984 
Less: accumulated depreciation (5,772,738) (331,480) 210,944  (5,893,274)
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net  3,657,416  (176,130)  (14,576)  3,466,710 

Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 4,311,498 $ 140,810 $ (14,576) $ 4,437,732 

Business-type activities:  
Capital assets, not being depreciated −     

Land $ 26,991 $ -    $ -     $ 26,991
Construction in progress 5,433,144 210,249 (5,643,393)  -

Total capital assets, not being depreciated  5,460,135  210,249  (5,643,393)  26,991 

Capital assets, being depreciated −     
Buildings and improvements 14,497,608 5,656,035 -      20,153,643
Equipment 2,145,234 42,836 (55,453)  2,132,617

Total capital assets, being depreciated  16,642,842  5,698,871  (55,453)  22,286,260 
Less: accumulated depreciation (5,949,666) (489,139) 55,453  (6,383,352)
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net  10,693,176  5,209,732  -      15,902,908 

Business-type activities capital assets, net $ 16,153,311 $ 5,419,981 $ (5,643,393) $ 15,929,899 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs as follows: 

Governmental activities:  
General governmental $ 57,388
Community development  6,928
Public safety  94,422
Parks and recreation  49,754
Public works  122,988

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities $ 331,480

  
Business-type activities:  

Water and sewer $ 398,346
Solid waste  90,793

Total depreciation expense - business-type activities $ 489,139
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(7) Long-Term Debt: 

A summary of the long-term liability transactions for the City for the fiscal year ended September 30, 
2016, is as follows: 

 
Beginning 
Balance Additions Deletions 

Ending 
Balance 

Due Within 
One Year 

Governmental activities:   
Notes and bonds payable $ 788,572 $ -    $ (44,988) $ 743,584 $ 46,261
Net OPEB obligation  18,796 7,778 -    26,574  -    
Compensated absences  105,821 99,071 (81,039) 123,853  30,963

Governmental activities –  
Total long-term liabilities $ 913,189 $ 119,564 $ (129,086) $ 894,011 $ 77,224 

Business-type activities:   
Long-term debt:   

Notes and bonds payable $ 5,719,155 $ -    $ (210,852) $ 5,508,303 $ 173,709
SRF Notes payable  773,019 43,680 (59,280) 757,419  60,134

Total long-term debt, net  6,492,174 43,680 (270,132) 6,265,722  233,843
Net OPEB obligation  10,204   4,222 -    14,426  -    
Compensated absences  26,102 36,753 (26,901) 35,954  8,989

Business-type activities –  
Total long-term liabilities $ 6,528,480 $ 81,095 $ (295,873) $ 6,316,102 $ 242,832 

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the City’s revenue bonds and notes are as follows: 

Year Ending 
September 30, 

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities  

Principal Interest Principal Interest Total

2017 $ 45,940 $ 15,372 $ 233,913 $ 133,194 $ 367,107
2018  47,240  19,355 238,663 128,602  367,265
2019  48,576  18,019 244,438 122,721  367,159
2020  49,951  16,644 250,340 116,694  367,034
2021  51,364  15,231 283,878 110,517  394,395

2022-2026  279,461  53,514 1,481,199 454,189  1,935,388
2027-2031  232,418   12,975 1,130,025 300,129  1,430,154
2032-2036  -      -    434,502 218,223  652,725
2037-2041  -      -    472,428 175,504  651,932
2042-2046  -      -    498,336 128,086  626,422
2047-2051  -      -    525,000 79,219  604,219
2052-2055  -     -    469,000 26,813 495,813

Total $ 743,584 $ 151,111 $ 6,265,722 $ 1,993,892 $ 8,259,614 
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(7)  Long-Term Debt:  (Continued) 

Notes and bonds payable in the City’s governmental activities at September 30, 2016, are comprised of 
the following obligations: 

Non-Ad Valorem Revenue note payable, in the original amount of $825,000, 
dated February 26, 2015, due in quarterly payments of $16,649, including 
interest at 2.8% through February 26, 2030. Repayment of loan balance is 
secured by a pledge of Non-Ad Valorem revenues. $ 743,584 

Total long-term debt, governmental activities $ 743,584 

Notes and bonds payable in the City’s business-type activities at September 30, 2016, are comprised of 
the following obligations: 

State Revolving Fund note payable, dated July 1, 2005, due in semiannual 
payments of $35,363, including interest at 2.6% through December 15, 
2025. Repayment of loan balance is secured by a pledge of Water & Sewer 
Utility revenues.  $ 577,506 

 Note payable to Florida Department of Transportation, in the original 
amount of $529,694, unsecured and noninterest bearing. Flagler County 
made a $264,647 payment in 2010, remaining payments will begin October 
15, 2020 with ten annual payments of $26,505.  265,047 

State Revolving Fund note payable, dated November 19, 2012, due in 
semiannual payments of $4,777 once the full amount has been drawn, 
including interest at 2.12% through June 15, 2035. Repayment of loan 
balance is secured by a pledge of Water & Sewer Utility revenues.  179,913 

Water and Sewer System Refunding Revenue Note, Series 2015: Water and 
Sewer Revenue note payable, in the original amount of $2,050,000, dated 
May 21, 2015, due in annual payments of $168,017, including interest at 
2.7% through April 30, 2030. Repayment of year-end loan balance is 
secured by a pledge of Water and Sewer Utility Revenues.  1,938,256 

Water and Sewer Bonds, in the original amount of $3,362,000, dated May 
20, 2015; due serially to May 20, 2055 with interest at 1.875% payable 
annually. Repayment of year-end loan balance is secured by a pledge of 
Water and Sewer Utility Revenues.  3,305,000 

Total long-term debt, business-type activities 
 

$ 6,265,722 
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(8) Interfund Loans, Advances, Fees and Transfers: 

The outstanding balances between funds are short-term loans to cover short-term cash flow needs and 
expected to be repaid in full over the course of the next fiscal year. Individual fund interfund receivables 
and payables for the primary government at September 30, 2016, are comprised of the following: 

 
Due From 

Other Funds 
Due to Other 

Funds 

Governmental Activities  
General Fund:  

Bunnell CRA Fund $ -     $ 349
Water and Sewer Fund 3,664    -   
Solid Waste Fund 2,064  -    

Bunnell CRA Fund:  
General Fund 349  -    

  6,077  349 
Business-Type Activities  

Water and Sewer Fund:  
General Fund -      3,664
Solid Waste Fund 100,000    -   

Solid Waste Fund:  
General Fund -      2,064
Water and Sewer Fund -      100,000

  100,000  105,728 

Total – All Funds $ 106,077 $ 106,077 

For the year ended September 30, 2016, an interfund advance, which is not scheduled to be collected in 
the subsequent year, consisted of the following: 

 Advance To Advance From

Governmental Activities  
General Fund:  

Water and Sewer Fund $ -     $ 453,301
  
Business-Type Activities  

Water and Sewer Fund:  
General Fund 453,301  -    

Totals – All Funds $ 453,301 $ 453,301 

For the year ended September 30, 2016, interfund transfers consisted of the following: 

 Transfer From Transfer To

Governmental Activities  
General Fund:  

Debt Service Fund $ -     $ 67,596
Capital Projects Fund 92,216  -    
Water and Sewer Fund 114,294  -    

Debt Service Fund:  
General Fund 67,596  -    

Capital Projects Fund:  
General Fund -      92,216
  274,106  159,812 

Business-Type Activities  
Water and Sewer Fund:  

General Fund -      114,294

Totals – All Funds $ 274,106 $ 274,106 

The transfer from the General Fund to the Debt Service Fund represents funding of the debt service 
requirement as debt service principal and interest payments become due. The transfer from the Capital 
Projects Fund to the General Fund represents funding of capital expenditures. The transfer from the Water 
and Sewer Fund to the General Fund represents payments in lieu of taxes. 
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(9) Employees’ Retirement Plans: 

A. Florida Retirement System: 

Plan Description and Administration 

As of June 1, 2004, the City began participating in the Florida Retirement System (FRS), a multiple-
employer, cost sharing defined public employee retirement system which covers all of the City’s full-time 
employees. The System is a noncontributory retirement plan, administered by the State of Florida, 
Department of Administration, Division of Retirement to provide retirement and survivor benefits to 
participating public employees. Provisions relating to the FRS are established by Chapters 121 and 122, 
Florida Statutes; Chapter 112, Part IV, Florida Statutes; Chapter 238, Florida Statutes; and FRS Rules, 
Chapter 60S, Florida Administrative Code; wherein eligibility, contributions, and benefits are defined and 
described in detail. The FRS is a single retirement system administered by the Department of 
Management Services, Division of Retirement, and consists of two cost-sharing, multiple-employer 
retirement plans and other nonintegrated programs. These include a defined-benefit pension plan (Pension 
Plan), with a Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP), and a defined-contribution plan, referred to 
as the FRS Investment Plan (Investment Plan). 

In addition, all regular employees of the City are eligible to enroll as members of the Retiree Health 
Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program. The HIS is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension 
plan established and administered in accordance with section 112.363, Florida Statutes. The benefit is a 
monthly payment to assist retirees of the state-administered retirement systems in paying their health 
insurance costs. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2016, eligible retirees and beneficiaries received 
a monthly HIS payment equal to the number of years of service credited at retirement multiplied by $5. 
The minimum payment is $30 and the maximum payment is $150 per month, pursuant to section 112.363, 
Florida Statutes. To be eligible to receive a HIS benefit, a retiree under one of the state-administered 
retirement systems must provide proof of eligible health insurance coverage, which can include Medicare. 

Benefits Provided and Employees Covered 

Employees enrolled in the Plan prior to July 1, 2011, vest at six years of creditable service and employees 
enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, vest at eight years of creditable service. All vested members, 
enrolled prior to July 1, 2011, are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 62 or at any age after 30 
years of service. All members enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, once vested, are eligible for 
normal retirement benefits at age 65 or any time after 33 years of creditable service. Members of both 
Plans may include up to 4 years of credit for military service toward creditable service. The Plan also 
includes an early retirement provision; however, there is a 5% benefit reduction for each year a member 
retires before his or her normal retirement date. The Plan provides retirement, disability, death benefits, 
and annual cost-of-living adjustments. Benefits under the Plan are computed on the basis of age and/or 
years of service, average final compensation, and service credit. Credit for each year of service is 
expressed as a percentage of the average final compensation. For members initially enrolled before July 1, 
2011, the average final compensation is the average of the five highest fiscal years’ earnings; for 
members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011, the average final compensation is the average of the 
eight highest fiscal years’ earnings. The total percentage value of the benefit received is determined by 
calculating the total value of all service, which is based on the retirement plan and/or class to which the 
member belonged when the service credit was earned. 
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(9)  Employees’ Retirement Plans:  (Continued) 

DROP, subject to provisions of Section 121.091, Florida Statutes, permits employees eligible for normal 
retirement under the Plan to defer receipt of monthly benefit payments while continuing employment with 
an FRS employer. An employee may participate in DROP for a period not to exceed 60 months after 
electing to participate, except that certain instructional personnel may participate for up to 96 months. 
During the period of DROP participation, deferred monthly benefits are held in the FRS Trust Fund and 
accrue interest. 

Employees may elect to participate in the Investment Plan in lieu of the FRS defined-benefit plan. 
Employer and employee contributions are defined by law, but the ultimate benefit depends in part on the 
performance of investment funds. The Investment Plan is funded by employer and employee 
contributions that are based on salary and membership class (Regular, DROP, etc.). Contributions are 
directed to individual member accounts, and the individual members allocate contributions and account 
balances among various approved investment choices. Employees in the Investment Plan vest at one year 
of service. 

Financial Statements 

Financial statements and other supplementary information of the FRS are included in the State’s 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, which is available from the Florida Department of Financial 
Services, Bureau of Financial Reporting Statewide Financial Reporting Section by mail at 200 E. Gaines 
Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0364; by telephone at (850) 413-5511; or at the Department’s Web site 
(www.myfloridacfo.com). An annual report on the FRS, which includes its financial statements, required 
supplementary information, actuarial report, and other relevant information, is available from: 

Florida Department of Management Services 
Division of Retirement, Research and Education Services 
P.O. Box 9000 
Tallahassee, FL 32315-9000 

Contributions 

The City participates in certain classes of FRS membership. Each class has descriptions and contribution 
rates in effect at September 30, 2016, as follows (contribution rates are in agreement with the actuarially 
determined rates): 

FRS Membership Plan & Class 

Employee 
Contribution 

Rate 

Employer 
Contribution 

Rate 

Total 
Contribution 

Rate 

Regular Class 3.00% 7.52% 10.52%

Special Risk 3.00% 22.57% 25.57%

Senior Management 3.00% 21.77% 24.77%

Regular Class Not Eligible for FRS 0.00% 4.49% 4.49%

Current-year employer HIS contributions were made at a rate of 1.66% of covered payroll. 
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(9)  Employees’ Retirement Plans:  (Continued) 

Actual contributions made for City employees participating in FRS and HIS for the each of last three 
fiscal years ended September 30 were as follows: 

 2016 2015 2014 

Payroll – Covered Employees $ 1,669,149 $ 2,046,001 $ 2,349,609

City Contributions – FRS 167,167 190,099  205,334

City Contributions – HIS 21,031 25,780  28,195

Employee Contributions 49,756 61,140  69,549

Net Pension Liability, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions 

At September 30, 2016, the City reported a liability of $2,226,753 for its proportionate share of the net 
pension liability, $1,544,288 related to FRS and $682,465 to HIS. The net pension liability was measured 
as of June 30, 2016, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was 
based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the 
projected contributions of all participating governmental entities, as actuarially determined. At June 30, 
2016, the City’s FRS proportion was 0.006115975% and the City’s HIS proportion was 0.00585576%. 
For the year ended September 30, 2016, the City’s recognized pension expense of $183,543 from FRS 
and $36,906 from HIS, for a grand total of $220,449. 

Deferred outflows/inflows related to pensions: 

At September 30, 2016, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

 FRS HIS 

 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Differences between expected and actual 
experience 

$ 118,243 $ (14,378) $ -     $ (1,554)

Changes of assumptions 93,425 -    107,096  -    
Net different between projected and actual 

investment earnings 
399,180 -    345  -    

Change in City’s proportionate share -    (243,494) 35,623  (161,551)
Contributions subsequent to the 

measurement date 
36,903 -    6,276  -    

 $ 647,751 $ (257,872) $ 149,340 $ (163,105)
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(9)  Employees’ Retirement Plans:  (Continued) 

The above amounts for deferred outflows of resources for contributions related to pensions resulting from 
City contributions subsequent to the measurement date and will be recognized as a reduction of the net 
pension liability in the year ended September 30, 2016. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions being amortized for a period of greater than one year 
will be recognized in pension expense in succeeding years as follows: 

2017 $ 29,396
2018 29,396
2019 184,955
2020 113,726
2021 (16,611)

Thereafter (7,927)

Actuarial assumptions: 

The Actuarial assumptions for both defined benefit plans are reviewed annually by the Florida Retirement 
System Actuarial Assumptions Conference. The FRS has a valuation performed annually. The HIS 
Program has a valuation performed biennially that is updated for GASB reporting in the year a valuation 
is not performed. The most recent experience study for the FRS was completed in 2014 for the period 
July 1, 2008, through June 30, 2013. Because HIS is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, no experience 
study has been completed. 

The total pension liability for each of the defined benefit plans was determined by an actuarial valuation, 
using the entry age normal actuarial cost method. Inflation increases for both plans is assumed at 2.60%. 
Payroll growth for both plans is assumed at 3.25%. Both the discount rate and the long-term expected rate 
of return used for FRS investments is 7.60%. The plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be 
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. 
Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the long-term expected 
rate of return. Because HIS Program uses a pay-as-you-go funding structure, a municipal bond rate of 
2.85% was used to determine was used to determine the total pension for the program. This rate decreased 
from the prior year rate, which was 3.80%. Mortality assumptions for both plans were based on the 
Generational RP-2000 with Projection Scale BB tables. 

Long-term expected rate of return: 

To develop an analytical basis for the selection of the long-term expected rate of return assumption, in 
October 2016, the FRS Actuarial Assumptions conference reviewed long-term assumptions developed by 
both Milliman’s capital market assumptions team and by a capital market assumptions team from Aon 
Hewitt Investment Consulting, which consults to the Florida State Board of Administration. The table 
below shows Milliman’s assumptions for each of the asset classes in which the plan was invested at that 
time based on the long-term target asset allocation. The allocation policy’s description of each asset class 
was used to map the target allocation to the asset classes shown below. Each asset class assumption is 
based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions, and includes an adjustment for the inflation 
assumption. These assumptions are not based on historical returns, but instead are based on a forward-
looking capital market economic model. 
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(9)  Employees’ Retirement Plans:  (Continued) 

Asset Class 
Target 

Allocation 

Long-Term 
Arithmetic 

Expected Rate 
of Return 

Cash 1.0% 3.0% 
Fixed income 18.0% 4.7% 
Global equity 53.0% 8.1% 
Real estate 10.0% 6.4% 
Private equity 6.0% 11.5% 
Strategic investments 12.0% 6.1% 
Total 100.0%

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate: 

The following presents the proportionate shares of the FRS and HIS net pension liability of the City 
calculated using the current discount rates, as well as what the City’s net pension liability would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% lower or 1% higher than the current rate:  

Plan 
Current 

Discount Rate 
NPL with 

1% Decrease 

NPL at 
Current 

Discount Rate 
NPL with  

1% Increase 

FRS 7.60% $ 2,843,140 $ 1,544,288 $ 463,166 
HIS 2.85% 782,942 682,465 599,074 

B. City of Bunnell, Florida Firefighters’ Retirement System: 

Plan Description and Administration 

The City maintains one single-employer defined benefit pension plan for eligible firefighters, the City of 
Bunnell Florida Firefighters’ Retirement System Trust Fund (the Plan), which is administered by the 
Plan’s Board of Trustees(the Board) and covers all eligible firefighters. The Board is comprised of 2 
members of the City Commission, 2 members of the Department elected by the Membership, and a fifth 
member as elected by the other four members and appointed by the City Commission. No stand-alone 
financial report is issued for the Plan. 
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(9)  Employees’ Retirement Plans:  (Continued) 

Benefits Provided and Employees Covered 

The Plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits to plan participants and beneficiaries. Cost of 
living adjustments are provided to retirees and beneficiaries at the discretion of the City Commission. 
Benefits vest after ten years of full-time employment. The Retirement Board has contracted with an 
actuary to provide an actuarial valuation of each plan as of October 1 of each year. Current membership 
in the Plan was composed of the following at October 1, 2015: 

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 2 
Active participants 17 

Total current membership  19 

Employees attaining the age of 52 and the completion of 10 years of credited service or attaining the age 
of 52 and the completion of 10 years of credited service and active employees becoming disabled are 
entitled to annual benefits of 3% of their average final compensation for each year of credited service. 
Normal retirement benefits are payable for life and cease upon death with a guaranteed benefit period of 
120 months. In the line of duty disability benefits are equal to at least 42% of average final compensation. 
Non-service incurred disability benefits are only payable to participants with 10 or more years of credited 
service and are equal to minimum benefit of 25% of average final compensation. 

Financial Statements 

The financial statements of the Plan are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Plan member 
contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. The government’s 
contributions are recognized when due and a formal commitment to provide the contributions has been 
made. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the 
plan. All plan investments are reported at fair value. Separate financial statements have not been prepared 
for the Plan. 

Contributions 

The participant contribution rates for the Plan are established by and may be amended by the City 
Commission. The City’s annual required contribution for the current year was determined as part of the 
October 1, 2015 actuarial valuations. The City is required under the Florida Protection of Public 
Employee Retirement Benefits Act to contribute a payment which represents annual normal cost plus 
amortization of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability over various periods as prescribed by law. The 
City’s contributions (and if applicable, any liquidations of a net pension obligation) to the Plan are funded 
by the General Fund. 

The State of Florida also makes contributions to the Firefighters’ Retirement Plans in accordance with 
Chapter 175 of the Florida Statutes as amended by the State Legislature. This contribution by the State of 
Florida is first recognized as revenue in the General Fund before being transferred to the Pension Fund. 
The City’s actual annual contribution for the plan is determined by subtracting estimated employee 
contributions and actual State of Florida contributions from the total annual required contribution as 
determined by the actuary. 
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(9)  Employees’ Retirement Plans:  (Continued) 

Contributions to the Plan for the year ended September 30, 2016, were as follows: 

Employee contributions $ -    
City contributions 4,706  
State contributions 12,160

Total contributions $ 16,866

Investment Policy 

See Note (4) for additional discussion of the investment policies for the Plan. 

Net Pension Liability 

Costs incurred by each of the plans for administration of the plans, which includes legal and actuarial 
fees, trustee fees and investment advisory fees, are borne by the respective retirement plans and are 
included in the actuarial analysis of the required funding amounts. 

The components of the net pension liability of the Plan at September 30, 2016, were as follows: 

Total pension liability $ 610,838 
Plan fiduciary net position (566,535) 

Net pension liability $ 44,303 

Plan fiduciary net position as percentage of total 
pension liability 92.75% 

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of October 1, 2015, with a 
measurement date of September 30, 2016, using the following actuarial assumptions to all measurement 
periods. 

Inflation 2.50%
Salary increases 0.00%
Discount rate 8.00%
Investment rate of return 8.00%

Mortality rates for the Plan were based on the RP-2000 Table (without projection) - Sex Distinct, with 
disabled lives set forward 5 years. 

The long-term expected rate of return on Plan investments was determined using a building-block method 
in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan 
investment expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined 
to produce the long term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by 
the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. 
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(9)  Employees’ Retirement Plans:  (Continued) 

Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major class included in the Plan’s target asset 
allocation as of September 30, 2016, are summarized in the following table: 

Asset Class 
Target 

Allocation 

Long-Term 
Arithmetic 

Expected Rate 
of Return 

Domestic Broad Cap Equity 60.0% 7.5% 
International Equity 5.0% 8.5% 
Broad Market Fixed Income 35.0% 2.5% 
Total 100.0%

Discount rate: 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for the Plan was 8.00%. The projection of 
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that Plan member contributions will be made at 
the current contribution rate and that City contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference 
between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on those assumptions, the 
Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments 
of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on Plan investments was 
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 

Changes in net pension liability: 

Changes in the Plan’s net pension liability were as follows: 

 

Total Pension 
Liability 

(a) 

Plan Fiduciary 
Net Position 

(b) 

Net Pension 
Liability 
(a – b) 

Beginning balance  $ 566,991 $ 531,095 $ 35,896
Changes for year:  

Service cost 2,163 -      2,163
Interest 45,003 -      45,003
Differences between expected and actual experience -    -      -    
Changes of assumptions 9,910 -      9,910
Contributions – employer -    4,706  (4,706)
Contributions – state -    12,160  (12,160)
Contributions – employee -    -      -    
Net investment income -    50,864  (50,864)
Benefit payments, including refunds (13,229) (13,229)  -    
Administrative expenses -    (19,061)  19,061

Net changes 43,847 35,440  8,407
Ending balance $ 610,838 $ 566,535 $ 44,303 
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(9)  Employees’ Retirement Plans:  (Continued) 

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate: 

The following presents the net pension liability (asset) of the City calculated using the discount rate of 
8.00%, as well as what the City’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate 
that is 1% lower (7.00%) or 1% higher (9.00%) than the current rate: 

City’s Net Pension Liability (Asset) 
1% Decrease

7.00% 

Current 
Discount Rate 

8.00% 
1% Increase 

9.00% 

Firefighters’ Retirement System Trust Fund 95,951 44,303  (57,106)

Money-weighted rate of return: 

For the year ended September 30, 2016, the annual money-weighted rate of return on Plan investments, 
net of pension plan investment expense was 10.01%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses 
investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested. 

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 

For the year ended September 30, 2016, the City recognized pension expense of $29,227 in the Plan. At 
September 30, 2016, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 

 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Differences between expected and 
actual experience 

$ 10,800 $ -     

Changes of assumptions 9,085 45,099 
Net different between projected and 

actual investment earnings 
20,624 -     

 $ 40,509 $ 45,099 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions being 
amortized for a period of greater than one year will be recognized in pension expense in succeeding years 
as follows: 

2017 $ 4,871
2018 4,870
2019 4,870
2020 (4,403)
2021 (2,604)

Thereafter (12,194)
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(9)  Employees’ Retirement Plans:  (Continued) 

Defined Contribution Plan: 

The City Commission has adopted the International City Management Association Retirement 
Corporation (ICMA-RC) Money Purchase Plan and Trust effective July 1, 2015. The plan is available to 
the general employees who are not in one of the other City retirement plans. City contributions to the 
ICMARC Money Purchase Plan and Trust for general employees shall be in same percentages as the 
FRS. For the year ended September 30, 2016, actual employer contributions to this plan totaled $34,179. 

C. Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB): 

The City of Bunnell, Florida Post-Employment Benefits Plan is a single-employer healthcare plan 
administered by the City. Pursuant to Section 112.0801, Florida Statutes, the City is required to permit 
participation in the Plan to retirees and their eligible dependents at a cost to the retiree that is no greater 
than the cost at which coverage is available for active employees. Eligible individuals include all regular 
employees of the City who retire from active service under one of the pension plans sponsored by the 
City. Under certain conditions, eligible individuals also include spouses and dependent children. The Plan 
does not issue a publicly available financial report. 

The City’s OPEB cost is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the employer (ARC), an 
amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of the GASB Codification. The ARC 
represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover the normal cost each 
year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed thirty 
years.  

The following table shows the components of the City’s annual OPEB activity for the year, the amount 
actually contributed to the plan, and changes in the City’s net OPEB obligation to the plan based on the 
most recent actuarial valuation dated October 1, 2015: 

    2016 2015 2014

Annual Required Contribution $ 15,000 $ 15,000 $ 14,000
Interest on Net OPEB Obligation 1,000 1,000  -    
Adjustment to Annual Required Contribution (3,000) (1,000)  -    
Annual OPEB Cost 13,000 15,000  14,000
City Contributions Made (1,000) -      -    
Interest on City Contributions -    -      -    
Increase (Decrease) in Net OBEB Obligation 12,000 15,000  14,000
Net OPEB Obligation (beginning of year) 29,000 14,000  -    
Net OPEB Obligation (end of year) $ 41,000 $ 29,000 $ 14,000

Three-year trend information is summarized as follows: 

Plan 
Fiscal Year Ended 

September 30, 
Annual 

OPEB Cost 

Percentage of 
OPEB Cost 
Contributed 

Net OPEB 
Obligation 

(Asset) 

2016 $ 13,000 8% $ 41,000 
2015 15,000 0% 29,000 
2014 14,000 0% 14,000 
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(9)  Employees’ Retirement Plans:  (Continued) 

The funded status of the plan as of October 2014, the most recent valuation date, was as follows: 

Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) $ 33,000 
Actuarial value of plan assets  -     

Unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) $ 33,000 
Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 0.00% 
Covered payroll (Active plan members) Not provided 
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll N/A 

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include 
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and healthcare cost. Amounts determined regarding the 
funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the City are subject to continual 
revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the 
future. The calculations are based on the type of benefits provided under the terms of the substantive plan 
at the time of each valuation and on the pattern of sharing of cost between the City and the plan member 
at that point. The actuarial method and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce 
short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the 
long-term perspective of the calculations. Significant methods and assumptions were as follows: 

Actuarial Valuation Date October 1, 2014 
Actuarial Cost Method Projected unit credit 
Amortization Method Level dollar, open 
Remaining Amortization Period 15 years 
Actuarial Assumptions:  
 Investment Rate of Return with Inflation 4.00% 

 
Health Care Cost Trend Rate 8.0% for 2015, graded to 

5.5% for 2020 

It should be noted that the percent of Annual OPEB Cost contributed is based upon actuarial calculations 
regarding the City’s and State’s contribution. The City’s contribution is dependent upon the estimated 
state contributions that are not known and received at the end of the fiscal year. The City has typically 
used the general fund to liquidate net OPEB obligations. 

Additional trend information related to OPEB is presented in the required supplementary information, as 
listed in the table of contents. The information is presented to enable the reader to assess the progress 
made by the City retirement plans in accumulating sufficient assets to pay retirement benefits as they 
become due. 

(10) Joint Venture: 

The City entered into an interlocal agreement with Flagler County, Florida (the County) on February 6, 
2013, to purchase and operate a potable water and sanitary wastewater utility system, (the Utility System) 
with the understanding that ownership and operation of the Utility System would be handled on a joint 
basis between the two parties. This joint venture, known as the Bunnell Flagler County Utility (the 
BFCU), purchased the assets of the existing water treatment plant on September 16, 2013 and received 
wastewater assets through a donation at the closing. 



CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 

- 52 - 

(10) Joint Venture:  (Continued) 

The City and County had equally shared legal responsibility for all aspects of the Utility, to include but 
not limited to: meeting all financial, regulatory, environmental and liability requirements; providing water 
sewer and reuse service within the designated service area; and operating all other aspects of the Utility 
System, regardless of whichever party is authorized to act. 

The results of operations and cash flows are accounted for in total within the financial statement of the 
joint venture. The City’s interest in equity is reported in the City’s Water and Sewer Fund. Complete 
audited financial statements for the joint venture may be obtained from the County at: 

Flagler County Clerk of Court and Comptroller 
1769 East Moody Boulevard – Building #1, 
Bunnell FL 32110 

On October 1, 2015, the City and Flagler County, Florida amended and restated the Original Interlocal 
Agreement such that all rights and obligations concerning the operation, maintenance financing, 
expansion, and control of BFCU, including billing for services and the right to collect and retain the 
revenue were transferred and assigned by the City to the County. 

As of and for the year ended September 30, 2016, the City’s portion of activity and net position in the 
BFCU was as follows: 

Investment in Joint Venture, September 30, 2015 $ 431,661 
Plus: City’s share of net loss for year (431,661) 

City Investment in Joint Venture, September 30, 2016 $ -     

(11) Risk Management: 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the City carries commercial insurance. Settled 
claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. There were no 
significant reductions in coverage from the prior year. 

The City is engaged in routine litigation incidental to the conduct of its municipal affairs. In the opinion 
of the City’s legal counsel, no legal proceedings are pending which would have a material adverse effect 
on the financial position or results of operations of the City. 

(12) Subsequent Events: 

In February 2017, the City refinanced its Water and Sewer System Refunding Revenue Note Series 2015 
with Water and Sewer System Refunding Revenue Note Series 2017, consisting of one fully-registered 
Note bearing interest at a fixed rate of 2.39% and maturing on May 21, 3030 in the amount of $1,937,333. 

On February 28, 2017, the City refinanced its Non-Ad Valorem Refunding Note, Series 2015 with Non-
Ad Valorem Refunding Note, Series 2017, consisting of one fully-registered Note bearing interest at a 
fixed rate of 2.39% and maturing on February 26, 2030, in the amount of $732,008. 

In October 2016, the City was affected by Hurricane Matthew. This hurricane was primarily a wind event, 
causing significant debris and power outages. City facilities received only minimal damage from the 
storm. Debris removal and cleanup costs are estimated at $175,000. Expected reimbursements of 
approximately 85% are expected from FEMA, state, and insurance proceeds. 



CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 

- 53 - 

(13) Recent Accounting Pronouncements: 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has issued several pronouncements that have 
effective dates that may impact future financial statements. Listed below are pronouncements with 
required implementation dates effective for subsequent fiscal years that have not yet been implemented. 
Management has not currently determined what, if any, impact implementation of the following will have 
on the City’s financial statements: 

(a) GASB issued Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other 
than Pension Plans, in June 2015, which establishes new accounting and financial reporting 
requirements for governments whose employees are provided with OPEB. GASB 73 is 
intended to improve the usefulness of information about postemployment benefits other than 
pensions included in the general purpose external financial reports of state and local 
governmental OPEB plans for making decisions and assessing accountability. The 
requirements of GASB 74 are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2016. 

(b) GASB issued Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefits Other Than Pensions, in June 2015, which establishes standards for recognizing and 
measuring liabilities, deferred outflows or resources, deferred inflows of resources, and 
expense/expenditures. GASB 75 seeks to improve accounting and financial reporting by state 
and local governments for postemployment benefits other than pensions. The provisions in 
GASB 75 are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2017. 

(c) GASB issued Statement No. 76, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
for State and Local Governments, in June 2015, which supersedes GASB Statement No. 55. 
GASB 76 reduces the GAAP hierarchy to two categories of authoritative GAAP and addresses 
the use of authoritative and nonauthoritative literature in the event that the accounting 
treatment for a transaction or other event is not specified within a source of authoritative 
GAAP. The provisions in GASB 76 are effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2015. 

(d) GASB issued Statement No. 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures, in August 2015. GASB 77 
requires governments that enter into tax abatement agreements to disclose the following 
information about the agreements: (1) brief descriptive information, such as the tax being 
abated, the authority under which tax abatements are provided, eligibility criteria, the 
mechanism by which taxes are abated, provisions for recapturing abated taxes, and the types of 
commitments made by tax abatement recipients; (2) the gross dollar amount of taxes abated 
during the period; and (3) commitments made by a government, other than to abate taxes, as 
part of a tax abatement agreement. The provisions in GASB 77 are effective for periods 
beginning after December 15, 2015. 

(e) GASB issued Statement No. 78, Pensions Provided through Certain Multiple-Employer 
Defined Benefit Pension Plans, in December 2015. GASB 78 addresses practice issues 
regarding the scope and applicability of GASB 68. The provisions in GASB 78 are effective 
for periods beginning after December 15, 2015. 

(f) GASB issued Statement No. 79, Certain External Investment Pools, in December 2015. GASB 
79 addressing accounting and financial reporting for certain external investment pools and 
pool participants by establishing criteria for an external investment pool to qualify for making 
the election to measure all of its investments at amortized cost for financial reporting purposes. 
The provisions in GASB 79 are effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2015. 



CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 

- 54 - 

(13) Recent Accounting Pronouncements:  (Continued) 

(g) GASB issued Statement No. 80, Blending Requirements for Certain Component Units – an 
amendment of GASB Statement No. 14, in January 2016. GASB 80 clarifies the financial 
statement presentation requirements for certain component units and amends the blending 
requirements for the financial statement presentation of component units. The provisions in 
GASB 80 are effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2016. 

(h) GASB issued Statement No. 81, Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements, in March 2016. GASB 
81 provides recognition and measurement guidance for irrevocable split-interest agreements in 
which a government is a beneficiary of the agreement. The provisions in GASB 81 are 
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016. 

(i) GASB issued Statement No. 82, Pension Issues—an amendment of GASB Statements No. 67, 
No. 68, and No. 73, in March 2016, which addresses issues regarding: (1) the presentation of 
payroll-related measures in required supplementary information; (2) the selection of 
assumptions and the treatment of deviations from the guidance in an Actuarial Standard of 
Practice for financial reporting purposes; and (3) the classification of payments made by 
employers to satisfy employee contribution requirements. The provisions in GASB 82 are 
effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2016. 

(j) GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, in January 2017. GASB 84 improved 
guidance regarding the identification and reporting of fiduciary activities. The provisions in 
GASB 84 are effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2018. 
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SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS - OPEB 
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Other Post Employment Benefit Plan
Unfunded or Unfunded or

Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial  (Assets in (Assets in Excess of)
Valuation Value of Accrued Liability Excess of) Funded Covered  AAL as a Percentage

Date Assets (AAL)--Entry Age AAL Ratio Payroll of Covered Payroll
  (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c)

10/1/2014 $          - $        33,000 $      33,000 0.00% Not available N/A
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SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS – OPEB 
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Other Post-Employment Benefit Plan

Year Ended 
September 30 

Annual Required 
Contribution 

City
Contribution 

Percentage 
Contribution 

  
2016  $ 15,000 $ (1,000) 7.0%
2015   15,000 - 0.0%
2014   14,000 - 0.0%
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS 
FIREFIGHTERS’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM TRUST FUND 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 

For the year ended September 30, 2016 2015 2014

Total Pension Liability  
Service cost $ 2,163 $ 2,163 $ 2,077
Interest 45,003 45,538  42,984
Differences between expected/actual experience -    12,960  -    
Changes of assumptions 9,910 (54,117)  -    
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee 

contributions  (13,229)  (13,229)  (13,229)
Net change in total pension liability  43,847  (6,685)  31,832
Total pension liability – beginning 566,991 573,676  541,844

Total pension liability – ending (a) $ 610,838 $ 566,991 $ 573,676

Total Fiduciary Net Position  
Contributions – employee $ -    $ 922 $ 1,176
Contributions – state 12,160 20,587  3,964
Contributions – employer 4,706 -      10,006
Net investment income 50,864 (3,844)  32,838
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee 

contributions  (13,229)  (13,229)  (13,229)
Administrative expense (19,061) (1,409)  (997)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position  35,440  3,027  33,758
Plan fiduciary net position – beginning 531,095 528,068  494,310

Plan fiduciary net position – ending (b) $ 566,535 $ 531,095 $ 528,068

Net pension liability – ending (a) - (b) $ 44,303 $ 35,896 $ 45,608

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total 
pension liability 92.75% 93.67% 92.05%

Covered employee payroll N/A $ 23,669 $ 23,510
Net pension liability as a percentage of covered 

employee payroll N/A 151.66% 193.99%
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SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS 
FIREFIGHTERS’ RETIREMENT TRUST FUND 
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Fiscal Year 

Actuarially 
Determined 

Contribution 
(ADC) 

Contributions 
in Relation to 

ADC 

Contribution 
Deficiency 
(Excess) 

Covered 
Payroll 

Contributions 
as Percentage 
of Employee 

Payroll 

2016 $ 8,159 $ 16,866 $ (8,707) N/A N/A
2015  7,555  20,587 (13,032) 23,669 86.98%
2014  13,970  13,970 -    23,510 59.42%

 

Notes to Schedule: 
 
Valuation Date: 10/01/2014
 
Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of October 1, two years prior to the end of the fiscal year 
in which contributions are reported. 
 
Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates: 
 
Funding Method: Aggregate Method (Level Dollar)
Amortization Method Level Dollar
Remaining Amortization Period: 13 Years (as of 10/01/2014).
Asset Valuation Method: 
 

Each year, the prior actuarial value of assets is brought forward utilizing the 
historical geometric 4-year average market value returns, net of fees. It is 
possible that over time this technique will produce an insignificant bias above 
or below market value. 

Inflation: 2.5% per year.
Salary Increases: 0% per year. 
Interest Rate: 8.0% per year, compounded annually, net of investment-related expenses.
Payroll Growth: None. 
Ongoing Membership: In future years, there will be 8 (previously 10) Firefighters each year who meet 

the call requirements and receive credited service. 
Retirement Age: Age 52 and 10 years of service. Also, any member who has reached normal 

retirement is assumed to continue employment for one additional year. 
Early Retirement: Commencing at eligibility for Early Retirement, members are assumed to retire 

with an immediate benefit at the rate of 5% per year. 
Termination Rates: See table below.
Disability Rates See table below. It is assumed that 75% of disablements and active member 

deaths are service-related. 
Mortality: RP-2000 Table (without projection) – Sex Distinct. Disable lives are set 

forward 5 years. Based on a study of over 650 public safety funds, this table 
reflects a 10% margin for future mortality improvements. 

Other Information: Termination and Disability Rate Table.
 

 
 

Age 
% Terminating
During the Year 

% Becoming Disabled
During the Year 

 20 6.00% 0.03% 
 30 5.00% 0.04% 
 40 2.60% 0.07% 
 50 0.80% 0.18% 



 

- 59 - 

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 

Annual Money-Weighted Rate of Return, Net of 
Investment Expense 

Year 
Firefighters’ Retirement

System Trust Fund 

2016
2015 

10.01%
-0.73%

2014 6.66%
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY – FRS/HIS 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 

2016 2015 2014 
Florida Retirement System (FRS)  

Proportion of the net pension liability (NPL) 0.006115975% 0.007177553% 0.008108986%
Proportionate share of the NPL $ 1,544,288 $ 927,077 $ 494,767 
Covered-employee payroll 1,669,149 2,046,001 2,349,609
Proportionate share of the NPL as percentage of covered-
employee payroll 92.52% 45.31% 21.06%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the NPL 84.88% 92.00% 96.09%

 
Health Insurance Subsidy Program (HIS)  

Proportion of the net pension liability (NPL) 0.005855760% 0.006967227% 0.008068319%
Proportionate share of the NPL $ 682,465 $ 710,548 $ 754,408
Covered-employee payroll 1,669,149 2,046,001 2,349,609
Proportionate share of the NPL as percentage of covered-
employee payroll 40.89% 34.73% 32.11 %
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the NPL 0.97% 0.50% 0.99%

 

*Above data presented as of June 30 measurement date in the respective years. 
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS – FRS/HIS 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 

 

 

2016 2015 2014 
Florida Retirement System (FRS)  

Contractually required contribution $ 167,167 $ 190,099 $ 205,334
Contributions in relation to contractually required contribution 167,167 190,099 205,334

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ -    $ -     $ -    

Covered employee payroll $ 2,046,001 $ 2,046,001 $ 2,349,609
Contributions as percentage of covered-employee payroll 10.02% 9.29% 8.74%

Health Insurance Subsidy Program (HIS)  

Contractually required contribution $ 21,031 $ 25,780 $ 28,195
Contributions in relation to contractually required contribution 21,031 25,780 28,195

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ -    $ -     $ -    

Covered employee payroll $ 1,669,149 $ 2,046,001 $ 2,349,609
Contributions as percentage of covered-employee payroll 1.26% 1.26% 1.20%

 

*Above data presented as of June 30 measurement date in the respective years. 



Federal Agency / Pass-Through Entity / CFDA Contract /
Federal Program Number Grant Number Expenditures

FEDERAL AWARDS

U.S. Department of Labor
Passed-through CareerSource Flagler Volusia:

WIA Adult Program 17.258 774-045 2,602$            
Total U.S. Department of Labor 2,602             

U.S. Department of Environmental Protection
Passed-through Florida Department of Environmental Protection

Drinking Water State Revolving Funds 66.468 DW180540 112,505         
Total U.S. Department of Labor 112,505         

U.S. Department of Agriculture
Direct:

Water and Waste Disposal Systems for Rural Communities 10.760 7691000513-101 579,318         
Total Water and Waste Disposal Systems for Rural Communities 579,318         

Passed through Florida Cooperative Forestry Assistance:
Volunteer Fire Assistance Grant 10.664 n/a 5,000             

Total Volunteer Fire Assistance Grant 5,000             

Total U.S. Department of Agriculture 584,318         

U.S. Department of Justice
Passed-through Florida Department of Law Enforcement:

Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program 16.738 2016-JAGD-FLAG-1-H4-049 1,000             
Total U.S. Department of Justice 1,000             

U.S. Department of Transportation
Passed-through Florida Department of Transportation:

Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 427118-2-38-01 316,940         
Total U.S. Department of Transportation 316,940         

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards 1,017,365$     

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016

The accompanying notes to the schedule of expenditures of federal awards and state financial assistance are an integral part of this 
statement.
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA, FLORIDA 
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF 

FEDERAL AWARDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 

1. Basis of Presentation: 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards includes the federal awards activity of 
the City of Bunnell, Florida (the City), and is presented on the modified accrual basis of accounting. The 
information in this schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of 
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Therefore, some amounts presented in this 
schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the basic financial 
statements. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 

Expenditures reported on the schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures 
are recognized following, as applicable, either the cost principles in OMB Circular A-87, or the cost 
principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or 
are limited as to reimbursement. 

Pass-through entity identifying numbers are presented where available. 

The City provided no federal awards to subrecipients during the year ended September 30, 2016. 

3. De Minimis Indirect Cost Rate Election: 

City of Bunnell, Florida did not elect to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate as covered in §200.414, 
Indirect (F&A) costs, of the Uniform Guidance. 
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CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 

A. Summary of Auditors’ Results: 

Financial Statements: 

• Type of audit report issued on the basic financial statements: Unmodified 

• Internal control over financial reporting: 

o Are any material weaknesses identified? No 

o Are any significant deficiencies identified? None reported 

• Is any noncompliance material to financial statements noted? No 

Federal Programs: 

• Internal control over major programs: 

o Any material weaknesses identified? No 

o Are any significant deficiencies identified? None reported 

• Type of report issued on compliance for each major program: Unmodified 

• Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR 
200.516(a)? No 

• Major program identification: 

CFDA Number 10.760 – Water and Waste Disposal Systems for Rural Communities 
 

• Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs: $750,000. 

• Auditee qualified as a low-risk auditee? No 

B. Financial Statement Findings: 

None. 

C. Federal Programs Findings and Questioned Costs: 

None. 

D. Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings: 

No summary schedule of prior audit fndings.is presented as there were no Federal program findings 
for the year ended September 30, 2015. 

E. Corrective Action Plan: 

No corrective action plan is presented as there were no findings for the year ended September 30, 
2016. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL 
PROGRAM AND REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

To the Honorable Mayor, City Commission, and City Manager, 
City of Bunnell, Florida: 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited the City of Bunnell, Florida’s (the City) compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Compliance Supplement 
that could have a direct and material effect on each of the City’s major federal programs for the year 
ended September 30, 2016. The City’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditors’ 
results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

Management’s Responsibility 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grants applicable to its major federal programs. 

Auditors’ Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the City’s major federal programs 
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of 
compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance 
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect 
on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the 
City’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City’s compliance. 
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Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the 
year ended September 30, 2016. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

Management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our 
audit of compliance, we considered the City’s internal control over compliance with the types of 
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program as a basis for 
designing auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over 
compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on 
the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material 
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
June 29, 2017 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT 
AUDITING STANDARDS  

To the Honorable Mayor, City Commission, and City Manager, 
City of Bunnell, Florida: 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
the City of Bunnell, Florida, (the City) as of and for the year ended September 30, 2016, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements, and 
have issued our report thereon dated June 29, 2017.  

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the 
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
financial reporting that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, 
during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we 
consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been 
identified.  
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
June 29, 2017 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ MANAGEMENT LETTER REQUIRED 
BY CHAPTER 10.550, RULES OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA 

OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL 

To the Honorable Mayor, City Commission, and City Manager, 
 City of Bunnell, Florida: 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the basic financial statements of City of Bunnell, Florida (the City), as of and for the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2016, and have issued our report thereon dated June 29, 2017. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States; the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements of 
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance); and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General. 

Other Reports and Schedule 

We have issued our Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in Accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards; Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major 
Federal Program and  Report on Internal Control over Compliance; Schedule of Findings and Questioned 
Costs; and Independent Accountants’ Examination Report on an examination conducted in accordance 
with AICPA Professional Standards, Section 601, regarding compliance requirements in accordance with 
Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General. Disclosures in those reports and schedule, which are dated 
June 29, 2017, should be considered in conjunction with this management letter. 

Prior Audit Findings 

Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not corrective 
actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the preceding annual financial 
audit report. One finding and recommendation from the prior year’s audit (2014-010) has been repeated 
for two or more years and has not yet been fully corrected. The following summarizes the status of prior 
year findings and recommendations: 

2014-001 Recording of Solid Waste Fees and Utility Taxes: Corrective action taken.  

2014-002 Journal Entry Controls: Corrective action taken. 

2014-005 Pooled Cash Accounting – Corrective action taken. 



 

 
- 70 - 

2014-006 Payroll Segregation of Duties – Corrective action taken. 

2014-008 Tracking of Consumable Inventory – Corrective action taken. 

2014-009 Capital Asset Inventory – Corrective action taken. 

2014-010 Fuel Tax Returns (Third-Year Repeat Comment) – Corrective action not taken. 

2014-014 User Access Rights – Corrective action taken. 

2014-015 Tracking of Electronic Funds Transfers – Corrective action taken. 

2015-001 Human Resource Testing Exceptions (Repeat Comment) – Corrective action not 
taken. 

2015-002 Solid Waste Administrative Fee - Corrective action taken. 

2015-003 Public Service Utility Tax - Corrective action taken. 

2015-004 Fund Balance Policy – Corrective action taken. 
 

Official Title and Legal Authority 

Section 10.554 (1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title and legal 
authority for the primary government and each component unit of the reporting entity be disclosed in this 
management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. The legal authority for the 
primary government of the reporting entity is disclosed in Note 1 of the basic financial statements. 

Financial Condition 

Section 10.554(1)(i)5.a. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, require that we apply appropriate 
procedures and report the results of our determination as to whether or not the City has met one or more 
of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and identification of the specific 
conditions met. In connection with our audit, we determined that the City did not meet any of the 
conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes. 

Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.c. and 10.556(8), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied financial 
condition assessment procedures. It is management’s responsibility to monitor the City’s financial 
condition, and our financial condition assessment was based in part on representations made by 
management and the review of financial information provided by same. 

Annual Financial Report 

Section 10.554(1)(i)5.b. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, require that we apply appropriate 
procedures and report the results of our determination as to whether the annual financial report for the 
City for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2016, filed with the Florida Department of Financial Services 
pursuant to Section 218.32(1)(a), Florida Statutes, is in agreement with the annual financial audit report 
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2016. In connection with our audit, we determined that these two 
reports were in agreement. 

Other Matters 

Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in the management letter 
any recommendations to improve financial management. In connection with our audit, we noted the 
following recommendations: 

2014-010 Fuel Tax Returns – During our audit, we noted the City has historically not filed fuel tax 
returns with the state. Fuel tax returns can be filed to receive monies back for gas taxes paid on fuel 
which the City did not use on roads, but rather for heavy equipment, etc. As this results in no 
additional cost and could result in certain monies being refunded to the City on a regular basis, we 
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recommend the City institute a process to ensure fuel tax returns are prepared and submitted to the 
state on a regular basis. 

2015-001 Human Resource Testing Exceptions – In our testing for the year ended September 30, 
2015, we noted in our detail audit human resource  testing out of the 40 employees tested, one 
employee had an incorrect resignation date recorded in the City’s system, 4 employees did not have 
an approved personnel action forms (PAF) in their file related to the pay period tested, 3 employees 
were missing the proper approval on their PAFs, 1 manual time sheet had extra overtime hours 
recorded and was improperly approved by the department head, and 8 employees were paid outside 
of their assigned pay grades. Maintaining current and accurate personnel files is an important 
control for employee data, as well as for other compliance with employment laws and regulations. 
Employee files should contain all approved salary increases so the employee’s current salary can be 
verified at any time. Also, appropriate approval signatures should be recorded on every PAF before 
changes are entered into the payroll system. Each employee’s file should contain an appropriately 
authorized salary or hourly pay amount and employee authorization for any withholding or other 
deductions. We recommend the City periodically review the personnel files for completeness. Also, 
improper supervisory approval can allow errors in the time charged and since allocated among 
funds may pass undetected. We also recommend management obtain a better understanding of how 
hours are recorded and they perform a thorough review of employees’ time before approving it. 

2016-001 Cash Disbursement Testing Exception – We noted in our detailed cash disbursement 
testing, out of the 40 disbursements tested, 1 purchase order had been created and approved after 
the invoice was received and the service already performed. Per the Procurement policy, a purchase 
request must be issued prior to making a purchase. We recommend adhering to the procurement 
policy to prevent purchases being made by individuals without proper approval.  

2016-002 Credit Memos and Utility Bill Adjustments – We noted in our detailed testing of 
Credit Memos and Utility Bill Adjustments, evidence of proper approval could not be located for 1 
of the 10 adjustments selected for testing. Current procedures require that all credit memos and 
utility bill adjustments be approved to prevent unauthorized issuance. We recommend maintaining 
all backup and support showing proper review and approval. 

Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address noncompliance with 
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have occurred, 
that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material but which warrants the attention of 
those charged with governance. In connection with our audit, we did not have any such findings. 

City of Bunnell, Florida’s Response to Findings 

The City’s responses to the findings identified in our audit are described starting on page Error! 
Bookmark not defined..The City’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 

Purpose of this Letter 

Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida Auditor 
General, Federal and State granting agencies, the City Commission, management, and others within the 
City and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
June 29, 2017 
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ EXAMINATION REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor, City Commission, and City Manager, 
City of Bunnell, Florida 

We have examined the City of Bunnell, Florida’s (the City) compliance with Section 218.415, Florida 
Statutes, Local Government Investment Policies, for the year ended September 30, 2016. Management is 
responsible for the City’s compliance with those requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the City’s compliance based on our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included examining, on a test basis, evidence 
about the City’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis 
for our opinion. Our examination does not provide a legal determination on the City’s compliance with 
specified requirements. 

In our opinion, the City of Bunnell, Florida complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned 
requirements for the year ended September 30, 2016. 

Daytona Beach, Florida 
June 29, 2017 
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June 27, 2017 
 
Management’s Response to the Auditor’s Comments 
 
2014-010 Fuel Tax Return 
 
The City will begin filing fuel tax returns, starting September 2017. 
 
2015-001 Human Resource Testing Exceptions 
 
The City will complete a comprehensive review of all Human Resource records to insure proper 
documentation for all employee maintenance items are properly maintained in the personnel file.  In 
addition, the City will review, update and obtain Commission approval for the position grade 
matrix.  The employee Personnel Manual will be updated to include proper pay grade placement 
procedures and employee personnel file maintenance procedures. 
 
2016-001 Cash Disbursement Testing Exception 
 
The City will provide training on the City’s Purchasing Policy to all staff responsible for purchase 
requests.  In addition, Finance, will report to the City Manager when violations occur, so any 
additional appropriate action may be taken. 
 
2016-002 Credit Memos and Utility Bill Adjustments 
 
The City will establish a review procedure to insure backup is maintained on all utility adjustments. 
 

 
Dan Davis 
City Manager 
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Providing Tax, Accounting & Controllership, Consulting, 

and Wealth Management Services Since 1964.

• Audit Report (pages 1-2)
– Unmodified opinion

• Single Audit Report (pages 65-66)
– No findings

• Internal Control and Compliance Report (pages 67-68)
– No findings
– 2 prior year significant deficiencies were corrected

• Chapter 10.550 Auditor General Report (pages 69-71)
– Overall Financial Condition Assessment is Inconclusive 

(average)
– 4 recommendations for improvement (2 repeat and 2 new)
– 11 prior year comments corrected

• Independent Accountants’ Examination Report (page 72)
– No noncompliance noted

Auditors’ Reports



Providing Tax, Accounting & Controllership, Consulting, 

and Wealth Management Services Since 1964.

Auditors’ Comments

2014 2015 2016

Material
Weaknesses

0 0 0

Significant 
Deficiencies

3 2 0

Single Audit
Compliance

0 0 0

Suggestions 12 11 4
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General Fund – 5 Year Trend
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*Transfer of $1.05 million in 2012 from Bunnell Maintenance Service fund included in 2012 revenues above. 
**Also, excludes $825,000 in 2015 for proceeds and principal payments  from refinancing of debt.
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and Wealth Management Services Since 1964.

General Fund

• Total Assigned/Unassigned Fund Balance $     901,371

• 2016 Expenditures and Transfers Out 
(excluding capital outlay) $  2,605,803

• Assigned/Unassigned Fund Balance as a percentage
of 2016 Expenditures and Transfers out 34.6%

• Assigned/Unassigned Fund Balance as a percentage
of 2017 Budgeted Expenditures and Transfers out 30.7%

• GFOA Recommendation:

– MINIMUM of 2 Months (16.7%) of recurring expenditures
and transfers out in assigned + unassigned  fund balance.
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and Wealth Management Services Since 1964.

Reserve Policy

• Net Equity Reserves
– A fund’s equity in pooled cash less liabilities due and 

payable within the next 12 months

• Optimal level (of net equity reserves)
– 17% of the operating budget, or
– A net equity reserve equal to at least 54 days

• Since 54 days is 14.8%, this is effectively the optimal level

• Applies to 3 funds at 9/30/2016
– General Fund was 33%
– Water and Sewer Fund was 86%
– Solid Waste Fund was (8)%
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and Wealth Management Services Since 1964.

History of Unrestricted Net Position in Enterprise Funds:

Fund 9/30/2012 9/30/2013 9/30/2014 9/30/2015 9/30/2016

Water/Sewer 1,282,228 1,178,811 1,454,026 2,215,062        3,233,272

Solid Waste 83,067 (55,673) (157,690) (196,259) (75,017)

Business-Type Funds

History of Unrestricted Net Position as a % of Operating Expenses (plus Interest & Amortization):

Fund 9/30/2012 9/30/2013 9/30/2014 9/30/2015 9/30/2016

Water/Sewer 77% 58% 72% 98% 157%

Solid Waste 18% (9)% (22)% (29)% (11)%
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and Wealth Management Services Since 1964.

Other Items

• Note 7 – Long-term Debt

– No current year refinancing, only standard pay-down of long-
term debt.

• Note 10 BFCU Joint Venture

– $431,661 net loss on investment in BFCU joint venture 
transferred to Flagler County on October 1, 2015

• Note 12 – Subsequent Events

– 2 refinancing of long-term debts to obtain better interest rates, 
improve working capital, and increase cash flow

– Hurricane Matthew
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and Wealth Management Services Since 1964.

Pension Funds

• Note 9 Employees’ Retirement Plans –

– $2,271,056 of Unfunded net pension liabilities required to be shown as a 
liability on government-wide and proprietary statements of net position.

• Volunteer Firefighter Pension - $44,303

• Florida Retirement System (City’s proportionate share) - $1,544,288

• FRS Health Insurance Subsidy (City’s proportionate share) - $682,465

– Percent Funded
• Volunteer Firefighter Pension – 92.75%

• Florida Retirement System (City’s proportionate share) – 84.90%

• FRS Health Insurance Subsidy (City’s proportionate share) – 0.97%
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Questions?
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BUNNELL CITY COMMISSION MINUTES  
Monday, July 10, 2017 

7:00 PM 
201 West Moody Boulevard, 

City Commission Chambers - Building 3 
Bunnell, FL 32110  

 

A. Call Meeting to Order and Pledge Allegiance to the Flag: Mayor Robinson called the 

meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. and led the Pledge to the Flag.   

Roll Call: Present: Mayor Catherine D. Robinson, Vice Mayor John Rogers, Commissioner 

Elbert Tucker, Commissioner Bill Baxley, Commissioner John Sowell, City Attorney Wade 

Vose, City Manager Dan Davis, and City Clerk Sandra Bolser. 

Invocation for our Military Troops and National Leaders: Commissioner Elbert Tucker led  

the invocation.  

 

B. Introductions, Commendations, Proclamations, and Presentations:  

B.1. Presentation: Fresh Start Program - Krystal Cherry, Daytona State University, provided an 

overview of the Fresh Start Program.  

 

B.2. Presentation: Cost-Share Check from the St. Johns River Water Management District 

(SJRWMD): City Manager Davis stated the City was awarded a cost-share grant with 

SJRWMD. He turned the announcement over to Mike Baldwin, Utilities Manager, who 

explained the projects to be accomplished with the grant monies. Mr. Jim Troiano 

complimented City staff for how well the grant application was completed and how impressed 

he was that City staff attended their board meeting. Mr. Troiano presented a check for 

$266,160.00 on behalf of SJRWMD for the Cost Share Grant.  

 
 

C. Consent Agenda: 

C.1. Approval of Warrant  

a. 2017 07 10 Warrant 

C.2. Approval of Minutes: 

a.2017 06 26 City Commission Workshop Minutes 

b.2017 06 26 City Commission Meeting Minutes 

C.3. Request to surplus assorted dumpsters. 

C.4. Law Enforcement Mutual Aid Agreement 

Motion: Approve Consent Agenda. 

Motion by: Commissioner Tucker 

Seconded by: Commissioner Baxley 

Public Comment: None 

Board Discussion: None 

Vote: Motion carried unanimously. 



 
 

D. Public Comments:  

Comments regarding items not on the Agenda. Citizens are encouraged to speak; however, 

comments are limited to four (4) minutes. Daisy Henry commended the City of Bunnell Police 

Department for their response to her calls regarding the firecracker issue. She asked how long it 

will take for the road to be repaired by the gym. She also stated there is a sewer cleanout cap 

missing at the corner of Elm and Bay.   

Courtney Ousley complained about issues with the officers during an event on the 4th of July. She 

advised she was treated rudely by Officer Sarah Casey. She also stated she had asked around and 

could not find one child who received a cupcake during the Police Chief’s Cupcake Citation 

Program. She requested the Police Department do something to mend the relationship between the 

police and the community.  

Andre Chaney, Espanola Masonic Lodge, requested a fee waiver to use the fields at the Carver 

Park. Each year the Lodge holds a health fair to assist kids going back to school. They want to try 

to attract more vendors for the event, but that would cause the event to expand into the sports fields.  

He further advised they would be happy if the City could donate items such as backpacks and 

school supplies.  

City Manager Davis advised the City has received numerous positive comments about the Cupcake 

Citation Program and he knows there has been many cupcakes given out to children. In addition, 

the City does not have a police officer named Casey. 
 

E. Ordinances: (Legislative): 
 

E.1. Ordinance 2017-19 Changing the Future Land Use designation of approximately .40 acres  

of property to Bunnell Commercial Medium. - First Reading. City Attorney Vose read the short 

title of the Ordinance into the record. Acting Community Development Director Kristen Bates 

reviewed the Ordinance. 

Motion: Approve Ordinance 2017-19 Changing the Future Land Use designation of  

approximately .40 acres of property to Bunnell Commercial Medium on first reading. 

Motion by: Vice Mayor Rogers 

Seconded by: Commissioner Sowell 

Public Comment: None 

Board Discussion: None 

Vote: Motion carried unanimously. 
 

E.2. Ordinance 2017-20 Changing the Zoning designation of approximately .40 acres of  

property to B-1, Business district. - First Reading. City Attorney Vose read the short title of the 

Ordinance into the record. Acting Community Development Director Kristen Bates reviewed the 

Ordinance. 

Motion: Approve Ordinance 2017-20 Changing the Zoning designation of approximately  

.40 acres of property to B-1, Business district on first reading.  

Motion by: Vice Mayor Rogers 

Seconded by: Commissioner Baxley 

Public Comment: None 

Board Discussion: None 

Vote: Motion carried unanimously.  
 

E.3. Ordinance 2017-21 Amending the Bunnell Land Development Code Sec. 34-186 Home  

Occupations. - First Reading. City Attorney Vose read the short title of the Ordinance into the 

record. Acting Community Development Director Kristen Bates reviewed the Ordinance. 

Motion: Approve Ordinance 2017-21 Amending the Bunnell Land Development Code  

Sec. 34-186 Home Occupations on first reading. 



Motion by: Vice Mayor Rogers 

Seconded by: Commissioner Tucker 

Public Comment: None 

Board Discussion: Commissioner Tucker asked for clarification about the section  

regarding agricultural occupational licenses.  Commissioner Sowell asked how this will 

impact businesses in the core of the City. He also asked for clarification on businesses that   

do alterations or laundry services. Ms. Bates answered the Commissioners’ questions. 

Vote: Motion carried unanimously. 
 

F.   Resolutions: (Legislative): 

F.1. Resolution 2017-14 Amending Section 11 of Resolution 2014-21 

Motion: Adopt Resolution 2017-14 Amending Section 11 of Resolution 2014-21. City Attorney 

Vose read the short title of the Resolution into the record. Finance Director Stella Gurnee explained 

this Resolution is to update the cost to install smart meters.  

Motion by: Commissioner Tucker 

Seconded by: Commissioner Sowell 

Public Comment: None 

Board Discussion: None 

Vote: Motion carried unanimously.  
 

G. Old Business: None. 
 

H.   New Business: 

 

H.1. Appeal of the June 20, 2017 Planning, Zoning and Appeals Board decision regarding the 

Special Exception Request to allow a transitional housing project at 210 N. Fig Street.  

Acting Community Development Director Kristen Bates explained the request for the exception 

and how the appeals process works. The City provided notice to all properties within 300 feet of the 

proposed transitional housing project. She advised there were written and telephone objections by 

some residents. Attorney Vose advised this is a quasi-judicial matter and the Board is required to 

make its decision based on what is presented by staff and the people in the audience. He advised 

the Board if they have had any ex-parte communications regarding this issue they are required to 

disclose it for the record. Commissioner Baxley stated he talked to a gentleman in the audience 

before the meeting. Vice Mayor Rogers advised Jerry Jones, a member of the PZA Board contacted 

him. Mayor Robinson, Commissioner Tucker and Commissioner Sowell advised they have had no 

communication on this issue. Attorney Vose advised the Board of their options according to the 

Code.  

 

Ms. Loraine Vickery, Founder and Director of Samaritan Ministries, advised she does background 

checks, random drug tests and will install a security system. The home will not allow violence, 

drugs, noise or nuisances. She advised the purpose of the program is to assist women and children 

in transition. She is aware of concerns of traffic issues including school bus traffic. There are no 

buses that use Fig Street. Mayor Robinson asked about the concern addressed in one of the letters 

about sex offenders. Ms. Vickery advised they do not allow anyone with records of violence, sex 

offenses or theft to come into the program and the program does provide mandatory counseling. 

Commissioner Baxley stated he used to live near another home at 700 Lambert operated by Ms. 

Vickery and never saw any problems. He never saw any police activities at the home during the 

years they were there. Ms. Vickery advised there were no calls made to the Police for any criminal 

activities during that time. Commissioner Tucker asked if the purchase was recent. Ms. Vickery 

advised the property has not closed yet. He asked if she could not find a house in Palm Coast. Ms. 

Vickery explained the County services are here in Bunnell and they are all within walking distance. 



She stated Bunnell is a better community. Vice Mayor Rogers asked about the size of the house and 

how many residents and staff will be in the house.   

Mr. Jeff McKay advised he has been associated with Ms. Vickery for years and has very high 

regards for her and the work she does. He read a letter from the Vice President of the Community 

Chorus of Palm Coast supporting the program (attached).  

Daisy Henry advised she has known Ms. Vickery for years. She has spent time in the home and has 

never seen any problems. She also asked why Bunnell was chosen.  

Krystal Cherry stated she has been associated with Ms. Vickery for years. She offers home and 

hope for these women and does good work.  

Motion: Affirm the PZA Board’s recommendation to deny the request.  

Motion by: Commissioner Sowell 

Seconded by: Commissioner Tucker 

Public Comment: None 

Board Discussion: Vice Mayor Rogers asked Ms. Vickery if she would be able to meet the City, 

State and local codes as outlined in the Fire Inspector’s report. Ms. Bates advised the Board can 

add restrictions and conditions to their motion. Ms. Vickery advised she is aware that the building 

must be brought to code. Commissioner Baxley advised the people who spoke in opposition at the 

PZA meeting should have come to this meeting. Commissioner Sowell advised he fully supports 

what the Samaritan Ministries wants to do, but he questions putting it in a residential area. When a 

person buys a home in a neighborhood they expect the fundamental characteristics to last forever. 

Commissioner Baxley advised he feels the City has set a precedent since the former home was 

approved by the City in the same neighborhood.  

Vote: Motion failed: Summary Vote – Yes: Commissioner Sowell and Commissioner Tucker 

No – Mayor Robinson, Commissioner Baxley, and Vice Mayor Rogers. 

City Attorney Vose advised that the denial of the exemption does not automatically change over.  

Ms. Bates advised the types of conditions that could be placed on the request.   City Manager Davis 

stated persons that have ever been charged with sexual offences are not allowed by law live within 

1,000 feet of a school. He would like to see mandatory screening of all applicants. City Attorney 

Vose indicated there should also be a condition they provide Liability Insurance.  

Motion: Approve the appeal with the following conditions: site plan approval, nationwide 

background screening, not exceed 8 residents, pass fire inspection, privacy fence in back yard, 

maintain $1,000,000 liability insurance.  

Motion by: Vice Mayor Rogers  

Seconded by: Commissioner Baxley 

Public Comments: None 

Board Comments: Commissioner Sowell asked if we can ask for a surety bond.  

Vote: Motion carried: Summary Vote Yes: Mayor Robinson, Commissioner Baxley, and Vice 

Mayor Rogers. No: Commissioner Sowell and Commissioner Tucker. 

I. Reports: 

• City Clerk – Nothing to report.

• City Attorney: City Attorney Vose provided an update on the electronic instant bingo

issue. The City has not received any response from the applicant’s attorneys. There are 

no plans to request an opinion from the Attorney General’s Office until we receive the 

written correspondence on their position, which they ensured the City would be receive 

by June 1st. 

• City Manager: Mr. Davis reminded the Board of their meetings with the Auditors on

Wednesday. He announced the upcoming ribbon cutting for the dedication ceremony for 



the protection of the Old Brick Road. This event is scheduled for Thursday, July 13th at 

8:00 a.m. The first budget workshop will be at 6:00 p.m. on July 24th. In addition, he 

briefed the Board about a meeting he and Fire Chief Bolser had with Flagler County 

Administrator Craig Coffey and Fire Chief Petito to discuss the logistics of the County 

providing Fire and Rescue services to the City. 

 • Mayor and City Commissioners 

Commissioner Sowell: Nothing to report. 

Commissioner Tucker: Nothing to report.  

Commissioner Baxley advised he is going on vacation. He updated the Board on the 

City Banners. He has received pledges for the sponsorship of 18 banners so far. 

Vice Mayor Rogers thanked the Fire Department for saving his house from a brush fire 

caused by a lightening strike. He also wanted to go on record to say he has heard nothing 

but positive comments from the community about the Police Chief’s Cupcake Citation 

Program. He stated that in his opinion Chief Foster is the best Police Chief the City has 

ever had. He attended the 100th Year Anniversary event for the Flagler County Sherriff’s 

Office, along with the City Manager and Chief Foster.   

Mayor Robinson talked about her first fitness challenge. The next challenge is going to 

be at the Joanne B. King Park on July 29th at 8:00 a.m. She appreciates the good 

comments about the Police Department. She thought the Cupcake Citation Program was 

a great idea and hopes we can keep promoting the positive.  

 

J. Call for Adjournment. 

Motion: Adjourn the meeting at 8:41 p.m. 

Motion by: Vice Mayor Rogers 

Seconded by: Commissioner Baxley 

Vote: Motion carried unanimously. 

 

 

 

 

____________________________________ _______________________________ 

        Catherine D. Robinson, Mayor         Sandra Bolser, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

____________________________________ _______________________________ 

Date      Date 

 

 



City of Bunnell, Florida

Agenda Item No. C.3.
Document Date: 7/12/2017 Amount:  N/A
Department: Finance Account #:  various

Subject: Request to approve piggyback contract from St. John's County with Alliant
Engineering for continuing Engineering services

Agenda Section: Consent Agenda:

Goal/Priority: Financial Health, Infrastructure

ATTACHMENTS:
Description Type
St. Johns County contract with Alliant Contract
St. Johns County contract with Alliant-piggyback approval Exhibit
Alliant piggyback agreement Contract

Summary/Highlights:

February 17, 2017 the Commission approved a piggyback for continuing engineering services with QLH. 
This additional contract will provide more than one engineering firm that will be available for City projects. 

Background:

The City requires specialized engineering services for various upcoming projects and permits.  By piggyback
the St. Johs County bid for engineering continuing services with Alliant Engineering, the City will then have
two firms available to perform various projects.  Alliant has provided engineering services for several previous
City projects.  Their performance has always been outstanding.

Staff Recommendation:

Approve piggyback of the existing engineering contract between St. Johns County and Alliant Engineering.

City Attorney Review:

Finance Department Review/Recommendation:

Recommend approval.











































 

  
  

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

7406 Fullerton St, Suite 110                                        904.240.1351 MAIN                                            www.alliant-inc.com 

 Jacksonville, FL  32256                                                 904.647.5383 DIRECT                                                           

   

 

July 12, 2017 

 

The Honorable Mayor Catherine D. Robinson 

City of Bunnell 

201 W. Moody Blvd. 

Bunnell, FL  32110 

 

RE:   Continuing Engineering Consulting Services 

 Alliant Engineering, Inc. 

Piggy-Back Contract Agreement 

 

Dear Mayor Robinson: 

 

Alliant Engineering, Inc. greatly appreciates the opportunity to provide the City of Bunnell with 

continuing engineering services.  As allowed under Florida law, the City has requested to “Piggy-Back” 

on our existing continuing services contract with St. Johns County (SJC) for similar services. 

 

Attached please find our executed contract for services with SJC.  If the City of Bunnell is agreeable to 

the terms and conditions of this contract, please sign in the area indicated below and return this letter to 

our office at your earliest convenience. 

 

Thank you again for the opportunity to serve the City of Bunnell and should you have any questions, 

please call me anytime at 904-647-5383.  

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Alliant Engineering, Inc.     Accepted on _______________ 

 

 

                                                                                                                                            

Curt M. Wimpée, PE      Mayor Catherine D. Robinson 

Southeast Regional Manager       
 

 
CMW/sm 

cc:  Dan Davis, City Manager 

  Clark Wicklund/A-E, Inc. 

 

 



City of Bunnell, Florida

Agenda Item No. E.1.
Document Date: 6/26/2017 Amount:  N/A
Department: Community Development Account #:  N/A

Subject: Ordinance 2017-18 Request to Voluntarily Contract (De-Annex) Approximately 1.68
Acres of Property. - Second Reading.

Agenda Section: Ordinances: (Legislative):

ATTACHMENTS:
Description Type
Proposed Ordinance Ordinance
Location Map Location Map(s)

Summary/Highlights:

Samuel and Ashley Vannoy have filed a petition to voluntarily contract or de-annex approximately 1.68 acres of
property from the City of Bunnell.
 
The subject property was annexed into the City via Ordinance 2007-30 and as amended by Ordinance 2008-
20.  This property was part of the acreage annexed into the City by Samuel Tilton Jr. and Elissa C. Tilton.
 
This item was heard at the June 26, 2017 City Commission meeting.  At this meeting, the City Commission
voted to approve the proposed ordinance.  In order to meet the required advertising requirements, this item
was not heard at the City Commission meeting immediately following First Reading.    This item was
advertised in the News Tribune on July 12, 2017 and July 19, 2017. 

Background:

The applicants, Samuel and Ashley Vannoy, are the owners of approximately 1.68 acres of property located
east of County Road 205.  The property they own located immediately to the west of this parcel is under the
jurisdiction of Flagler County.
 
From Florida Statutes:
171.052 Criteria for contraction of municipal boundaries.
(1) Only those areas which do not meet the criteria for annexation in s. 171.043 may be proposed for
exclusion by municipal governing bodies. If the area proposed to be excluded does not meet the criteria of
s.171.043, but such exclusion would result in a portion of the municipality becoming noncontiguous with
the rest of the municipality, then such exclusion shall not be allowed.
(2)The ordinance shall make provision for apportionment of any prior existing debt and property.
 
171.043 Character of area to be annexed
A municipal governing body may propose to annex an area only if it meets the general standards of



subsection (1) and the requirements of either subsection (2) or subsection (3).
(1) The total area to be annexed must be contiguous to the municipality’s boundaries at the time the
annexation proceeding is begun and reasonably compact, and no part of the area shall be included within
the boundary of another incorporated municipality.
(2)  Part or all of the area to be annexed must be developed for urban purposes. An area developed for
urban purposes is defined as any area which meets any one of the following standards:

(a)  It has a total resident population equal to at least two persons for each acre of land included within
its boundaries;
(b)  It has a total resident population equal to at least one person for each acre of land included within
its boundaries and is subdivided into lots and tracts so that at least 60 percent of the total number of lots
and tracts are 1 acre or less in size; or
(c)  It is so developed that at least 60 percent of the total number of lots and tracts in the area at the time
of annexation are used for urban purposes, and it is subdivided into lots and tracts so that at least 60
percent of the total acreage, not counting the acreage used at the time of annexation for nonresidential
urban purposes, consists of lots and tracts 5 acres or less in size.

(3) In addition to the area developed for urban purposes, a municipal governing body may include in the
area to be annexed any area which does not meet the requirements of subsection (2) if such area either:

(a) Lies between the municipal boundary and an area developed for urban purposes, so that the area
developed for urban purposes is either not adjacent to the municipal boundary or cannot be served by
the municipality without extending services or water or sewer lines through such sparsely developed area;
or
(b) Is adjacent, on at least 60 percent of its external boundary, to any combination of the municipal
boundary and the boundary of an area or areas developed for urban purposes as defined in subsection
(2).

 
The subject property has a City of Bunnell land use designation of Agriculture and Silviculture.  The zoning
designation is Flagler County Agriculture.
 
The property is currently vacant.
 
The property is contiguous to the City on the north, east and southern property boundaries or on 75% of the
property.
 
The contraction of this parcel will not result in a portion of the City becoming noncontiguous with the rest of
the municipality.

Staff Recommendation:

Per the Commission.

City Attorney Review:

Reviewed and approved as to form.

Finance Department Review/Recommendation:
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    City of Bunnell, FL 
 

 

 

ORDINANCE 2017-18 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA, FOR 

THE VOLUNTARY CONTRACTION (DEANNEXATION) OF 

THE CITY BOUNDARY BY DEANNEXING 1.68 ACRES MORE 

OR LESS OF REAL PROPERTY, GENERALLY LOCATED 

EAST OF COUNTY ROAD 205, MORE PARTICULARLY AND 

LEGALLY DESCRIBED ON EXHIBIT A, ATTACHED HERETO 

AND FULLY INCORPORATED HEREIN BY THIS 

REFERENCE; PROVIDING FOR THE AMENDMENT OF CITY 

BOUNDARIES TO CONTRACT THE SUBJECT PROPERTIES 

FROM THE CITY BOUNDARIES; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL 

OF PRIOR INCONSISTENT ORDINANCES AND 

RESOLUTIONS, SEVERABILITY, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 

WHEREAS, Chapter 171, Florida Statutes, provides the exclusive method of municipal 

annexation or contraction in order to ensure sound urban development and efficient provision of 

urban services; and 

 

WHEREAS, Samuel and Ashley Vannoy, own a parcel identified by Flagler County Tax Parcel 

ID Number: 02-12-29-0000-01010-0090 totaling approximately 1.68 acres, such property 

described in Exhibit A and illustrated in Exhibit B, and incorporated herein by reference is 

contiguous to the corporate limits of the City of Bunnell; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Bunnell annexed this property by Ordinance 2007-30 adopted on June 

19, 2007 and as amended by Ordinance 2008-20 adopted on April 15, 2008; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Owners have requested that the City deannex this parcel; and 

 

WHEREAS, this parcel fails to meet the criteria of Chapter 171.043, F.S. Character of the area 

to be annexed; and 

 

WHEREAS, this parcel has not been developed for urban purposes and is currently vacant 

property; and   

 

WHEREAS, this parcel does not lie between the City and an area to be served by the City water 

or sewer service; and  

 

WHEREAS, this parcel is adjacent on at least 60 percent of its external boundary to the 

municipal boundary; and 

 

WHEREAS, the contraction of this parcel will not result in a portion of the City becoming 

noncontiguous with the rest of the municipality; and 

 

WHEREAS, upon adoption of this Ordinance, the municipal boundary lines of the City of 

Bunnell shall be redefined to exclude the subject real property. 
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NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 

BUNNELL, FLORIDA: 

Section 1.  Recitals.  
The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are fully incorporated herein by this reference. 

 

Section 2.  Contraction of Subject Properties.  
The Subject Property as illustrated in Exhibit “B” shall be, and is hereby deannexed from the 

City of Bunnell, Florida. This property is described in Exhibit A and illustrated in Exhibit B. The 

Subject Property shall be excluded from the existing boundaries of the City of Bunnell, Florida, 

from the effective date of this ordinance. 

 

Section 3.  City Boundaries Redefined.  

(a) Within seven (7) days of the adoption of this Ordinance, the City Clerk shall file a copy of 

said Ordinance with the Clerk of the Court (Land Records/Recording), with the Chief 

Administrative Officer of Flagler County (the County Manager), with the Florida Department of 

State, and with such other agencies and entities as may be required by law or otherwise desirable. 

(b) The City Manager, or designees within City management staff, shall ensure that the property 

contracted/de-annexed by this Ordinance is removed from the City of Bunnell Comprehensive 

Plan, the Official Zoning Map of the City of Bunnell and the map of the City Limits of the City of 

Bunnell in an expeditious manner. 

(c) The City Manager, or designees, are hereby authorized and directed to legally describe and 

map the revised City Limits of the City of Bunnell and to take any and all appropriate actions or 

propose actions to the City Commission as may be authorized in accordance with controlling law. 

 

Section 4.  Repeal of Prior Inconsistent Ordinances and Resolutions.  
All ordinances and resolutions or parts of ordinances and resolutions in conflict herewith are 

hereby repealed to the extent of the conflict. 

 

Section 5.  Severability.  
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, word or provision of this Ordinance is for 

any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, whether for 

substantive, procedural, or any other reason, such portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct and 

independent provision, and such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of 

this Ordinance. 

 

Section 6.  Effective Date.  
This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon enactment. 

 

 First Reading:  approved on this 26th day of June 2017. 
 

 Second Reading: adopted on this 24th day of  July 2017. 
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CITY COMMISSION, City of Bunnell, Florida. 
 

 

     By:  ____________________________ 

      Catherine D. Robinson, Mayor 

       

      Approved for form and content by:  

       

      _______________________________ 

         Wade Vose, City Attorney       

 

     Attest: 

 

      _______________________________ 

       Sandra Bolser, City Clerk 

 Seal: 
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EXHIBIT A 
 

 

Parcel Number: 02-12-29-0000-01010-0090 

 

Legal Description: 1.67 AC POR NW CRNR OF NE CRNRNE 81' TO E ROW CR 

205 THENCE NE 990' SW 440' SW 330'TO POB THENCE SW 220' SW 660' TO E 

ROW CR 205 NE ALONG ROW 220' NE 660' TO POB 2204/908 
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EXHIBIT B 

 

 



C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
D

 2
0

5
 

STATE HWY 100 W 

C
O

U
N

T
Y

 R
D

 1
5

 

Vannoy Voluntary Contraction Request- 

Location Map 

N

  

Subject 

property 

LEGEND: 

City of Bunnell 

Boundary 



City of Bunnell, Florida

Agenda Item No. E.2.
Document Date: 7/11/2017 Amount:  N/A
Department: Community Development Account #:  N/A

Subject: Ordinance 2017-19 Changing the Future Land Use designation of approximately .40
acres of property to Bunnell Commercial Medium. - Second Reading.

Agenda Section: Ordinances: (Legislative):

Goal/Priority: Economic Development

ATTACHMENTS:
Description Type
Proposed Ordinance Ordinance
Adjacent Land Use Map Location Map(s)

Summary/Highlights:

This property was recently annexed into the City of Bunnell.  This is a request to change the future land use
designation of this property from a Flagler County designation to a City of Bunnell designation.
 
This item was heard at the July 10, 2017 City Commission meeting.  At this meeting, the City Commission
voted to approve the proposed ordinance.  This item was advertised in the News Tribune on July 12, 2017.

Background:

The owners of this property, David and Thea Mathen, are the owners of approximately .40 acres of property
within the City of Bunnell.  The property is currently vacant and addressed 2950 E. Moody Blvd.
 
The property has a current Flagler County land use designation of Commercial Low Density.
 
The applicants would like to apply the future land use designation of Bunnell Commercial Medium to the
property.  This is consistent with the adjacent properties and the City's Comprehensive Plan.
 
This request was hear by the Planning, Zoning and Appeals Board at its June 20, 2017 meeting.  They
recommended approval of the proposed ordinance.
 
The applicant can further explain this request to the Board.

Staff Recommendation:

Adopt Ordinance 2017-19 Changing the Future Land Use designation of approximately .40 acres of property
to Bunnell Commercial Medium. - Second Reading.



City Attorney Review:

Reviewed and approved.

Finance Department Review/Recommendation:
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ORDINANCE 2017-19 

  

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 

AMENDING THE CITY OF BUNNELL COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, AS 

PREVIOUSLY AMENDED; PROVIDING FOR AMENDMENT OF 

THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP OF THE FUTURE LAND USE 

ELEMENT OF THE CITY OF BUNNELL COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

RELATIVE TO CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY CONTAINING 

APPROXIMATELY .40 ACRES AND DESCRIBED IN THIS 

ORDINANCE TO A COMMERCIAL MEDIUM FUTURE LAND USE 

DESIGNATION; PROVIDING FOR LEGISLATIVE FINDINGS AND 

INTENT; PROVIDING FOR ASSIGNMENT OF THE LAND USE 

DESIGNATION FOR THE PROPERTY; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY;  PROVIDING FOR RATIFICATION OF PRIOR 

ACTS OF THE CITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING 

FOR CODIFICATION AND DIRECTIONS TO THE CODE 

CODIFIER AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  

WHEREAS, the real property which is the subject of this Ordinance is located at 2950 East 

Moody Boulevard in the City of Bunnell; and 

 

WHEREAS, the owners of the property, David and Thea Mathen, have requested this change to 

the future land use; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Bunnell has not had any small scale land use amendments since May 9, 

2016 and has not submitted any small scale land use amendments to the Department of 

Economic Opportunity since May 12, 2016; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Bunnell’s Planning, Zoning and Appeals Board, as the City’s local 

planning agency, held a public hearing on June 20, 2017 to consider amending the Future Land 

Use Map of the Future Land Use Element of the City of Bunnell Comprehensive Plan and 

recommended approval of the proposed Future Land Use Map amendment to the Comprehensive 

Plan for the subject property as requested by the property owner; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 163.3187, Florida Statutes, relates to the amendment of adopted local 

government comprehensive plans and sets forth certain requirements relating to small scale 

amendments and which are related to proposed small scale development activities and provides, 

among other things, that such amendments may be approved without regard to statutory limits on 

the frequency of consideration of amendments to the City of Bunnell Comprehensive Plan; and  

  

WHEREAS, the City of Bunnell has complied with all requirements and procedures of Florida 

law in processing this amendment to the City of Bunnell Comprehensive Plan including, but not 

limited to, Section 163.3187, Florida Statutes.  
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NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA: 

 

Section 1.  Legislative findings and intent. 

(a) The City Commission of the City of Bunnell hereby adopts and incorporates into this 

Ordinance the City staff report and City Commission agenda memorandum relating to the 

application relating to the proposed amendment to the City of Bunnell 2030 Comprehensive Plan 

pertaining to the subject property. 

(b) The City of Bunnell has complied with all requirements and procedures of Florida law in 

processing and advertising this Ordinance. 

(c) This Ordinance is internally consistent with the goals, objectives and policies of the City of 

Bunnell 2030 Comprehensive Plan.   

(d) The exhibits to this Ordinance are incorporated herein as if fully set forth herein verbatim. 

 

Section 2. Amendment to Future Land Use Map. 

(a) The Future Land Use Plan Element of the City of Bunnell 2030 Comprehensive Plan and the 

City’s Future Land Use Map are hereby amended by assigning the Commercial Medium future 

land use designation to the real properties which are the subject of this Ordinance as set forth 

herein.  

(b) The properties which are the subject of this Comprehensive Plan amendment are described as 

follows: 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: .40 AC BUNNELL DEV CO SUB PT OF TR 8 BLK 

B & WLY 20.5 OF SLY 200' OF ELY 75.95' OF LT 3DURRANCEPLAT, OR 15 

PG 525 OR 276 PG 802, OR 538 PG 1900 OR 1488 PG 246-DC OR 1488 PG 

250-LOA NORMA D TURNER PR FOR IRENE OR 1573 PG 672 OR 1579 PG 

152 EXC DOT#118.1 1054/1138AND EXC DOT#119.1 1054/1124 OR 

2097/773-NO POA OR 2161/854-DC OR 2161/856-LOA OR 1920 PG 204-DC 

OR 2161/859-LEAH HELMS SMITH PR FOR JOHNNIE OR 2161/862 

ADDRESS: 2950 East Moody Boulevard 

TAX PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 12-12-30-0650-000B0-0081 

 

Section 3. Implementing Administrative Actions. 

The City Manager, or designee, is hereby authorized to implement the provisions of this 

Ordinance as deemed appropriate and warranted. 

 

Section 4. Ratification of Prior Actions. 

The prior actions of the City Commission and its agencies in enacting and causing amendments 

to the 2030 Comprehensive Plan of the City of Bunnell, as well as the implementation thereof, 

are hereby ratified and affirmed. 
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Section 5.  Severability. 

If any section, sentence, phrase, word, or portion of this Ordinance proves to be invalid, unlawful 

or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to impair the validity of the ordinance or effect of any 

other action or part of this Ordinance.  

  

Section 6.  Conflicts. 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.  

  

Section 7. Codification/Instructions to Code Codifier. 

It is the intention of the City Commission of the City of Bunnell, Florida, and it is hereby 

ordained that the provisions of this Ordinance shall become and be made a part of the codified 

version of the City of Bunnell 2030 Comprehensive Plan and/or the Code of Ordinances of the 

City of Bunnell, Florida in terms of amending the Future Land Use Map of the City.   

 

Section 8.  Effective Date.   

The small scale Comprehensive Plan amendment set forth herein shall not become effective, in 

accordance with Section 163.3187(5)(c), Florida Statutes, until 31 days after the enactment of 

this Ordinance. If challenged within 30 days after enactment, the small scale amendment set forth 

in this Ordinance shall not become effective until the State land planning agency or the 

Administration Commission, respectively, issues a final order determining that the subject small 

scale amendment is in compliance with controlling State law. 

 

First Reading:  approved on this 10th day of July 2017. 

 

Second Reading: adopted on this 24th day July 2017. 
 

 

CITY COMMISSION, City of Bunnell, Florida. 
 

 

     By:  ___________________________ 

      Catherine D. Robinson, Mayor 

     

 

      Approved for form and content by:  

 

      _______________________________ 

      Wade Vose, City Attorney  

      Attest: 

 

 

      ____________________________ 

Seal:      Sandra Bolser, City Clerk 
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EXHIBIT A 

 

Location Map 

 

 

 



Mathen FLUM Change Request- 
Location Map 

Proposed 

Commercial  

Medium 

N

  

Legend 



City of Bunnell, Florida

Agenda Item No. E.3.
Document Date: 7/11/2017 Amount:  N/A
Department: Community Development Account #:  N/A

Subject: Ordinance 2017-20 Changing the Zoning designation of approximately .40 acres of
property to B-1, Business district. - Second Reading.

Agenda Section: Ordinances: (Legislative):

Goal/Priority: Economic Development

ATTACHMENTS:
Description Type
Proposed Ordinance Ordinance
Adjacent Zoning Map Location Map(s)

Summary/Highlights:

This property was recently annexed into the City of Bunnell.  This is a request to change the zoning
designation of approximately .40 acres of property from a Flagler County designation to a City of Bunnell
designation. 
 
This is a companion item to the request to change the future land use designation for the same property found
elsewhere on this agenda.
 
This item was heard at the July 10, 2017 City Commission meeting.  At this meeting, the City Commission
voted to approve the proposed ordinance.  This item was advertised in the News Tribune on July 12, 2017.

Background:

The applicants, David and Thea Mathen, are the owners of approximately .40 acres of property within the City
of Bunnell.  The property is addressed 2950 East Moody Boulevard.  The property is currently vacant.
 
The property currently has a Flagler County C-2, General Commercial and Shopping Center district zoning
designation.
 
The applicants wish to apply the zoning designation of Bunnell B-1, Business district to this property.
 
This request is consistent with the adjacent properties which are also owned by the applicants.
 
This request was heard by the Planning, Zoning and Appeals Board at its June 20, 2017 meeting.  The
Planning, Zoning and Appeals Board recommended approval of the proposed ordinance.
 
The applicant can further explain this request.



Staff Recommendation:

Adopt Ordinance 2017-20 Changing the Zoning designation of approximately .40 acres of property to B-1,
Business district. - Second Reading.

City Attorney Review:

Reviewed and approved.

Finance Department Review/Recommendation:
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ORDINANCE 2017-20 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA PROVIDING 

FOR THE REZONING OF REAL PROPERTY TOTALING 

APPROXIMATELY .40 ACRES IN SIZE AND ADDRESSED 2950 EAST 

MOODY BOULEVARD WITHIN THE BUNNELL CITY LIMITS FROM  

FLAGLER COUNTY C-2, GENERAL COMMERCIAL AND SHOPPING 

CENTER DISTRICT TO CITY OF BUNNELL B-1, BUSINESS DISTRICT; 

PROVIDING FOR THE TAKING OF IMPLEMENTING 

ADMINISTRATIVE ACTIONS; PROVIDING FOR THE ADOPTION OF 

MAPS BY REFERENCE; REPEALING ALL CONFLICTING 

ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR 

NON-CODIFICATION AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, David and Thea Mathen, the owners of certain real property, which land totals 

approximately .40 acres in size, addressed 2950 E. Moody Blvd. and is assigned Tax Parcel 

Identification Numbers 12-12-30-0650-000B0-0081 by the Property Appraiser of Flagler County; 

and  

 

WHEREAS, David and Thea Mathen applied to the City of Bunnell pursuant to the controlling 

provisions of State law and the Code of Ordinances of the City of Bunnell, to have the subject 

property rezoned to the City of Bunnell B-1, Business district (“B-1”) zoning classification from the 

existing Flagler County C-2, General Commercial and Shopping Center district (“C-2”) zoning 

classification; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City’s Community Department has conducted a thorough review and analysis of 

the demands upon public facilities and general planning and land development issues should the 

subject rezoning application be approved and has otherwise reviewed and evaluated the application 

to determine whether is comports with sound and generally accepted land use planning practices 

and principles as well as whether the application is consistent with the goals, objectives and policies 

set forth in the City's Comprehensive Plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 20, 2017 the Planning, Zoning and Appeals Board of the City of Bunnell 

reviewed this request and recommended that the City Commission approve the subject rezoning as 

set forth in this Ordinance; and 

 

WHEREAS, professional City planning staff, the City’s Planning, Zoning and Appeals Board and 

the City Commission have determined that the proposed rezoning of the subject property as set 

forth in this Ordinance is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of the City of Bunnell, the land 

development regulations of the City of Bunnell, and the controlling provisions of State law; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Commission of the City of Bunnell, Florida has taken, as implemented by 

City staff, all actions relating to the rezoning action set forth herein in accordance with the 

requirements and procedures mandated by State law. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 

BUNNELL, FLORIDA: 
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Section 1. Legislative Findings and Intent. 

(a) The City Commission of the City of Bunnell hereby adopts and incorporates into this Ordinance 

the City staff report and City Commission agenda memorandum relating to the application relating 

to the proposed rezoning of the subject property as well as the recitals (whereas clauses) to this 

Ordinance. 

(b)  The subject property, which is approximately .40 acres in size, is located on Deen Road and is 

currently unaddressed.  

(c) The City of Bunnell has complied with all requirements and procedures of Florida law in 

processing and advertising this Ordinance. 

 

Section 2. Rezoning of Real Property/Implementing Actions. 

(a) Upon enactment of this Ordinance the following described property, as depicted in the map 

attached to this Ordinance, and totaling approximately .40 acres in size, shall be rezoned from the 

existing Flagler County C-2, General Commercial and Shopping Center district (“C-2”) zoning 

classification to the City of Bunnell B-1, Business district (“B-1”) zoning classification:  

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: .40 AC BUNNELL DEV CO SUB PT OF TR 8 BLK B 

& WLY 20.5 OF SLY 200' OF ELY 75.95' OF LT 3DURRANCEPLAT, OR 15 PG 

525 OR 276 PG 802, OR 538 PG 1900 OR 1488 PG 246-DC OR 1488 PG 250-LOA 

NORMA D TURNER PR FOR IRENE OR 1573 PG 672 OR 1579 PG 152 EXC 

DOT#118.1 1054/1138AND EXC DOT#119.1 1054/1124 OR 2097/773-NO POA 

OR 2161/854-DC OR 2161/856-LOA OR 1920 PG 204-DC OR 2161/859-LEAH 

HELMS SMITH PR FOR JOHNNIE OR 2161/862 

ADDRESS: 2950 East Moody Blvd. 

TAX PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 12-12-30-0650-000B0-0081  

 (b) The City Manager, or designee, is hereby authorized to execute any and all documents 

necessary to formalize approval of the rezoning action taken herein and to revise and amend the 

Official Zoning Map or Maps of the City of Bunnell as may be appropriate to accomplish the action 

taken in this Ordinance. 

(c) Conditions of development relating to the subject property may be incorporated into the 

subsequent pertinent development orders and such development orders may be subject to public 

hearing requirements in accordance with the provisions of controlling law. 

 

Section 3. Incorporation of Maps.  

The maps attached to this Ordinance are hereby ratified and affirmed and incorporated into this 

Ordinance as a substantive part of this Ordinance.   

 

Section 4. Conflicts.  

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed 
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Section 5. Severability.  

If any section, sentence, phrase, word, or portion of this Ordinance is determined to be invalid, 

unlawful or unconstitutional, said determination shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force or effect of any other section, sentence, phrase, word, or portion of this Ordinance 

not otherwise determined to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional. 

 

Section 6. Non-codification.  

This Ordinance shall not be codified in the City Code of the City of Bunnell or the Land 

Development Code of the City of Bunnell; provided, however, that the actions taken herein shall be 

depicted on the zoning maps of the City of Bunnell by the City Manager, or designee. 

 

Section 7. Effective Date  

This Ordinance shall take effect upon the effective date of Ordinance 2017-19. 

 

First Reading:  on this 10th day of July 2017. 
 

Second/Final Reading: adopted on this 24th day of July 2017. 

 

 

CITY COMMISSION, City of Bunnell, Florida. 

 

 

     By:  ___________________________ 

      Catherine D. Robinson, Mayor 

       

      Approved for form and content by:  

 

      _______________________________ 

      Wade Vose, City Attorney  

  

     Attest: 

      ____________________________ 

       Sandra Bolser, City Clerk 

 

Seal:
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Exhibit “A” 

 

Location Map 

 

 



Mathen Zoning Change Request- 
Adjacent Zoning Map 

N

  

Legend 

Proposed B-1, 

Business 



City of Bunnell, Florida

Agenda Item No. E.4.
Document Date: 7/11/2017 Amount:  N/A
Department: Community Development Account #:  N/A

Subject: Ordinance 2017-21 Amending the Bunnell Land Development Code Sec. 34-186 Home
Occupations. - Second Reading.

Agenda Section: Ordinances: (Legislative):

Goal/Priority: Economic Development

ATTACHMENTS:
Description Type
Proposed Ordinance Ordinance

Summary/Highlights:

This is a request to amend the Land Development Code Home Occupation regulations.
 
This item was heard at the July 10, 2017 City Commission meeting.  At this meeting, the City Commission
voted to approve the proposed ordinance.  This item was advertised in the News Tribune on June 28, 2017
and July 12, 2017.

Background:

The Land Development Code provides regulations for home occupations. 
 
These regulations are in need of some revision and clarification.
 
The proposed ordinance:

 Increases the number of home occupations from one to three per dwelling;
Allows Class B home occupations, which are in agriculture classifications, to be housed in the dwelling
or a separate, ancillary onsite building so long as the office does not exceed 35 percent of the floor
structure;
Corrects language replacing City Commission with Planning Board for the granting of special exception
permission as the Planning Board hears special exception requests;
Clarifies language regarding the storage of vehicles and trailers for Class B home occupations.

 
This item was heard by the Planning, Zoning and Appeals Board at its June 20, 2017 meeting.  They
recommended approval of the proposed ordinance.

Staff Recommendation:



Adopt Ordinance 2017-21 Amending the Bunnell Land Development Code Sec. 34-186 Home Occupations.
- Second Reading.

City Attorney Review:

Reviewed and approved.

Finance Department Review/Recommendation:
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ORDINANCE 2017-21 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 

AMENDING THE BUNNELL LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE 

SECTION 34-186 HOME OCCUPATIONS; PROVIDING FOR 

EXCEPTIONS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTING 

PROVISIONS, SEVERABILITY AND APPLICABILITY; AND 

PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, Chapters 166 and 163, Florida Statutes, include authority to enact regulations to 

protect the health, safety and welfare, and interests of the citizens of the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Bunnell Land Development Code contains regulations for Home 

Occupations; and   

 

WHEREAS, said regulations are in need of revision; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning, Zoning and Appeals Board reviewed this Ordinance at its June 20, 2017 

meeting and recommends adoption; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Commission of the City of Bunnell finds it is in the best interest and welfare 

of the citizens of the City to enact this Ordinance; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Bunnell has complied with all requirements and procedures of Florida law 

in processing and advertising this Ordinance; and 

 

WHEREAS, for purposes of this Ordinance, underlined type shall constitute additions to the 

original text, *** shall constitute ellipses to the original text and strikethrough shall constitute 

deletions to the original text. 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 

BUNNELL, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA THAT: 

 

Section 1.  

The Bunnell Land Development Code, is hereby amended as follows:  

 

Sec. 34-186. - Home occupations. 

(a) Class A home occupations shall be allowed as permitted uses in all agricultural, residential and 

mobile home classifications if proper application is made on forms provided by the zoning 

enforcement official. Class A home occupations shall be clearly incidental and subordinate to the 

residential use and shall under no circumstances change the residential character of the dwelling. The 

issuance of a permit to engage in a class A home occupation in accordance with this section shall not 

be deemed to be a change of zoning nor an official expression of opinion as to the proper zoning for 

the particular property. 

(1) Notarized affidavits must be submitted with each application for a class A license 

demonstrating that the home occupation will not: 
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a. Disturb the peace, quiet and domestic tranquility of the residential neighborhood; 

b. Create excessive odor, noise, parking or traffic above that of the residential 

neighborhood; 

c. Create a fire hazard or nuisance; 

d. Use or generate toxic or hazardous materials or waste; 

e. No more than one three home occupations shall be permitted within any single 

dwelling; 

f. No one other than the residents of the dwelling shall be employed in the conduct of a 

home occupation (excluding those cases where actual performance of work occurs 

somewhere other than the dwelling unit); 

g. No stock-in-trade shall be openly displayed or maintained on the premises and no 

sales on the premises shall occur; 

h. A home occupation shall produce no noise, or obnoxious odors, vibration, glare, 

fumes or electrical interference detectable to normal sensory perception; 

i. There shall be no exterior indication of the home occupation; no exterior signs shall be 

used that informs the public of the home occupation; 

j. No equipment shall be used or stored on the premises in connection with the home 

occupation except that which is normally used for purely domestic or household 

purposes, except for typical office equipment; 

k. The floor area devoted to the home occupation shall not exceed 25 percent of the floor 

area of the dwelling; 

l. All office equipment used in the home occupation on the premises shall be inside the 

dwelling within the space limitations above; and 

m. Home occupation uses shall be subject to all applicable city, county, state 

occupational licenses and other business taxes, rules and regulations in effect or that 

may later be adopted. 

(b) Class B home occupations provide for home business operations in agricultural classifications 

which have the potential to create some impacts beyond class A activities due to on-site storage of 

material, inventory work vehicles, trailers, equipment, or business related traffic from customers or 

deliveries. Proper application must be made on forms provided by the zoning enforcement official. 

Class B home occupations shall be clearly incidental and subordinate to the residential use and shall 

under no circumstances change the residential character of the dwelling. The issuance of a permit to 

engage in a class B home occupation in accordance with this section shall not be deemed to be a 

change of zoning nor an official expression of opinion as to the proper zoning for the particular 

property. Minimum lot size in this category is one acre. 

(1) Notarized affidavits must be submitted with each application for a class B license 

demonstrating that the home occupation will not: 

a. Utilize equipment in the home occupation which creates fire hazards, electrical 

interference, noise, vibration, glare, fumes or odors detectable to the normal senses off 

the premises. 

b. Exceed the floor area devoted to the home occupation allowed at 35 percent of the 

floor area of the dwelling, or in a exceed 35 percent of a separate, ancillary on-site 

building. 
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c. Exceed two the number of allowed vehicles and two trailers for the class B home 

occupation provided they are fully screened from the right-of-way and neighboring 

properties. For class B home occupations, the city commission planning board may 

allow, as a condition by special exception, three or more vehicles and trailers. 

d. Exceed the allowance that employees are limited to residents of the home plus a 

maximum of two employees or independent contractors who are not residents of the 

dwelling unit. For class B home occupations, the city commission planning board may 

allow, as a condition by special exception, three or more employees or independent 

contractors who are not residents of the dwelling unit. 

e. Conduct vehicle repair for commercial purposes or sales of vehicles. 

f. Use or generate toxic or hazardous materials or waste. 

g. Home occupation uses shall be subject to all applicable city, county, state 

occupational licenses and other business taxes, rules and regulations in effect or that 

may later be adopted. 

h. No more than one three home occupations shall be permitted within any single 

dwelling. 

(c) Agricultural occupations exempt from local government regulation by State of Florida Statute 

shall be exempt from the regulations of this section. 

(c d) Any violation of these regulations will result in the revocation of any home occupation permit 

business tax receipt, in addition to any other remedy for such violation provided by law. 

 

Section 2. Implementing Administrative Actions. 
The City Manager, or designee, is hereby authorized and directed to implement the provisions of this 

Ordinance and to take any and all necessary administrative actions to include, but not be limited to, the 

adoption of administrative forms, policies, procedures, processes and rules.  

 

Section 3. Codification. 

The provisions of this Ordinance, including its recitals, shall become and be made a part of the Bunnell 

Land Development Code and the Sections of this Ordinance may be re-numbered or re-lettered to 

accomplish such intention and the word "Ordinance", or similar words, may be changed to "Section," 

"Article", or other appropriate word; provided, however, that Sections 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 shall not be 

codified. The Code codifier is granted liberal authority to codify the provisions of this Ordinance. 

 

Section 4. Conflicts. 
All ordinances or parts thereof in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such 

conflict. 

 

Section 5. Severability. 
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of this Ordinance, or application hereof, 

is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such portion or 

application shall be deemed a separate, distinct, and independent provision and such holding shall not 

affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 

 

Section 6. Effective Date.  
This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon enactment.  
 

First Reading:  approved on this 10th day of July 2017. 
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Second Reading: adopted on this 24th day of  July 2017. 
 

 

 

CITY COMMISSION, City of Bunnell, Florida. 
 

 

     By:  ____________________________ 

      Catherine D. Robinson, Mayor 

 

       

      Approved for form and content by:  

 

 

      _______________________________ 

         Wade Vose, City Attorney       

 

      

 

 

      Attest: 

 

      _______________________________ 

       Sandra Bolser, City Clerk 

Seal: 
 



City of Bunnell, Florida

Agenda Item No. E.5.
Document Date: 7/11/2017 Amount:  N/A
Department: Community Development Account #:  N/A

Subject: Ordinance 2017-22 Code of Ordinance Amendment Section 2-77 Schedule of
Violations. - First Reading

Agenda Section: Ordinances: (Legislative):

Goal/Priority: Public Safety

ATTACHMENTS:
Description Type
Proposed Ordinance Ordinance

Summary/Highlights:

This is a request to amend the Bunnell Code of Ordinance citation schedule.

Background:

In 2014, the City adopted the civil citation schedule to allow law enforcement and/or animal control officers to
issue civil citations to certain violations of the City codes.
 
A civil citation is an alternative to the use of code enforcement.  Civil citations allow the person violating the
code to receive the fine or penalty as opposed to the property owner, which is who would be cited if a code
enforcement case is started.
 
The proposed ordinance:

Adds special event permits to the citation schedule and proposes a fee amount;
Removes animal licensing from the citation schedule as this section of the code will be removed in the
near future;
Increases the fee amounts for cruelty to animals as discussed during the workshop on code
amendments.

Staff Recommendation:

Approval of Ordinance 2017-22 Code of Ordinance Amendment Section 2-77 Schedule of Violations. - First
Reading

City Attorney Review:

Reviewed and approved.



Finance Department Review/Recommendation:
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ORDINANCE 2017-22 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA 

AMENDING THE BUNNELL CODE OF ORDINANCES 

SECTION 2-77 REGARDING SCHEDULE OF VIOLATIONS; 

ADDING VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 2-198 COMPLIANCE, 

POSSESSION OF SPECIAL EVENTS PERMIT TO SCHEDULE 

OF VIOLATIONS; AMENDING PENALTY FEES; PROVIDING 

FOR CONFLICTING PROVISIONS, SEVERABILITY AND 

APPLICABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the Bunnell Code of Ordinances provides for procedures and requirements relating to the 
issuance of citations for specific violations of city codes and ordinances; and 
 

WHEREAS, said regulations are in need of revision; and 
 

WHEREAS, Florida Statutes §166.01, the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act, authorizes cities to 
establish, co-ordinate and enforce the laws that are necessary for the protection of the public; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City Charter provides the City with the authority to adopt regulations that are 
designed to promote the public health, safety and general welfare of its citizens; and 
 
WHEREAS, Florida Statutes Chapter 162 authorizes local governments to promote, protect, and 
improve the health, safety, and welfare of its citizens by authorizing the creation of administrative 
boards with authority to impose administrative fines and other noncriminal penalties to provide an 
equitable, expeditious, effective, and inexpensive method of enforcing any codes and ordinances in 
force in counties and municipalities, where a pending or repeated violation continues to exist; and 

 

WHEREAS, Florida Statutes §162.30 further grants authority to a municipality to enforce any 
violation of a municipal code or ordinance by filing a civil action in the same manner as instituting a 
civil action; and 

 

WHEREAS, under its home rule authority the City of Bunnell can pass additional legislative 
enactments to further regulate violations of local codes or ordinances within the City limits as long as 
these regulations are not preempted in the law and are not inconsistent with statutory provisions. 

 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 

BUNNELL, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA THAT: 
 

Section 1.  

Chapter 2 Administration Article III Officers and Employees of the Bunnell Code of Ordinances, is 
hereby amended as follows:  

Sec. 2-77. - Schedule of violations. 
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(a) Violation of the following city codes or ordinances is a civil infraction for which a warning 

notice or citation may be issued: 

(1) Section 2-198. Compliance; possession of special event permit; 

(2) Section 6-1. Consumption in public places; 

(2 3) Section 10-4. Cruelty (Animals); 

(3 4) Section 10-9. Permitting commission of nuisance (Animals); 

(4 5) Section 10-10. Duty to clean up animal feces; 

(5 6) Section 10-11. Running at large (Animals); 

(6 7) Section 10-13. Dogs prohibited in city parks; 

(7) Section 10-211. Required (animal license); 

(8) Section 25-3. Landscaping irrigation schedules; 

(9) Section 26-56. Storing, parking or leaving dismantled or other such motor vehicle or boat 

prohibited and declared nuisance; exception; 

(10) Section 26-106. Keeping and storing discarded property prohibited; exceptions. 

(11) Section 26-199. Maximum permissible sound levels; 

(12) Section 26-200. Specific prohibitions; 

(13) Section 46-3. Obstruction of public ways; 

(14) Section 50-10. Preparation for picking-up of carts and containers regulations; 

(15) Section 50-16. Illegal dumping; 

(16) Section 58-47. Doing business without, or under a fraudulently obtained local business tax 

receipt; 

(17) Section 58-48. Suspension and revocation of local business tax receipt. 

(18) Section 62-37. Manner of parking; 

(19) Section 62-40. Stopping, standing or parking in specified places; 

(20) Section 62-41. Parking on private parking lots; 

(21) Section 62-43. Handicapped parking; 

(22) Section 62-44. Overnight parking; and 

(23) Section 70-1. Removal of certain plants, weeds, trash and litter; duty of owner; service of 

notice. 

(b) The citations issued pursuant to this chapter may be contested in county court. 

 
Section 2. Implementing Administrative Actions. 
The City Manager, or designee, is hereby authorized and directed to implement the provisions of this 
Ordinance and to take any and all necessary administrative actions to include, but not be limited to, the 
adoption of administrative forms, policies, procedures, processes and rules. All development orders 
shall be issued in a manner consistent with controlling law and rendered in appealable form with the 
City Clerk. Denials of development approvals shall be issued in accordance with controlling law to 
include, but not be limited to, Section 166.033, Florida Statutes. 

 

Section 3. Codification. 

The provisions of this Ordinance, including its recitals, shall become and be made a part of the Bunnell 
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Code of Ordinance and the Sections of this Ordinance may be re-numbered or re-lettered to 
accomplish such intention and the word "Ordinance", or similar words, may be changed to "Section," 
"Article", or other appropriate word; provided, however, that Sections 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 shall not be 
codified. The Code codifier is granted liberal authority to codify the provisions of this Ordinance. 

 

Section 4. Conflicts. 
All ordinances or parts thereof in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such 
conflict. 
 

Section 5. Severability. 
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of this Ordinance, or application hereof, 
is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such portion 
or application shall be deemed a separate, distinct, and independent provision and such holding shall 
not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 

 

Section 6. Effective Date.  
This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon enactment.  
 

First Reading:  approved on this 24th day of July 2017. 
 

Second Reading: adopted on this _____ day of ________ 2017. 
 

 

CITY COMMISSION, City of Bunnell, Florida. 
 

 
     By:  ____________________________ 
      Catherine D. Robinson, Mayor 
 
       
      Approved for form and content by:  
 
 
      _______________________________ 
         Wade Vose, City Attorney       
 
     Attest: 
 
      _______________________________ 
       Sandra Bolser, City Clerk 
Seal: 
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EXHIBIT A 
 

Civil citation penalties shall be enforced as follows: 
 

Sec. 2-198. Compliance; possession of special event permit; 

First Offense: $250.00 

 Second Offense: $300.00 

Third Offense:  $400.00 

Fourth Offense: $500.00 

 

Sec. 6-1. Consumption in public places; 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $50.00 

Third Offense: $100.00 

Fourth Offense: $200.00 

 

Sec. 10-4. Cruelty (Animals); 

First Offense: Warning $250.00 

 Second Offense: $50.00 $300.00 

Third Offense: $100.00 $400.00 

Fourth Offense: $200.00 $500.00 

 

Sec. 10-9. Permitting commission of nuisance (Animals); 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $50.00 

Third Offense: $100.00 

Fourth Offense: $200.00 

 

Sec. 10-10. Duty to clean up animal feces; 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $25.00 

Third Offense: $50.00 

Fourth Offense: $100.00 

 

Sec. 10-11. Running at large (Animals); 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $25.00 

Third Offense: $50.00 

Fourth Offense: $100.00 

 

 



Ordinance 2017-22 

City of Bunnell, FL 

5

Sec. 10-13. Dogs prohibited in city parks; 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $25.00 

Third Offense: $50.00 

Fourth Offense: $100.00 

 

Sec. 10-211. Required (animal license); 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $25.00 

Third Offense: $50.00 

Fourth Offense:  

 

Sec. 25-3. Landscaping irrigation schedules; 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $50.00 

Third Offense: $100.00 

Fourth Offense: $200.00 

 

Sec. 26-56. Storing, parking or leaving dismantled or other such motor vehicle or boat prohibited and 

declared nuisance; exception; 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $50.00 

Third Offense: $100.00 

Fourth Offense: $200.00 

 

Sec. 26-106. Keeping and storing discarded property prohibited; exceptions; 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $50.00 

Third Offense: $100.00 

Fourth Offense: $200.00 

 

Sec. 26-199. Maximum permissible sound levels; 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $50.00 

Third Offense: $100.00 

Fourth Offense: $200.00 

 

Sec. 26-200. Specific prohibitions; 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $50.00 



Ordinance 2017-22 

City of Bunnell, FL 

6

Third Offense: $100.00 

Fourth Offense: $200.00 

 

Sec. 46-3. Obstruction of public ways; 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $50.00 

Third Offense: $100.00 

Fourth Offense: $200.00 

 

Sec. 50-10. Preparation for picking-up of carts and containers regulations; 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $50.00 

Third Offense: $100.00 

Fourth Offense: $200.00 

 

Sec. 50-16. Illegal dumping; 

In accordance with Resolution 2013-01 or as amended 

 

Section 58-47. Doing business without, or under a fraudulently obtained local business tax receipt; 

First Offense: $200.00 

 Second Offense: $250.00 

Third Offense:  $300.00 

Fourth Offense: $350.00 

 

Section 58-48. Suspension and revocation of local business tax receipt. 

First Offense: $200.00 

 Second Offense: $250.00 

Third Offense: $300.00 

Fourth Offense: $350.00 

 

Sec. 62-37. Manner of parking; 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $50.00 

Third Offense: $100.00 

Fourth Offense: $200.00 

 

Sec. 62-40. Stopping, standing or parking in specified places; 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $50.00 

Third Offense: $100.00 
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Fourth Offense: $200.00 

 

Sec. 62-41. Parking on private parking lots; 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $50.00 

Third Offense: $100.00 

Fourth Offense: $200.00 

 

Sec. 62-43. Handicapped parking; 

First Offense: $50.00 

 Second Offense: $100.00 

Third Offense: $150.00 

Fourth Offense: $250.00 

 

Sec. 62-44. Overnight parking;  

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $50.00 

Third Offense: $100.00 

Fourth Offense: $200.00 

 

Sec. 70-1. Removal of certain plants, weeds, trash and litter; duty of owner; service of notice. 

First Offense: Warning 

 Second Offense: $50.00 

Third Offense: $100.00 

Fourth Offense: $200.00 

 



City of Bunnell, Florida

Agenda Item No. F.1.
Document Date: 7/5/2017 Amount:  N/A
Department: Community Development Account #:  N/A

Subject: Resolution 2017-15 Rescinding Resolution 2003-07 and Establishing Revised Building
Permit Fees.

Agenda Section: Resolutions: (Legislative):

Goal/Priority: Financial Health

ATTACHMENTS:
Description Type
Proposed Resolution Resolution

Summary/Highlights:

This is a request to establish updated building permitting fees.

Background:

The City has not updated its building permitting fees since 2003.  The City is 14 years behind the International
Code Council (ICC) Building valuation data as published by the Building Safety Journal.
 
The proposed resolution increases the City building permit fees to a comparable amount charged by adjacent
jurisdictions.  In most cases, the proposed fees would still be a bit lower than adjacent jurisdictions.
 
The City Building Official has provided input on all proposed fees. 

Staff Recommendation:

Adoption of Resolution 2017-15 Rescinding Resolution 2003-07 and Establishing Revised Building Permit
Fees.

City Attorney Review:

Reviewed and approved.

Finance Department Review/Recommendation:
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       RESOLUTION 2017-15 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF 
THE CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA, RESCINDING 
RESOLUTION 2003-07; ESTABLISHING 
BUILDING PERMIT FEES FOR ELECTRICAL, 
PLUMBING, BUILDING, DEMOLITION, MOVING 
STRUCTURES, FENCE, SIGNS, CLEARING, 
EXCAVATING, FILLING, HEATING AND AIR 
CONDITIONING, ALARM SYSTEMS, PLAN 
REVIEWS AND OTHER SPECIFICATIONS FOR 
CONSTRUCTION IN THE CITY OF BUNNELL; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 
WHEREAS, it is essential to the efficient administration of the Building 
Department and the City of Bunnell for the City to update its building permitting 
and construction fees; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Bunnell Land Development Code Section 6-36 states the City 
Commission has the authority to set the fees required to be collected for building 
permitting in the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Bunnell City Commission has determined there is a need to 
increase the City’s building permitting and construction fees. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF BUNNELL, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 

SECTION 1.  
Resolution 2003-07 is hereby rescinded. 

 

SECTION 2. Building Permit and Inspection Fees     
Building permit and inspection fees for residential and commercial structures in the City of 
Bunnell shall be computed in the following manner. 

  

ITEM     CALC. VALUATION PER SQUARE FOOT 

 Living Area    $68.00 

 Garage Area    $48.00 

 Screen Porch    $30.00 

 Open Porch    $25.00 

 Carport    $25.00 

 Second Story    $48.00 

 Patio Slabs    $10.00 
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 OTHER PERMITING FEES: 

 Fence     $30.00 
 Sheds 150 ft2 or less   $30.00 
 Sheds over 150 ft2   $48.00 
 Demolition    $80.00 
 Moving a structure   Based on value of job 
 Signs     $3.00 per square foot 
 Temporary Signs   $25.00 
  

PLANS REVIEW FEES 

 New single family residence  $100.00 
 (SFR & Duplex Dwellings)   
 Residential additions   $50.00 

    & renovations/remodels  
  

New commercial/Industrial/  $250.00 
    Each Multi-Family building   

 Commercial/Industrial/Each Multi- $125.00 
     Family building additions  
               & renovations   
  

 PERMIT RENEWAL FEE 

 No inspections performed  100% 
 After slab inspection   60% 
 After framing inspection  40% 
 Final Inspection only   20% 
 

 PENALTIES 

When work is started prior to the issuance of required building 
permits, the Fees shall be doubled.  The payment of the fees shall not 
relieve any person from obtaining the required permits and inspections 
required by Code. 
 

REFUNDS 

No refund shall be granted for any permit less than $100.00. 
 
For permit fees greater than $100.00, where no work was performed, 
50% of the fee may be returned, but at no time shall the amount 
returned be less than $20.00.  No refunds shall be made on projects 
once they are started. 
 

VALUATION OF CONSTRUCTION 

$0 to $1,000.00   $30.00 
 
$1,001.00 to $10,000.00 $30.00 for the first thousand and 

$6.00 for each additional 
thousand or portion thereof. 
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$10,001.00 to $100,000.00 $84.00 for the first ten thousand 
and $5.00 for each additional 
thousand or portion thereof. 

 
$100,001.00 to $500,000.00 $534.00 for the first hundred 

thousand and $3.00 for each 
additional thousand or portion 
thereof. 

 
$500,001.00 to $1,000,000.00 $1,734.00 for the first five 

hundred thousand and $1.00 for 
each additional thousand or 
portion thereof. 

 
Over $1,000,000.00 $2,234.00 for the first million 

and $.50 for each additional 
thousand or portion thereof. 

 

 

COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL FEES 

All commercial and industrial buildings shall be computed according 
to the actual costs of construction as estimated by the design 
professional or by the actual contract price for construction.  
Commercial valuations shall not be estimated for less than $25.00 per 
square foot unless approved by the Building Official. 
 

RE-INSPECTION FEES 

If the Building Inspector or other designated City staff must return for 
a re-inspection of a site that has not passed the initial inspection, a fee 
of $30.00 will be charged for the first re-inspection of the same type.  
If it is necessary for a second re-inspection of the same type, a fee of 
$45.00 shall be charged.  If third or any subsequent re-inspection of 
the same type is necessary, a fee of $60.00 shall be charged. 
 
All re-inspection fees must be paid prior to either a certificate of 
occupancy or certificate of completion being issued.  At no time will a 
building permit be closed out until all re-inspection fees have been 
paid.  
 

SECTION 3. Electrical permits. 

 

 MINIMIM FEE   $30.00 

 

SIZE OF SERVICE   FEES 

 100 AMPS    $40.00 
 125 AMPS    $50.00 
 150 AMPS    $60.00 
 200 AMPS    $80.00 
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 250 AMPS    $100.00 
 250 AMPS and above   Amp x $.40   

   

SECTION 4. Mechanical permits. 

 

 MINIMIM FEE   $30.00 

   

TONNAGE SIZE   FEES 

 1 Ton or $1,000.00   $30.00 

 2 Tons or $2,000.00   $40.00 

 3 Tons or $3,000.00   $50.00 

 4 Tons or $4,000.00   $60.00 

 5 Tons or $5,000.00   $70.00 

 Additional tonnage or thousand $5.00 each 

   

SECTION 5. Plumbing permits. 

 

 MINIMIM FEE   $30.00 

 

 FIXTURE COUNT   FEES 

 Each installed fixture   $5.00 

 

SECTION 5. Mobile Home permits. 

 

 INSTALLATION   FEES 

 Single Wide Units   $100.00 
 Double Wide Units   $200.00 
 Additional Units over 2  $50.00 per unit 
 

 INSPECTIONS   FEES 

 Tie Down and pads   $50.00 
 Plumbing    $30.00 
 Electrical    $30.00 
 Final Inspection   $30.00 

 

SECTION 5. Swimming pool permits. 

 

 TYPE     FEES 

 In ground pool    $100.00 
 Above ground pool   $50.00 
 Commercial pool   Based on the value of the improvement 
 Pool Enclosure   Based on the value of the improvement  
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SECTION 6.  Development Technology.   

A base fee of $2.50 will be charged on all permits for acquiring, maintaining, operating and 

updating technology related to customer service and records management. 

 

SECTION 7.  Conflicts.   

All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with this Resolution are hereby repealed. 

 

SECTION 8.  Severability.   

If any provisions of the Resolution or the application thereof to any person or circumstance 

are held invalid, the remainder shall nevertheless be given full force and effect, and to this 

end the provisions of this Resolution are declared severable. 

   

 SECTION 9. Effective Date.   

 This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage and adoption. 

 
DULY ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Bunnell, Florida, on the ____ day 
of July 2017. 

 
 
 
 

__________________________________ 
          Catherine D. Robinson, Mayor 
 
 
 
 

(Seal) 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Sandra Bolser, City Clerk 

 

 

Approved as to form and legality for use 

and reliance by the City of Bunnell, Florida  

 

 
_________________________________ 
Wade C. Vose, City Attorney      



City of Bunnell, Florida

Agenda Item No. H.1.
Document Date: 7/17/2017 Amount:  N/A
Department: Finance Account #:  
Subject: Establish Fiscal Year 2018 Proposed Millage
Agenda Section: New Business:

Goal/Priority: Financial Health

Summary/Highlights:

Establish proposed millage rate for fiscal year ending September 30, 2018 budget.

Background:

Within 35 days of the tax certification on July 1, 2017,  from the Property Appraiser, the City must establish a
proposed millage rate for the upcoming fiscal year which ends September 30, 2018.
 

Staff Recommendation:

Motion to establish the proposed operating millage rate at 7.45 which is above the roll back rate of 7.2259 by
3.10%

City Attorney Review:

Reviewed and approved.

Finance Department Review/Recommendation:

Recommend Approval.



Motion to set Public hearing dates for the adoption of the tentative millage rate and tentative budget on
Monday, September 11, 2017 and the final millage rate and final budget on Monday September 25, 2015
both at 6:30 pm in the City Council Chambers located at 201 West Moody Blvd., Bunnell, FL.
 

City of Bunnell, Florida

Agenda Item No. H.2.
Document Date: 7/17/2017 Amount:  N/A
Department: Finance Account #:  N/A
Subject: Set Public Hearing Dates for Fiscal Year 2018 Budget
Agenda Section: New Business:

Goal/Priority: Financial Health

Summary/Highlights:

Set Public Hearing Dates for Fiscal Year 2018 Budget.

Background:

Within 35 days of the tax certification from the Property Appraiser, the City must establish a public hearing
dates for the upcoming fiscal year which ends September 30, 2018.
 

Staff Recommendation:

City Attorney Review:

Reviewed and approved.

Finance Department Review/Recommendation:

Recommend approval.
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ATTACHMENTS:
Description Type
City Manager's Monthly Report Cover Memo



July 2017 

City Manager’s Monthly Report 

    

Dan Davis 
City Manager 



Community Development Department 

 

July 2017 

• Completed the Compliance Report on 601 Deen Road for submission to the Court 

• June 27, 2017- City Manager attended an emergency hearing regarding the 601 Deen Road injunc-
tion.  Ms. Camp was given a week to bring the property in front of the privacy fence into compliance 
with City codes.  If not completed within a week, the City is to clean the property again 

 

• Released 9 new single family residence permits to DR Horton.  There are now a total of 26 building 
permits release for the Grand Reserve build out 

 

• Attended the 2020 Census Local Update of Census Addresses informational meeting in Jacksonville 

• This is an important program which allows the City to provide accurate decennial census in-
formation.  This information is then used by the Federal Government to distribute more than 
$400 billion in funds for infrastructure, programs and services.  As a result of the 2010 Cen-
sus, Florida gained representation in the Federal Government 

• In February 2018, the City will receive information from the Census Bureau.  We will then 
have only 120 days to verify and provide all address points in the City of Bunnell for every liv-
ing quarter/residential use address point.  This would include commercial properties that 
may being used for residential purposes at the time of the survey 

 

 

• Community Rating System (CRS) Pilot Program- staff has been in regular contact with the State re-
garding required amendments to our Land Development Code Chapter 10 Floodplain Manage-
ment.  The State is recommending the City adopt the State model ordinance by the end of this cal-
endar year 

Code Amendment Update: 
 

• Junk Vehicles- Gathered information from the Flagler County Tax Collector’s office regarding docu-
ments needed to obtain certificates of destruction, towing from private vs. public property and tow-
ing and storage liens.  The City will need to re-write these sections  

 

• Met with the Flagler County Humane Society to discuss necessary changes to Code of Ordinance 
Chapter 10: Animals.  Staff is working to amend the entire Chapter based upon Commissioner con-
cerns brought up during the workshops and suggestions made by the Flagler County Humane Soci-
ety to assist the animal control officers with enforcement of City ordinances.   



PZA Report 

The following items were on the June 13, 2017 PZA Agenda:    

 (These items may have already appeared on the City Commission Agenda). 
 

• Special Exception Request to allow a transitional housing project at 210 N. Fig St. The applicant, Sa-
maritan Ministries, requested permission to operate a transitional home/program for women and chil-
dren at this location.  There were several objections to this request from citizens.  The Planning Board 
denied the applicant’s request.  The applicant then appealed the decision to the City Commission 

 

• Special Exception Request to allow soil extraction/borrow pit to be located at 141 Opossum Ln. The 
applicant, Josh White Site Development & the new owner of this property, requested permission to 
have a borrow pit or do soil extraction at this location.  The previous owner was granted permission to 
conduct this type of activity in 2015.  Special exception permission does not transfer from one owner 
to the next   

 

• Special Exception Request to allow a church to operate at 207 N. Chapel St. The applicant, St. Nicholas 
Russian Orthodox Church, requested permission to operate a church at this location.  This location is 
currently operating as a daycare.  The Planning Board approved this request 

 

• Request for Site Plan Approval for expansion of 2270 S. State St. Land Management of Flagler LLC re-
cently bought this property.  They plan to modify and expand the site.  The proposed site plan met the 
requirements of the Land Development Code.  The Planning Board approved the proposed site plan  

 

• Variance Request to exceed the maximum allowable impervious lot coverage by up to 10% at 601 S. 
State St. The owner, Jennifer and Mark Ferraz, requested permission to exceed the maximum allowa-
ble impervious lot coverage and to add another storage building to this site.  The Planning Board vot-
ed to approve this request  

 
 

• Ordinance 2017-XX Changing the Future Land Use Designation of approximately .40 acres of property 
to Bunnell Commercial Medium. Applicants, David & Thea Mathen, request the land use designation 
on property they recently annexed into the City be changed to a Bunnell designation from a Flagler 
County designation.  The Planning Board approved this request  

 
 

• Ordinance 2017-XX Changing the Zoning Designation of approximately .40 acres of property to B-1, 
Business district. Applicants, David & Thea Mathen, request the zoning designation on property they 
recently annexed into the City be changed to a Bunnell designation from a Flagler County designa-
tion.  The Planning Board approved this request 

 

• Ordinance 2017-XX Amending the Bunnell Land Development Code Section 34-186 Home Occupa-
tions- The City brought forth this request to amend the existing home occupation regulations.  The 
proposed ordinance changed the number of home occupations allowed in a single dwelling and 
cleaned up other existing language.  The Planning Board approved this proposed ordinance 

July 2017 



Administrative Services Department 

Information Technology 

• Coordinated the installation of the NetMotion server for the Police Department and the Fire        
Department  

• Verified the annual maintenance costs for various systems and equipment for the upcoming budget 

• Assisted Community Development with issuing multiple permits for Grand Reserve  

• Setup and assisted with issuing several LP and Natural gas permits for Grand Reserve 

• Assisted with a fee code update ordinance and various forms in the Incode system 

• Attended a product demonstration by Tyler Technologies on the new generation of their Communi-
ty Development package    

• Received and circulated the contract addendum for the web interface for the existing Community 
Development package 

• Worked with multiple departments to develop a web form that will allow contractors to request  
utility connection inspections 

• Worked with Utilities and Finance on the smart meter project,  obtaining budgetary quotes for 
hardware beyond what the vendor is providing for the project 

• Posted the 2016 Consumer Confidence Report (Water Quality Report) on the website and provided 
a link to access the report for Finance to publish on the utility bills for 3 months 

• Circulated mobile data terminals (MDTs) for the Police Department and Fire Department; double 
checking the patch associated with the recent global ransomware attacks had been installed on 
these machines 

• Attended a workshop provided by the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) for Local 
Agency Security Officers (LASO).  The workshop is to assist agencies to prepare for the 2018 Federal 
Bureau of Investigation (FBI) Criminal Justice Information Service (CJIS) audits 

• Began the installation of projection equipment for the upgrade to the Coquina building to provide 
Wi-Fi access to the internet, and a way to connect to the projector for presentations 

• Assisted the Police Department on the system setup for the Body Worn Cameras 

Administrative Services 

 City Clerk: 

• Met with City Manager and Finance   
Director to review the departmental 
budget submission 

 

 

 

 

Human Resources:   

• Processed 1 Volunteer Firefighter 

• Conducted 2 exit interviews 

• Facilitated ICMA Retirement Plan meeting for staff 

• Assisted with Mick Cuthbertson’s retirement party 

• Met with Florida Health Care Plans, toured the new 
Palm Coast facility in Town Center 

• Assisted with the Administrative Department  
budget 

July 2017 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Police Department 

July 2017 

 On June 2nd at First Friday in Flagler Beach, folks took a shot at dunking Sheriff Rick Staly, Chief Tom Fos-
ter, and Chief Matt Doughty. The winners were treated to Swillerbees Craft donuts and Coffee bar! All pro-
ceeds went to the Special Olympics Florida.  

 

Officer James Flynn’s thoroughness and good   
police work led to the arrest of a suspect from 

south Florida wanted on first degree murder 
charges.   

 
We are extremely proud of Officer James Flynn 

for his high standard of performance, outstanding 
and dedicated service to the community. He con-
tinues to be an exemplary Police Officer and 

brings credit to himself and the City of Bunnell 
Police Department.  

 

https://www.facebook.com/swillerbees/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Police Department 

July 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Reminder and pass it on… 

Welcome to the Police Chief’s Corner located on the city’s website under the departments section. The 
police department’s newsletter is designed to provide information to the public on issues and topics 
that may be of interest to the community. The City of Bunnell Police Department is continually looking 
for ways to connect to the public and we hope this newsletter will serve that purpose. Future newslet-
ters will include safety topics, staff highlights, and upcoming events. Thank You. 
 

The Bunnell Police Department advo-

cates, “Building community relationships 

through integrity, trust and communication” 

and the ‘Cupcake Citation’ initiative will help 

build relationships in a positive setting.  

Community Policing and Children: Summer time ‘Cupcake Citation’ program.  

The Bunnell Police Department has teamed up with a local business owner, Theresa Tazwell, owner of 

Cupcake Café, to be on the look out all good kids in our neighborhoods.  Our Officers will issue a 

Cupcake Citation good for one free cupcake to all kids observed doing the right thing.  The “Recipe 

for a Citation” is detailed on the citation: 

• Be Respectful  

• Be Honest 

• Be Responsible 

• Be Grateful 

• Be Kind 

This program gets the Officers out of their vehicles and encourages the following: 

• Promotes a positive one-on-one experience with a police officer 

• The kids see officers as friends and mentors 

• Help build bridges of trust, understanding and civic responsibility 

• And is an investment in our community 

http://www.bunnellcity.us/cob-pd-chief.aspx


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Keep your eyes on this site for       

the  upcoming City Engineer’s  

Report.   
 

July  2017 

• Worked with Public Works on identifying 
outdated equipment for surplus 

• Met with City Manager and Finance      
Director to create annual budget 

• Provided a PowerPoint presentation  at 
the June 26th City Commission Workshop 
to address issues the department is facing 
in the upcoming budget and the need to 
create a long term plan for 5 and 10 years.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Engineering Fire Department 

Solid Waste: 

• Welcome back Mike McGrath! 

• Working on budgets  

Parks & Recreation: 

• City parks are now being staffed 7-days a 
week and things are looking up!  The re-
strooms are cleaner and the there is less 
vandalism 

• Staff has received several positive com-
ments from the citizens on how nice the 
parks look 

Fleet: 

• Assisted the auctioneer in compiling in-
formation on trucks and equipment 

Public Works  Updates: 

• Started preparing roads for paving 

• Summer is in full swing, keeping  the   
crews busy with mowing and median 
maintenance 

• Swale work is going well 

• Prepared for the upcoming auction 

Public Works  



Utilities Department 

Staff Updates: 

• Congratulations to Morris Long for pass-
ing his Water Distribution Exam and be-
coming licensed with the State of Florida 

 

• Utility Manager, Mike Baldwin, attended 
a week long course and received his 
Wastewater Collections License from 
FWPCOA 

 

• Held a farewell cookout for Maintenance 
Tech Manny Portela 

 

• Posted full-time Maintenance Tech 
Trainee position 

 

Projects: 

• Accepted delivery of the new 300KW 
Emergency Power Generator at the WTP 

 

• Staff working on the final stages of the 
WTP construction closeout documents 

 

• New development in grand reserve has 
increased activity in Utilities Department 

 

• Worked with Tomoka Construction on 
the repair of force main break at Atlantis 

 

• Upgrade sample pumps at the WWTP 
and installed  in weather resistant shed 

 
 

 

 

 

 

July  2017 

Service: 

Utility Crews Responded to: 

• Service Projects/Problems:  2 

 

• New Sewer/Water Connections:  9 

 

• Meter Calibrations: 2 (all verified accurate) 

• Installed 88 Smart Meters with antennas 

 

Administration 

• Submitted bi-weekly reports to SJRWMD for Re-
claim Expansion Program 

 

• Published the 2016 Water Quality Report online 
and noted it on Utility Bills - Link:  http://
www.bunnellcity.us/docs/utilities/cob-
2016ccr.pdf 

 

• Met with James Troiano of SJRWMD and toured 
the Reclaim Project and discussed future projects 

 

• Created draft Resolution to change the meter in-
stallation rates 

 

• Met with vendor for tower meter reading system 

 

• Attended SJRWMD Governing Board Meeting 
Tuesday, June 13 and was proud to discover the 
City was awarded the Cost-Share Grant 

 

 

 

http://www.bunnellcity.us/docs/utilities/cob-2016ccr.pdf
http://www.bunnellcity.us/docs/utilities/cob-2016ccr.pdf
http://www.bunnellcity.us/docs/utilities/cob-2016ccr.pdf


Finance Focus 

BUDGET PERFORMANCE FISCAL YEAR 2017 

July 2017 

The end of June 2017 completes 75% of the fiscal year.  Revenues in the General fund are above an-

ticipated levels for this point in the year.  It should be noted that 75% of ad valorem tax revenue is 

collected in the first quarter of the fiscal year.  Also, building related fees are greater than anticipat-

ed due to increases in building activities.   

The Water Sewer fund operating revenue is slightly above anticipated levels because of the collec-

tion of unbudgeted impact fees related to increased building activities.  The Solid Waste fund oper-

ating revenues are slightly above anticipated levels due to timing of School Board bill issuance.  



Finance Focus 

BUDGET PERFORMANCE FISCAL YEAR 2017 

July 2017 

General Fund salary and benefit costs are slightly lower than expected due to delays in construc-

tion expenses associated with paving and lower than expected capital expenditures for projects 

such as the Commerce Parkway.  These expenditure delays are due to the delivery timing of the 

projects.    

Water and Sewer Fund project costs are lower than expected due to timing of the project activi-

ties.  Also the expected purchase of small equipment has not yet occurred. 

Solid Waste Fund salary and benefits and contract services are higher than expected due to ex-

penses associated with Hurricane Matthew.  The other Solid Waste fund operating expenditures 

are at expected levels.  

The City anticipates FEMA and State reimbursement for 87.5% of Hurricane Matthew Solid 

Waste expenditures.    The City’s required match for hurricane expenditures is 12.5% or about 

$25,000.  In an effort to preserve City reserves, we have asked City Departments to closely moni-

tor their annual budget.   



We are making Progress 
 

• Finance continues to work with the State and FEMA on the requests for assistance, for the City’s 

Hurricane related costs. None of the surrounding local governments have received funding for 

Hurricane Matthew.  We do not expect cost reimbursements until next calendar year 
 

• The fiscal year 2016 audit is complete and reflected significant improvements in regards to the are-

as noted by the auditors in the fiscal year 2015 
 

• The City’s Insurance provider has changed insurance adjustors, therefore the reimbursement for 

the claim for the damage due to flooding that occur in City Hall due to the damaged fire sprinkler 

head has been delayed  
 

• Staff and Utilities staff have identified budget funds to continue the smart meter conversion this 

fiscal year.  The Commission recently approved additional expenditures for this project 
 

• The budget planning process for fiscal year 2018 started full force in June.  The Departments have 

met with Finance and the City Manager to develop the new recommendation.  The budget plan 

will include a new pay plan designed to improve the City’s process as recommended by the         

auditors 
 

• Staff is working with Utilities staff in developing a Debris Management plan for submission to FE-

MA.  This plan will document actions that would be taken regarding debris in the case of an emer-

gency 
 

• Staff members attended Government Finance Officer’s Boot camp and intensive workshop that 

introduces basics of accounting and financial reporting for governments 
 

• Staff has performed the annual bad debt and lien review of utility accounts.  Results will be pro-

vided at a Commission meeting in August 
 

• Finance started the annual insurance renewal process  
 

• Staff developed a draft Travel Policy 
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Fiscal Year 2016 

The audit of fiscal year 2016 is complete. Increases to unrestricted reserves 

were realized in both the General Fund and Water and Sewer Fund.  The 

Solid Waste fund showed a slight increase for fiscal year 2016.  However, we 

the unrestricted fund balance still reflected a negative position.   



 

 

• Local Mitigation Strategy (LMS) grant program - The City sub-

mitted a project for hardening City Hall 

 

• St. John’s River Water Management  District (SJWMD) Re-

claim Water Main Extension - The contract for the Engineering Design Services has been ap-

proved by the Commission.  Contract awarded to Alliant Engineering 

 

• St. John’s River Water Management District (SJRWMD) Wastewater Improvements– Re-

ceived $266,000 to make improvements to the Waste Water Treatment Plant and build a Rapid 

Infiltration Basin.  This grant will be critical to getting the consent order lifted 

 

• Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Southside Sewer Rehab- Awaiting contract 

execution by the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity 

 

• Florida Recreation Development Assistance Program (FRDAP) 

• Booe St. Park-Agreement received from Florida Dept. of Environmental Protection 

(FDEP). City engineer and public works working on design and layout of the park 

• Heritage Trail Park- City has received notice of Commencement 

 

• Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) Commerce Parkway-Final disbursement re-

quest sent to FDOT for the design phase 

 

• Volunteer Fire Assistance Grant Florida Forest Service-A matching grant of $10,000 was 

awarded.  Tires for the brush truck have been purchased.  Remaining funds will be used for pro-

tective gear 

 

• Hurricane Loss Mitigation Program (HLMP) formerly called Residential Construction 

Mitigation Program (RCMP) - Construction was completed on 9 homes. This will close the 

2016 grant cycle 

 

• Community Oriented Policing Services (COPS)-Finance assisted the Police Department in 

preparing paperwork for application to this grant program.  If awarded the grant would reim-

burse the City for 75% of salary and benefits for 2 new Police Officers 

July 2017 

Grants Status 
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News Release 

2017 MICRO-SURFACING PROJECT 

The City of Bunnell has contracted with Asphalt Paving Systems, Inc. for the 
application of micro-surfacing to your roadway. The work may cause minor delays 
and inconveniences. During working hours, limited access to your road will be 
maintained. The limited access to roads being worked on will be coordinated by 
the workers onsite and people directing traffic.  During non-working hours you will 
have full access to roads being re-surfaced. 

RESURFACING IS SCHEDULED JULY 24TH – JULY 28TH, 2017 

To ensure the work can be performed, the following is needed: 

- PLEASE ENSURE NO VEHICLES, BOATS, TRAILERS, ETC. ARE LEFT IN THE 
ROADWAY FROM 7:00 AM TO 7:00 PM. 

- ANY CONTRACTORS THAT NORMALLY PLACE DEBRIS IN THE ROADWAY FOR CITY 
TRASH PICK-UP (GARDENERS, ETC.) SHOULD BE DIRECTED NOT TO DO SO ON THE 
SCHEDULED DAY OF PAVING AND FOR SEVERAL DAYS AFTER (RAIN MAY CAUSE 
DELAYS IN THE SCHEDULE).  THE DAY AFTER YOUR ROAD IS PAVED YOU CAN 
OPERATE NORMALLY. 

- DURING THE PAVING PHASE, ALL IRRIGATION SYSTEMS NEED TO BE TURNED OFF 
FROM 2:00 AM TO 7:00 PM.  THEY CAN BE SET BACK TO NORMAL OPERATIONS THE 
DAY AFTER THE PAVING IS COMPLETE. 

If you have any immediate needs, please call the City of Bunnell Public Works 
office 386-437-7515.  
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